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10,808,184 10,555, 850 10,414,717 9,397,988 8,668,389
5,296,042 5,231,817 5,578,869 4,743,555 4,332,228
46,505,503 43,218,653 37,963,382 34,671,391 31,133,001
420,713,500 | 406,563,807 | 376,098,712 | 325,061,656 | 300,599,169
0.9 0.97 1.04 0.96 0.96
0.95 0.95 1.02 0.95 0.95
18.09% 16.74% 16.39% 17.20% 21.05%
17,935,811 7,877,804 40,639,154 169,298 26,239,536
197,321 3,320,184 (16,380,174)|  (18,516,051) (4,228,369)
3,987,201 9,614,018 (6,618,177) (798,507) 3,630,639
12 31
97,059, 265 74,938,932 54,126,926 36,486,123 55,631,383

15/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

1968 13
46 UAE
MENA
1972 1975
1988 UAE
NBAD
2000 UAE
2000 11 15 ADX
2009
2009 50
2009 11
2010 UAE
2013
CEO 1999 CEO
2014 100
2015 UAE
2015 11
RBS
2016 12 FGB
FGB
UAE
UAE
2016 12 31

45

16/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

NBAD

2015 12 31

46,506
5,296
5,232

UAE

UAE

2030

oOoOooodn

NBAD
2016 12 31
200,532 205,914
2016 12 31 2015 12 31
43,219 2016 12 31
2015 12 31
UAE
UAE
GWB
GWB
GWB
GWB
UAE
2030 2009

17/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

GRC

ADNIF

GW

25

GCC

NBAD

IR

18/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

2016 12 31

NBAD 100 92 100
NBAD UAE 100 250 100
UAE 100 10 100

UAE 100 200

ADNP

NBAD 100 100 100
UAE 100 500 100
100 10 100
96 10 100
NBAD 100 411 100
NBAD UAE 100 100 100
10 100 1,000 100
NBAD 100 50 100
NBAD 100 3,915 100
NBAD 100 100 100
UAE 100 0 100

UAE 17 150

UAE 20 10
20
95.995 4.005

19/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn

2016 12 31 6,700
2016 12 31
NBAD 4054 1406 5460
NBAD 576 23 599
NBAD 168 12 180
NBAD 85 8 93
NBAD 72 - 72
NBAD 52 - 52
NBAD 46 1 47
NBAD 45 - 45
NBAD 4 2 43
NBAD 38 - 38
NBAD 22 2 24
NBAD 23 - 23
NBAD 19 - 19
NBAD 16 - 16
NBAD 4 - 4
NBAD 3 - 3
NBAD 2 - 2
5266 1454 6720
NBAD 2015 11
10 UAE NBAD 250 50 60
UAE
2016 400
UAE 100
50  NBAD

20/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

OooooOodd
2016 12 31 5,296
2015 12 31 5,232 2016 12 31
2015 12
31 7,307 7,305 2016
12 31 2015 12 31 3,249
3,503 2016 12 31
10,808 4,013 2015 12 31
10,556 4,083 2016 12
31 11.8 37.1 2015
12 31 12.9 38.7
2016 12 31 2015 12 31
12 31
2016 2015
4,078,575 3,028,953
433,779 521,799
1,014,564 1,217,610
(230,876) 463,455

5,296,042 5,231,817

21/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

2016 5.5
50.9
GWB
2016
2016 34.7 4.1
7.1
2016 40.6
4.6 SME
16.7
2016 UAE
2016 34
2016 UAE
2016 2015 27
11
2016 8.7 918 8.5
16.9 434
2016 12 31 200,531
2015 12 31 205,914
2016 12 31 2015 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 12 31
17,900,011 20,319,828

44,542,134 44,130,248
221271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

2016 12 31

1999 63 2016 12 31

MENA

2016 12 31

SPE

ooooooo

14,950,955 23,337,915
94,373,935 89,918,130
36,330,890 35,369,070

208,097,925 213,075,191
(1,156,681) (1,036,665)
(6,409,433) (6,124,973)

200,531,811 205,913,553

31
31
VaR
2015 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 12 31
58,410,308 57,002,707
6,031,616 6,791,444
64,441,924 63,794,151
SPE
SPE
SPE

SPE

2016

2015

NBAD

58%

23/271

58%



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

oOoOooodn
100% 100%
NBAD 100% 100%
UAE 2016
12 31 2015 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 12 31
46,074 41,019
228,092,256 236,976,736
24,593,160 20,397,958
18,630,206 17,883,226
271,315,622 275,257,920
18.09% 16.74%
2016 12 31 2015 12 31 253
234 86.08 85.5
2016 12 31
19.2 22.1
2005 12
2016 12 31 3.7
2017 2045
2016 12 31
700
2015 5.25 Tier 750
2006
2015
12

2016

24/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooood
2016 12 31 2015 12 31
2016 2015
12 31 12 31
40,964 39,503
17,222 30,551
7,373 8,721
253,382 233,815
28,916 21,047
13,381 12,852
12,614 15,583
356 1,275
46,506 43,219
420,714 406,564
UAE 2016 12 31 UAE
49 23 26 DIFC
UAE 2015 9.1
UAE
UAE WTO
UAE
2014 66.9
GDP 7.0 UAE 2014 GDP
6.9 FCSA
UAE 1980 UAE
UAE
Banking Supervision and Examination Department
UAE
UAE
2014 UAE

IMLF UAE
UAE

25/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

UAE

UAE 2016 12 31

UAE

UAE

UAE

1987 UAE

SAMBA

2002 DIFC

DIFC
DIFC

UAE

UAE

UAE

ATM

GCC

26/271

UAE

oOoOooodn

49

NBD

2007 10

WTO

UAE

GCC

DIFC



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
2013
ADGM
DIFC ADGM 2015
2016 12 31 ADGM
UAE . UAE
UAE
2016
2014 GDP 50.9
2013 55.0
UAE
AMAN P.S.C. Salama
UAE ) ) )
1980 10
UAE UAE
UAE UAE
UAE

UAE

27/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

UAE
UAE
UAE UAE

IMF UAE

UAE UAE
UAE
UAE CD
UAE CD
UAE UAE
2007 UAE CD

UAE IMF
UAE 1980

UAE
2002 UAE
Anti Money Laundering and
Suspicious Cases Unit
UAE

UAE NATC
2004
NATC UAE

UAE UAE
DIFC ADGM
ADGM UAE
UAE

UAE

ADX
2000 2014 UAE MSCI

2005 26 DIFC
2009 12

28/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
2010 ADX 2014 MSCI
UAE
UAE
UAE 2015
80
UAE UAE
Emiratisation 1999
UAE 2015 10 25
UAE 3 10 267 UAE
UAE UAE
UAE 1999 IFRS 1AS
UAE National
2016 12 31 23 UAE 40.0
UAE
2016 12 31 26 UAE
UAE 40.0

UAE

2004 2008 UAE UAE
2008
UAE 2008

2008 2011 UAE 2012 2016

29/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooooooo
ADX 2010 12 31 2,719.9 2011 12 31
2,402.3 2012 12 31 2,630.9 2013 12 31 4,290.3
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oOoOooodn
2016 12 31

2016 12 31
98,664,599 98,208,992 455,607 - - - -
14,525,506 6,013,245 2,580,915 3,952,291 345,852 1,633,203 -
8,523,107 8,450,685 72,422 - - - -
9,566,579 6,364,061 3,202,518 - - - -
12,019,406 1,937,664 1,683,453 2,274,254 1,681,947 4,442,088 -
200,531,811 36,261,443 16,631,619 48,835,398 33,714,947 65,088,404 -
64,441,924 2,707,170 4,611,508 4,972,213 22,881,893 29,269,140 -
9,545,979 7,159,484 2,386,495 - - - -
45,604 - - - - - 45,604
2,848,985 - - - - - 2,848,985
420,713,500 167,102,744 31,624,537 60,034,156 58,624,639 100,432,835 2,894,589
40,963,741 37,147,059 3,623,556 - 193,126 - -
17,222,136 17,222,136 - - - - -
7,372,911 6,429,925 942,986 - - - -
13,380,789 1,680,401 1,408,369 2,521,696 2,307,254 5,463,069 -
253,382,492 217,764,581 28,929,194 5,474,442 869,291 344,984 -
28,915,650 3,038,818 1,621,984 14,849,443 3,910,125 5,495,280 -
12,614,291 9,460,719 3,153,572 - - - -
355,987 - - - N 355,987 -
46,505,503 - - - N - 46,505,503
420,713,500 292,743,639 39,679,661 22,845,581 7,279,796 11,659,320 46,505,503
30,518,518 1,357,208 3,648,834 9,753,372 8,687,629 7,071,475 -
510,562 - 2,105 327,112 181,345 - -
106,035,033 27,356,812 12,456,648 24,831,821 9,605,772 31,783,980 -

2015 12 31

2016 12 31
76,382,109 75,844,493 537,616 - - - -
12,291,138 1,760,823 3,607,247 3,272,508 622,175 3,028,385 -
10,891,768 10,632,741 258,309 718 - - -
13,330,186 10,671,882 2,658,304 - - - -
10,574,091 972,618 1,382,894 2,828,035 1,508,624 3,881,920 -
205,913,553 42,993,900 19,996,303 37,620,046 46,069,522 59,233,782 -
63,794,151 4,488,104 2,484,621 8,313,096 16,076,948 32,431,382 -
10,550,483 7,912,863 2,637,620 - - - -
190,546 - - - - - 190,546
2,645,782 - - - - - 2,645,782
406,563,807 155,277,424 33,562,914 52,034,403 64,277,269 98,575,469 2,836,328
42,808,215 35,932,138 6,657,402 18,873 199,802 - -
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120 - - - -
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8,720,597 7,125,622 1,594,975 - - - -
12,852,358 1,270,786 1,161,440 2,856,894 2,199,441 5,363,797 -
233,814,558 209,805,846 19,503,593 3,490,452 634,750 379,917 -
17,740,968 - - 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586 -
15,582,508 11,686,881 3,895,627 - - - -
1,275,298 914,205 - - - 361,093 -
43,218,653 - - - - - 43,218,653
406,563,807 294,699,010 35,400,157 13,326,759 10,639,835 9,279,393 43,218,653
29,790,338 2,661,071 6,740,535 10,013,062 6,255,392 4,120,278 -
995,631 202,015 57,217 562,400 173,999 - -
116,445,435 26,202,477 10,963,788 36,715,359 14,205,318 28,358,493 -
UAE
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
2016 2015
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
(240,988) 20,770,132 20,529,144 20,149,100
(13,940, 488) 13,592,130 (348,358) (165,481)
50,450,833 (50, 352,990) 97,843 (330,581)
(1,128,788) (233,173) (1,361,961) (49,653)
(192,590) (1,471,559) (1,664,149) (6,302,232)
5,304,741 (5,107,081) 197,660 19,568
253,073 (180,828) 72,245 15,973
(305,899) 808,369 502,470 1,676,614
207,638 (261,484) (53,846) (212,542)
70,956 (76,843) (5,887) (54,441)
420,845 (104,680) 316,165 298,623
362,524 (15,644) 346,880 118,154
1,175,328 (1,296,879) (121,551) (23,141)
©
GM
@)
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UAE
Q)
2016 12 31 18.09 2015 12 31 16.74
UAE 12
@
UAE ELAR
2016 12 31

LCR
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®
1.2 26.3%
2016 CoR 57bps
2015
46bps
NPL 2016 5.6 255
2016 2.70
6.4 115
UAE 1.5
GSO
GSO
GSO
UAE 2009 11
UAE

1CAAP

42/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

ooOoooOoo
RWA
UAE UAE 12
2016 12 31 18.09 UAE
UAE
RWA UAE
RWA
150
UAE CCF
x CCFx x 12
UAE
RWA UAE
RWA RWA
2016
BIA
22.5
RWA 12
1CAAP

1CAAP
UAE 1CAAP
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UAE
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UAE

UAE

2011

Tier

BIS

UAE
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2016 12 31
Tier
5,513,686
2,627,273
2,627,273
21,143,252
7,375,675
6,754,750
46,041,909
(268,637)
Tier (14,314)
Tier 45,758,957
Tier 3,334,020
(14,315)
49,078,662
2016 12 31
27,371,071
N/A
N/A
2,951,179
N/A
2,235,625
N/A
N/A
32,557,875
18.09%
Tier 16.87%
N/A
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oOoOooodn
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
0TC
UAE 124,738,352 22,435,805 147,174,157 12,330,152 192,413,277 69,230,414 273,973,843 421,148,000)
GCC UAE 16,816,239 6,024,153 22,840,392 2,780,863 135,235,698 4,539,238 142,555,799 165,396,191
6ce 6,510,956 2,856,286 9,367,242 360,904 11,251,811 2,103,598 13,716,313 23,083,555
10,396,279 10,108,667| 20,504,946 1,655,159 27,869,660 2,998,353 32,523,172 53,028,118
1,655,329 - 1,655,329 - 351,699 414,260] 765,959 2,421,288
4,757,496 6,607,521 11,365,017] 3,478,876 195,797,642 6,802,036 206,078,554} 217,443,571
8,428,670 - 8,428,670 183,673 2,455 1,360,006} 1,546,134 9,974,804
349,126 - 349,126 - - - - 349,126
33,848,967| 15,418,479 49,267,446 9,472,326 444,292,565 21,476,919 475,241,810 524,509, 256
596,511 991,013] 1,587,524 190,550 2,866,205 28,497, 3,085,252 4,672,776
- - - 66,015 - 206,382 272,397| 272,397
208,097,925 64,441,924 272,539,849 30,518,518| 1,010,081,012 109,159,703| 1,149,759,233 1,422,299,082)
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
0TC

60,941 N 60,941 2,401 - 7,028 9,429 70,370
10,335,944 10,714,594 21,050,538 1,788,859 7,009,344 5,537,536 14,335,739 35,386,277
14,093,970 37,032 14,131,002 4,887,167 19,771,518 17,427,608] 42,086,293 56,217,295
7,096,836 2,061,432 9,158,268 1,821,224 8,526,042 1,138,420 11,485,686 20,643,954
10,436,678 12,523 10,449,201 4,323,859 4,203,499 15,459,240 23,986,598 34,435,799
41,860,131 - 41,860,131 7,936,954 4,840,776 104,976 12,882,706) 54,742,837,
9,224,060 - 9,224,060 1,134,321 5,628,789 5,523,960 12,287,070 21,511,130
19,504,913] 3,243,726 22,748,639 4,053,922 7,748,402 5,930,131 17,732,455 40,481,094
35,352,139 25,422,736 60,774,875 2,971,330 947,659, 627| 17,896,126 968,527,083] 1,029,301,958]
5,734,609 E 5,734,609 764,025 1,527,815 849, 305] 3,141,145 8,875,754
17,900,011 22,399,959 40,299,970 78,028} 678,343 37,672,750 38,429,121 78,729,091
36,330,890 - 36,330,890 752,777| 1,396,633 369,227] 2,518,637, 38,849,527,
166,803 549,922 716,725 3,651 1,090,224 1,243,396) 2,337,271 3,053,996
208,097,925 64,441,924 272,539,849 30,518,518 1,010,081,012 109,159,703| 1,149,759,233 1,422,299,082
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0000000
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
( )
otC
43,827,557 2,707,170 46,534,727 1,357,208 186,721,762 28,111,902 216,190,872 262,725,599
16,631,619 4,611,508 21,243,127 3,648,834 146,200,480 13,154,357 163,003,671 184,246,798
82,550,345 27,854,106 110,404,451 18,441,001 485,642,007 36,108,569 540,191,577 650,596,028]
65,088,404 29,269,140 94,357,544 7,071,475 191,516,763 31,784,875 230,373,113 324,730,657
208,097,925 64,441,924 272,539,849 30,518,518| 1,010,081,012] 109,159,703 1,149,759,233 1,422,299,082
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
( )
UAE 2,355,352 6,382,054 8,737,406 1,100,261 1,972,706 2,268,578
GCC  UAE 112,544 135,806 248,350 11,082 92,475 330,420
6CC 119,252 146,014 265,266 41,860 92,792 223,038
- - - - - 269,021
261 - 261 - - 19,394
372,530 217 372,747 36 - 198,426
- - - - - 30,134
- 84,230 84,230 3,442 129,061 771,405
- - - - - 11,846
- - - - - 138
2,959,939 6,748,321 9,708,260 1,156,681 2,287,034 4,122,399
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
53 556 609 58 497 1,508
399,830 31,546 431,376 4,109 16,109 330,436
140,711 159,410 300,121 12,826 115,520 412,360
398,652 224,735 623,387 29,950 109,954 307,240
171,340 2,381,324 2,552,664 383,508 436,624 961,128
128,758 526,005 654,763 39,417 394,343 243,529
28,571 164,539 193,110 45,269 86,201 406,660
14,560 634,229 648,789 115,322 160,065 619,095
668,407 196,970 865,377 38,770 120,108 109,807
9,422 12,318 21,740 130 14,458 3,424
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ooooood
986,581 2,392,388 3,378,969 484,978 814,581 722,931
13,054 24,301 37,355 2,344 18,574 4,281
2,959,939 6,748,321 9,708,260 1,156,681 2,287,034 4,122,399
2008 GCC UAE
GCC 2016
GCC UAE IMF
2016 GDP 2.4
UAE GCC 2016
2015
12 2006 2016 12
GCC
UAE
GCC
UAE 2016

GCC
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UAE
2015 12 2016 12
2017

GCC

50/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

UAE
UAE
UKLA
2016 12 31 5.6
6.4 2016 12 31
2.70
IFRS
2016 12 31
2016 12 31
114.61
37
ADIC 37
ADIC

ADIC
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2016 12 31
UAE
HSBC
UAE
UAE
)
UAE
UAE
UAE
FGB

FGB

FGB

FGB

UAE
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FGB

FGB

FGB

FGB

FGB

600

FGB

FGB 2016 12 31

FGB

FGB
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oOoOooodn
FGB
FGB
MENA
UVAE
UAE UAE
2014 GDP 50.9
2014 UAE
UVAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE UAE
UAE UAE UAE
1958
2006 11 19 UAE
UAE

UAE
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oOoOooodn
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE
UAE 1992
1992 11 2005 30 238
238 235 237
UAE
UAE
238 235 237 238
UAE
UAE
UAE
2008
GCC UAE
GCC
UAE
IMF 2016 10 GDP  UAE 2015
4.0 2014 3.1 2013 4.7 2012 7.1
UAE
UAE
UAE

UAE
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2011
MENA
UAE
12
UAE
UAE
UAE
UVAE
UAE
OPEC 2015 12 31 UAE
OPEC
OPEC
75 2016 OPEC
2016 12 31
OPEC
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52.19

UAE

Daesh ISIS
2015
UAE
MENA
8.1
OPEC
2014

oOoOooodn

ISIL

2015

UAE
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UAE
UAE
2013 10 28
12 28
20
2012 3871
60
UAE
2015 27
2012
UVAE
UAE

UAE UAE
UAE
2011 23
2013 31 2013 11 28
48
2012 12 30
75
65
UAE
80
70
65
2013 32
2013 12 30 2014
2015 33
UAE 2015
30
UAE UAE

1980 11 22
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ooooood
UAE
UAE
UVAE
2016 14
UAE
Aa2 UAE
GCC
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oOoOooodn
IT IT
IT IT
IT IT IT
IT IT
IT
2016 5.3
1.2
UAE
26.3 1.2
79 16.9 Tier
2016 2.4
FX
NTI 2016 7.3
9bps 1.92 UAE
3.4
2.2 FX 1.3 20.3
FX
4.0 1.7

2016
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2015 38.7 37.1
6.8
2016 3.5
201
253
CASA 75
6.75
UAE
CAR 18.1 Tier
MENA

NBAD 2016 12

2016

2.6

8.4

Tier

16.9

696

NBAD
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421

30 39.8

2016

2016 12 31

12 Tier

79
2016
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2016 12 31
15

2016 12 31 UAE 103
44

2016 12 31 2.85
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oOoOooodn

ADX 2000
2016 12 31 5,254,546
2015 12 31
5,209,723 2015 10
10 473,611 25 UAE
2016 12 31
5,254,546
2016 12 31
5,254,546 ADX
2012 12 31
1,004,515 3,874,558 1,004,515 3,874,558
2013 12 31
430,998 4,305,556 430,998 4,305,556
2014 12 31
430,556 4,736,112 430,556 4,736,112
2005 12 31 473,611 5,209,723 473,611 5,209,723
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ooooodn
2016 12 31
44,823 5,254,546 44,823 5,254,546
2012 2014 2015
2013
39,584 391,414
2016 12 31
12 456 1,997 2,465
3,710,174,797 482,059,044 1,062,311,477 5,254,545,318
70.61 9.17 20.22 100.00

ADX
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ADX
2016 12 31 ADIC
2016 12 31
ADIC 61999 3,634,789,745 69.17
10 50
10
50
10

2017 28 0.45

2015 0.45 2015 12 31
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oOoOooodn

2012 12 31 2013 12 31 2014 12 31 2015 12 31 2016 12 31

AED 7.81 11.57 15.68 12.73 10.35
AED 5.79 7.74 9.14 7.65 6.86
ADX
ADX 2017 12 ADX

2016 2016 2016 2016 10 2016 11 2016 12
AED 10.35 9.55 9.40 9.18 9.40 10.05
AED 9.55 9.12 9.15 8.34 8.51 9.38

ADX

ADX 2017 12 ADX
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(2016 12
31 )
H.H.
H.H. Sheikh Tahnoun
Bin Zayed Al Nahyan
Mubadala Development Company
H.E. )
1961 International
H.E. Nasser Ahmed Petroleum Investment Company
Alsowaidi 25
ADIA
ADNOC
15
H.E.
UAE
1978 26,451
H.E. Sheikh 10 19 ’

Mohammed Bin Saif
Bin Mohammed Al

Nahyan
Mubadala Investment Company
Ef
H.E. CEO
UAE
1976
H.E. 2007
Khaldoon Khalifa Al 27
Mubarak
UAE
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OOoOooOodd
Bin Srour
H.E. , _
Engineering
1971 19 - 31,466,146
H.E. Sheikh DSSCB #4909
Ahmed Mohammed
Sultan Al Dhaheri
Abu Dhabi National Hotels Company
ADNH
H.E.
1966
UAE
H.E. Mohammed Al Etihad
Thani Murshed Al Credit Bureau
Romaithi
ADIC
H.E. ADIA
1974
H.E.
Khalifa Sultan Al 1
Suwaidi
Union
National Bank UNB
Barakah One
Abu
Dhabi Financial Group ADFG
Abu
H.E. Dhabi Capital Group
) 1984 )
H.E. Jassim 26 Petroleum Institute
Mohammed
Alsiddiqi
Shuaa Capital
Eshraq
Properties
Abu Dhabi Fund for
H.E. Development
1968 11
H.E. Mohammed 10
Saif Al Suwaidi
Aghtia
DP
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FAB

2009 518 SCA
2010
UAE 2010
UAE UAE
SCA
UAE 2009
UAE UAE

SCA
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oOoOooodn
2016
1,000,000.00 5,000.00
750,000.00 4,000.00
600,000.00 4,000.00
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SCA

ETF

GIA

GIA 61

ADNIF
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GIA
GIA MENA
UAE
GIA

AED
UAE 2,891,450 55,767 2,947,217
147,926 - 147,926
* - - -
75,627 - 75,627
174,600 - 174,600
151,500 - 151,500
AlB* 137,000 - 137,000
332,000 - 332,000
* 779,034 - 779,034
- 118,750 118,750
117,953 - 117,953
ADNL* 80,922 - 80,922
98,700 - 98,700
ADNP* 32,980 - 32,980
ADNIF* 63,918 - 63,918
NBAD * 105,995 - 105,995
* 52,334 - 52,334
* - 338,162 338,162
5,241,939 512,679 5,754,618
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100,000

721271

AED
UAE 2,721,493 404,526 3,126,019
183,650 - 183,650
321,644 - 321,644
* 41,927 - 41,927
164,392 12,102 176,494
156,837 13,957 170,795
413,077 - 413,077
AlB* 419,607 - 419,607
411,990 261,230 673,220
* 1,277,041 39,858 1,316,899
105,679 - 105,679
124,929 - 124,929
ADNL* 82,000 - 82,000
141,574 - 141,574
ADNP* 80,000 - 80,000
ADNIF* 105,000 - 105,000
NBAD 222,000 15,000 237,000
140,157 - 140,157
DIFC* - - -
154,476 12,727 167,203
7,267,473 759,399 8,026,872
*
Abu Dhabi Accountability Authority
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IFRS

38

UFJ

2016 12

59

IFRS
IFRS

23

31
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131

AED
2017
30.13

IFRS

23 103
UAE
25 193



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Ooooood
12 31
2016 2015
98,664,599 2,972,764,368 76,382,109  2,301,392,944
14,525,506 437,653,496 12,291,138 370,331,988
8,523,107 256,801,214 10,891,768 328,168,970
10 9,566,579 288,241,025 13,330,186 401,638,504
39 12,019,406 362,144,703 10,574,091 318,597,362
11 200,531,811 6,042,023,465 205,913,553  6,204,175,352
12 64,441,924 1,941,635,170 63,794,151  1,922,117,770
13 9,545,979 287,620,347 10,550,483 317,886,053
14 45,604 1,374,049 190,546 5,741,151
15 2,848,985 85,839,918 2,645,782 79,717,412
420,713,500  12,676,097,755 406,563,807  12,249,767,505
16 40,963,741 1,234,237,516 39,502,515  1,190,210,777
17 17,222,136 518,902,958 30,550,652 920,491,145
18 7,372,911 222,145,808 8,720,597 262,751,588
39 13,380,789 403,163,173 12,852,358 387,241,547
19 253,382,492 7,634,414,484 233,814,558  7,044,832,633
20 28,915,650 871,228,535 21,046,668 634,136,107
21 12,614,291 380,068,588 15,582,508 469,500,966
373,852,010  11,264,161,061 362,069,856  10,909,164,761
22 355,987 10,725,888 1,275,298 38,424,729
374,207,997  11,274,886,950 363,345,154  10,947,589,490
23 5,254,546 158,319,471 5,209,723 156,968,954
25 307,885 9,276,575 265,245 7,991,832
(48,746) (1,468,717) (11,083) (333,931)
23 5,254,546 158,319,471 5,209,722 156,968,924
23 21,196,859 638,661,362 18,628,226 561,268,449
24 6,754,750 203,520,618 6,754,750 203,520,618
25 228,349 6,880,155 190,232 5,731,690
20 108,265 3,262,024 108,265 3,262,024
7,449,049 224,439,846 6,863,573 206,799,454
46,505,503 1,401,210,805 43,218,653  1,302,178,015
420,713,500  12,676,097,755 406,563,807  12,249,767,505
L 1 L 1 [ 1

45
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Ooooood
12 31
2016 2015
26 9,656,957 290,964,114 8,965,129 270,119,337
27 (2.836,654) (85,468, 385) (2,021,044)  (60,894,056)
6,820,303 205,495,729 6,944,085 209,225,281
28 509,473 15,350,421 385,625 11,618,881
29 (24,969) (752,316) (22,632) (681,902)
484,504 14,598,106 362,993 10,936,979
220,162,2
7,304,807 220,093,835 7,307,078 0,162,260
3,205,336 96,576,774 2,994,548 90,225,731
(1,027,232) (30,950,500) (888,306)  (26,764,660)
30 2,178,104 65,626,274 2,106,242 63,461,071
31 961,286 28,963,547 817,587 24,633,896
32 327,816 9,877,096 254,189 7,658,715
33 36,171 1,089,832 70,754 2,131,818
1,325,273 39,930,475 1,142,530 34,424,429
10,808,184 325,650,584 10,555,850 318,047,761
34 (4,012,759)  (120,904,429) (4,082,919)  (123,018,349)
6,795,425 204,746,155 6,472,931 195,029,411
35 (1,190,677) (35,875,098) (942,971)  (28,411,716)
5,604,748 168,871,057 5,529,960 166,617,695
36 (308,706) (9,301,312) (298,143)  (8,983,049)
5,296,042 159,569,745 5,231,817 157,634,646
/) 42 0.96 28.92 0.97 29.23
/) 42 0.95 28.62 0.95 28.62

45
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Ooooood
12 31
2016 2015
5,296,042 159,569,745 5,231,817 157,634,646
(45,259) (1,363,654) (20,736) (624,776)
23 (20, 660) (622,486) (38,237) (1,152,081)
23 1,133,474 34,151,572 17,013 512,602
23 (498,922) (15,032,520) (635,645)  (19,151,984)
(20,508) (617,906) (5,033) (151,644)
548,125 16,515,006 (682,638)  (20,567,883)
5,844,167 176,084,752 4,549,179 137,066,763

45
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2015 1 1 4,736,112 245,473 (12,940) 4,736,112 17,174,332 4,000,000 151,427 324,932 (112,143) 108,265 6,611,812 37,963,382

- - - - - - - (656,869) (20,736) - 5,226,784 4,549,179

- - - - - - - - - - (10,255) (10,255)

- 19,772 2,976 - - - - - - - - 22,748

- - (1,119) - 1,119 - - - - - - -

( 2 473,611 - - - (473,611) - - - - - - -

2015 ( ) - - - - - - - - - - (1,889,971)  (1,889,971)

( ) - - - - 2,400,000 - - - - - (2,400,000) -

( 2 - - - - - - 38,805 - - - - 38,805

« 24) - - - - - 2,754,750 - - - - - 2,754,750

- - - - (8,798) - - - - - - (8,798)

« 29 - - - - - - - - - - (201,187) (201,187)

/ ( 23 - - - 473,610 - - - - - - (473,610) -

2015 12 31 5,209,723 265,245 (11,083) 5,209,722 19,093,042 6,754,750 190,232 (331,937) (132,879) 108,265 6,863,573 43,218,653

- - - - - - - 613,892 (45,259) - 5,275,534 5,844,167

- - - - - - - - - - (21,870) (21,870)

- 42,640 7,160 - - - - - - - - £9,800

44,823 - (44,823) - - - - - - - - -

( 2 - - - - - - - - - - - -

2015 ( ) - - - - - - - - - - (2,339,949)  (2,339,949)

( ) - - - - 2,000,000 - - - - - (2,000,000) -

( 2 - - - - - - 38,117 - - - - 38,117

« 20 - - - - - - - - - - (283,415) (283,415)

/ ( ) - - - 44,824 - - - - - - (44,824) -

2016 12 31 5,254,546 307,885 (48,746) 5,254,546 21,093,042 6,754,750 228,349 281,955 (178,138) 108,265 7,449,049 46,505,503
45

2015 1 1 142,699,055 7,396,101 (389,882) 142,699,055 517,462,623 120,520,000 4,562,496 9,790,201 (3,378,869) 3,262,024 199,213,896 1,143,836,700

- - - - - - - (19,791,463) (624,776) - 157,483,002 137,066,763
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2015

25

24)

« 29
/
2015 12

2015

25

« 29

/
2016 12

« 23
« 23
« 23
(
(
« 23
31
« 23
« 23
« 3
(
« 23
31
45

EDINETOOOO

OOo0ooo0obDo0oDo00Do00oo00ooO00oDo0DO00DO000DO000DO0000O00DOogOn(E2s5742)

OoOooOodnd
- - - - - - - - - - (308,983) (308,983)
- 595,730 89,667 - - - - - - - - 685,397
- - (33,715) - 33,715 - - - - - - -
14,269,899 - - - (14,269,899) - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - (56,944,826) (56,944,826)
- - - - 72,312,000 - - - - - (72,312,000) -
- - - - - - 1,169,195 - - - - 1,169,195
- - - - - 83,000,618 - - - - - 83,000,618
(265,084)
- - - - - - - - - - (265,084)
- - - - - - - - - - (6,061,764) (6,061,764)
- - - 14,269,869 - - - - - - (14,269,869) -
156,968,954 7,991,832 (333,931) 156,968,924 575,273,355 203,520,618 5,731,690 (10,001,262) (4,003,644) 3,262,024 206,799,454 1,302,178,015
- - - - - - - 18,496,566 (1,363,654) - 158,951,839 176,084,752
- - - - - - - - - - (658,943) (658,943)
- 1,284,743 215,731 - - - - - - - - 1,500,474
1,350,517 - (1,350,517) - - - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - - - - (70,502,663) (70,502,663)
- - - - 60,260,000 - - - - - (60,260,000) -
- - - - - - 1,148,465 - - - - 1,148,465
- - - - - - - - - - (8,539,294) (8,539,294)
- - - 1,350,547 - - - - - - (1,350,547) -
158,319,471 9,276,575 (1,468,717) 158,319,471 635,533,355 203,520,618 6,880,155 8,495,304 (5.367,298) 3,262,024 224,439,846 1,401,210,805
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Ooooood
12 31
2016 2015

5,604,748 168,871,057 5,529,960 166,617,695
34 228,792 6,893,503 230,959 6,958,795
137,347 4,138,265 82,756 2,493,438
32 (498,922) (15,032,520) (635,645)  (19,151,984)
22 - - 148 4,459
33 (3,500) (105,455) - -
35 1,641,934 49,471,471 1,363,412 41,079,604
(152,695) (4,600,700) (462,750)  (13,942,658)
38,117 1,148,465 38,805 1,169,195
6,995,821 210,784,087 6,147,645 185,228,544
(2,234,368) (67,321,508) 3,134,513 94,442,877
2,206,504 66,481,966 124,732 3,758,175
3,763,607 113,397,479 2,514,191 75,752,575
3,749,372 112,968,578 (13,004,150)  (391,815,040)
1,001,161 30,164,981 (4,168,689)  (125,602,600)
1,461,226 44,026,739 2,823,011 85,057,321
(13,328,516) (401,588,187) 16,674,735 502,409,766
19,566,539 589,539,820 (9,373,701)  (282,429,611)
(1,929,349) (58,131,285) (810,147)  (24,409,729)
(3,028,988) (91,263,408) 4,111,163 123,869,341
18,223,009 549,059,261 8,173,303 246,261,619
(287,198) (8,653,276) (295,499) (8,903,385)
17,935,811 540,405,985 7,877,804 237,358,235
(43,958,498)  (1,324,469,545) (51,186,794) (1,542,258,103)
44,442 197 1,339,043,39 54,902,778 1,654,220,701
146,498 4,413,985 - -
(432,876) (13,042,554) (395,800)  (11,925,454)
197,321 5,945,282 3,320,184 100,037,144
25 49,800 1,500,474 22,748 685,397
(1,347,686) (40,605,779) 3,236,421 97,513,365
13,597,876 409,704,004 9,104,457 274,317,289
(4,774,900) (143,867,737) (3,279,464)  (98,810,250)
- - 2,745,952 82,735,534
(914,525) (27,554,638) (124,938) (3,764,382)
23 (2,339,949) (70,502, 663) (1,889,971)  (56,944,826)
24 (283,415) (8.539,294) (201,187) (6,061,764)
3,987,201 120,134,366 9,614,018 289,670,362
22,120,333 666,485,633 20,812,006 627,065,741
74,938,932 2,257,910,021 54,126,926  1,630,844,280
12 31 37 97,059,265 2,924,395,654 74,938,932  2,257,910,021

45
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1968

2017 31

2016 NBAD FGB

2016 12 NBAD FGB
2015 UAE

FGB NBAD 1.254

5,254,545,318

FGB
NBAD
FGB
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oOoOooodn

11
24 11
90 90
10 120
11 180
2016 2015
111,203,941 129,088,419
34,705,857 25,932,438
21,936,989 18,617,851
3,229,250 3,758,947
30,273,567 28,794,228
201,349,604 206,191,883
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Ooooood

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
- - 723,277 1,750,262 - -
718 718 2,984,142 2,347,374 - 3,342
- - 3,040,902 2,785,672 - -
718 718 6,748,321 6,883,308 - 3,342
- - (1,156,681) (1,036,665) - -
(718) (718) (2,287,034) (2,087,568) - -
- - 3,304,606 3,759,075 - 3,342
30 - - 1,021,089 342,240 - -
31 60 - - 698,980 608,016 - -
61 90 - - 369,466 272,687 - -
90 - - 870,404 603,693 - -
- - 2,959,939 1,826,636 - -
8,523,107 10,891,768 198,389,665 204,365,247 64,441,924 63,790,809
- - (4,122,399) (4,037,405) - -
8,523,107 10,891,768 200,531,811 205,913,553 64,441,924 63,794,151

427
2015 36.2
3,227 2015
2,673
/
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OooooOodd
12
12
12

2016 2015
3,226,952 2,673,243

2016 2015
2,673,243 1,301,787
(593,565) (586,987)
(6.870) (526,770)
1,154,144 2,485,213
3,226,952 2,673,243

IFRS
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oOoOooodn
UAE
2016
2015 12 31
2016 2015
0-50 2,198,716 2,227,378
50-100 839,071 1,164,453
100 3,710,534 3,491,477
6,748,321 6,883,308
2015 2016
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
60,941 121,016 - - - - 2,401 3,025
17,432,780 16,715,572 13,263,730 11,369,131 - - 3,610,083 4,895,118
14,093,970 18,676,518 98,859 187,700 - - 4,887,167 4,126,633
10,436,678 10,275,513 51,811 276,635 - - 4,323,859 3,552,609
41,860,131 37,729,525 3,791 55,237 - - 7,936,954 5,197,494
9,224,060 10,797,566 - 69,644 - - 1,134,321 2,149,929
19,504,913 16,467,741 3,576,438 3,592,124 - - 4,053,922 4,422,957
14,950,955 23,337,915 26,915,550 26,276,979 8,661,666 12,278,944 797,793 510,794
20,401,184 17,402,161 8,760,973 11,283,337 904,913 1,051,242 2,173,537 3,330,402
5,734,609 5,768,988 70,601 94,728 - - 764,025 888,396
17,900,011 20,319,828 24,653,294 20,940,249 - - 78,028 84,850
- - 1,572,383 1,939,525 - - - -
28,358,847 25,961,457 - - - - 256,497 237,613
7,972,043 9,407,613 - - - - 496,280 388,371
166,803 93,778 - - - - 3,651 2,147
208,097,925 213,075,191 78,967,430 76,085,289 9,566,579 13,330,186 30,518,518 29,790,338

UAE
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ooOooood
2016 12 31

21,714,354 54,240,386 3,065,775 19,638,035 6,049 - 98,664,599

6,862,195 1,569,606 3,584,586 417,168 2,062,108 29,843 14,525,506

165,837 7,138,067 678,929 409,671 89,472 41,131 8,523,107

3,756,726 2,616,857 2,990,065 202,931 - - 9,566,579

2,072,392 7,861,077 1,691,892 39,982 242,618 111,445 12,019,406

124,738,352 33,848,967 23,327,195 13,535,292 10,396,279 2,251,840 208,097,925

22,435,805 15,418,479 8,880,439 6,607,521 10,108,667 991,013 64,441,924

181,745,661 122,693,439 44,218,881 40,850,600 22,905,193 3,425,272 415,839,046

2015 12 31

56,088,919 8,676,576 4,916,552 6,686,811 13,251 - 76,382,109

4,259,257 3,604,090 2,206,610 1,022,383 1,175,800 22,998 12,291,138

132,456 9,195,874 1,038,278 172,239 339,510 13,411 10,891,768

2,492,191 3,086,686 7,732,044 19,265 - - 13,330,186

2,564,811 5,448,967 2,299,616 66,084 139,955 54,658 10,574,091

123,326,698 36,091,915 22,290,748 13,366,544 15,767,657 2,231,629 213,075,191

16,000,404 17,284,440 9,292,509 7,721,670 12,130,287 1,364,841 63,794,151

204,864,736 83,388,548 49,776,357 29,054,996 29,566,460 3,687,537 400,338,634

38
2016 2015 2016 2015

AAA 7,379,206 8,737,990 13,701 215,396
AA A 46,484,287 43,655,663 12,238,671 7,603,105
BBB B 8,810,341 10,037,106 1,156,151 2,475,005
1,768,090 1,363,392 1,116,983 1,997,632
64,441,924 63,794,151 14,525,506 12,291,138
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oOoOooodn
2016 2015 2016 2015

22,399,958 20,024,093 2,253,336 916,156

549,922 370,400 1,022,461 1,569,128

20,187,676 18,308,431 1,021,748 2,820,260

17,947,298 21,276,123 8,968,252 5,000,856

/ 3,357,070 3,815,104 1,259,709 1,984,738
64,441,924 63,794,151 14,525,506 12,291,138

(b)
ALCO
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Oooooood
NBAD LCR
UAE
NBAD 2016
2016 10 LCR
CBUAE
G-ALCO
2016 12 31
98,664,599 98,208,992 455,607 - - - -
14,525,506 6,013,245 2,580,915 3,952,291 345,852 1,633,203 -
8,523,107 8,450,685 72,422 - - - -
9,566,579 6,364,061 3,202,518 - - - -
12,019,406 1,937,664 1,683,453 2,274,254 1,681,947 4,442,088 -
200,531,811 36,261,443 16,631,619 48,835,398 33,714,947 65,088,404 -
64,441,924 2,707,170 4,611,508 4,972,213 22,881,893 29,269,140 -
9,545,979 7,159,484 2,386,495 - - - -
45,604 - - - - - 45,604
2,848,985 - - - - - 2,848,985

420,713,500 167,102,744 31,624,537 60,034,156 58,624,639 100,432,835 2,894,589

40,963,741 37,147,059 3,623,556 - 193,126 - -
17,222,136 17,222,136 - - - - -
7,372,911 6,429,925 942,986 - - - -
13,380,789 1,680,401 1,408,369 2,521,696 2,307,254 5,463,069 -
253,382,492 217,764,581 28,929,194 5,474,442 869,291 344,984 -
28,915,650 3,038,818 1,621,984 14,849,443 3,910,125 5,495,280 -
12,614,291 9,460,719 3,153,572 - - - -
355,987 - - - - 355,987 -
46,505,503 - - - - - 46,505,503
420,713,500 292,743,639 39,679,661 22,845,581 7,279,796 11,659,320 46,505,503
30,518,518 1,357,208 3,648,834 9,753,372 8,687,629 7,071,475 -
510,562 - 2,105 327,112 181,345 - -
106,035,033 27,356,812 12,456,648 24,831,821 9,605,772 31,783,980 -

2015 12 31
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oOoOooodn
76,382,109 75,844,493 537,616 - - - -
12,291,138 1,760,823 3,607,247 3,272,508 622,175 3,028,385 -
10,891,768 10,632,741 258,309 718 - - -
13,330,186 10,671,882 2,658,304 - - - -
10,574,091 972,618 1,382,894 2,828,035 1,508,624 3,881,920 -
205,913,553 42,993,900 19,996,303 37,620,046 46,069,522 59,233,782 -
63,794,151 4,488,104 2,484,621 8,313,096 16,076,948 32,431,382 -
10,550,483 7,912,863 2,637,620 - - - -
190,546 - - - - - 190,546
2,645,782 - - - - - 2,645,782
406,563,807 155,277,424 33,562,914 52,034,403 64,277,269 98,575,469 2,836,328
39,502,515 35,932,138 3,351,702 18,873 199,802 - -
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120 - - - -
8,720,597 7,125,622 1,594,975 - - - -
12,852,358 1,270,786 1,161,440 2,856,894 2,199,441 5,363,797 -
233,814,558 209,805,846 19,503,593 3,490,452 634,750 379,917 -
21,046,668 - 3,305,700 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586 -
15,582,508 11,686,881 3,895,627 - - - -
1,275,298 914,205 - - - 361,093 -
43,218,653 - - - - - 43,218,653
406,563,807 294,699,010 35,400,157 13,326,759 10,639,835 9,279,393 43,218,653
29,790,338 2,661,071 6,740,535 10,013,062 6,255,392 4,120,278 -
995,631 202,015 57,217 562,400 173,999 - -

116,445,435 26,202,477 10,963,788 36,715,359 14,205,318 28,358,493 -
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O0oo0o0o

2016 12 31
40,963,741 41,223,153 37,370,105 3,659,825 - 193,223 -
17,222,136 17,261,173 17,261,173 - - - -
7,372,911 7,378,357 6,431,802 946,465 - - -
253,382,492 254,437,528 217,967,876 29,263,619 5,757,941 1,009,750 438,342
28,915,650 41,611,439 3,261,260 1,974,276 15,884,792 4,150,321 16,340,790
355,987 623,181 - 19,339 38,838 38,945 526,059
348,212,917 362,534,831 282,202,306 35,863,524 21,681,571 5,302,239 17,305,191
30,518,518 30,518,518 28,660,000 941,158 636,275 28,978 252,107
510,562 510,562 510,562 - - - -

2015 12 31
39,502,515 39,552,724 35,955,521 3,377,651 19,650 199,902 -
30,550,652 30,604,006 28,006,870 2,597,136 - - -
8,720,597 8,767,152 7,165,217 1,601,935 - - -
233,814,558 234,765,736 209,960,176 19,750,772 3,879,002 704,023 471,673
21,046,668 26,290,056 191,481 3,600,335 7,729,179 8,012,497 6,756,564
1,275,298 1,589,004 917,341 20,540 40,469 40,691 569,963
334,910,288 341,568,678 282,196,606 30,948,369 11,668,390 8,957,113 7,798,200
29,790,338 29,790,338 26,466,068 579,571 1,925,198 385,782 433,719
995,631 995,631 995,631 - - - -

©
/
GRC
G-ALCO
GRC
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VaR
VaR
VaR
99
VaR VaR
GRC VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
MAT VaR
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

VaR

17,489 16,984 14,874 12,220 10,434 7,023 20,528 24,505

4,655 15,131 7,168 9,220 3,355 46 18,143 22,525

16,420 6,549 12,276 6,663 6,169 5,294 17,586 11,011

5,665 3,869 6,545 3,618 3,651 1,910 8,353 5,346

(9,251) (8,565) (11,115) (7,281) (2,741) 27) (23,554) (14,377)

VaR
VaR VaR
VaR
VaR
GRC VaR
VaR
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
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Jooooog
VaR

146,482 97,072 154,167 84,105 96,955 59,546 184,388 103,427

11,543 14,591 17,034 8,219 11,135 1,579 25,325 21,576

46,154 29,071 34,802 21,639 26,381 13,209 64,735 30,885
141,606 95,737 150,193 84,952 95,631 57,904 183,194 99,775
(52,821) (42,327) (47,862) (30,705) (36,192) (13,146) (88,866) (48,809)

39
50 2015 50
2016 2015 2016 2015
434,097 341,366 411,025 325,071
324,416 2015
303, 986 262,116 2015 251,024

116/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)

Oooooooo
2016 12 31
98,664,599 91,496,418 455,607 - - - 6,712,574
14,525,506 8,657,313 2,501,180 1,330,138 324,080 610,864 1,011,931
8,523,107 7,225,204 - - - - 1,297,903
9,566,579 6,364,062 3,202,517 - - - -
12,019,406 - - - - - 12,019,406
200,531,811 185,558,683 10,540,494 1,024,266 1,435,174 1,343,796 629,398
64,441,924 4,258,560 4,065,881 4,420,140 22,733,428 28,889,952 73,963
9,545,979 - - - - - 9,545,979
45,604 - - - - - 45,604
2,848,985 - - - - - 2,848,985
420,713,500 303,560,240 20,855,679 6,774,544 24,492,682 30,844,612 34,185,743
40,963,741 35,480,211 3,623,186 19,045 193,126 - 1,648,173
17,222,136 17,222,136 - - - - -
7,372,011 6,429,924 942,987 - - - -
13,380,789 - - - - - 13,380,789
253,382,492 164,758,937 20,435,561 5,184,062 686,110 159,916 62,157,906
28,915,650 12,815,885 406,675 6,717,531 3,480,279 5,495,280 -
12,614,291 - - - - - 12,614,291
355,987 - - - - 355,987 -
46,505,503 - - - - - 46,505,503
420,713,500 236,707,093 25,408,409 11,920,638 4,359,515 6,011,183 136,306,662
66,853,147  (4,552,730) (5,146,094) 20,133,167 24,833,429  (102,120,919)
35,861,524  (3,596,462) (3,656,533)  (9,670,541)  (19,311,814) 373,826
102,714,671  (8.149,192) (8,802,627) 10,462,626 5,521,615  (101,747,093)

102,714,671 94,565,479 85,762,852 96,225,478 101,747,093 -
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oOoOooodn
2015 12 31

76,382,109 63,825,448 537,615 - - - 12,019,046
12,291,138 3,188,869 2,985,752 2,469,923 622,175 1,342,499 1,681,920
10,891,768 9,699,649 259,027 - - - 933,092
13,330,186 10,671,881 2,658,305 - - - -
10,574,001 - - - - - 10,574,091
205,913,553 186,893,571 13,963,140 1,392,181 1,945,374 1,365,226 354,061
63,794,151 6,958,927 2,344,295 6,852,960 15,639,730 31,825,636 172,603
10,550,483 - - - - - 10,550,483
190,546 - - - - - 190,546
2,645,782 - - - - - 2,645,782

406,563,807 281,238,345 22,748,134 10,715,064 18,207,279 34,533,361 39,121,624

39,502,515 33,537,182 3,351,702 18,873 199,802 - 2,394,956
30,550,652 27,963,532 2,587,120 - - - -
8,720,507 7,125,622 1,594,975 - - - -
12,852,358 - - - - - 12,852,358
233,814,558 153,391,120 15,876,123 3,444,461 607,537 376,310 60,118,998
21,046,668 1,376,733 3,305,700 5,767,088 7,422,561 3,174,586 -
15,582,508 - - - - - 15,582,508
1,275,298 914,205 - - - 361,003 -
43,218,653 - - - - - 43,218,653
406,563,807 224,308,403 26,715,620 9,230,422 8,229,900 3,911,080 134,167,473

56,929,942  (3,967,486) 1,484,642 9,977,379 30,621,372  (95,045,849)

19,620,165 7,412,516 146,045  (1,852,733)  (24,992,293) (333,700)

76,550,107 3,445,030 1,630,687 8,124,646 5,629,079  (95,379,549)

76,550,107 79,995,137 81,625,824 89,750,470 95,379,549 -
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OooooOodd
12 31
2016 2015
( ) ) ) )/
(240,988) 20,770,132 20,529,144 20,149,100
(13,940,488) 13,592,130 (348,358) (165,481)
50,450,833 (50, 352,990) 97,843 (330,581)
(1,128,788) (233,173) (1,361,961) (49,653)
(192,590) (1,471,559) (1,664,149) (6,302,232)
5,304,741 (5,107,081) 197,660 19,568
253,073 (180,828) 72,245 15,973
(305,899) 808,369 502,470 1,676,614
207,638 (261,484) (53,846) (212,542)
70,956 (76,843) (5,887) (54,441)
420,845 (104,680) 316,165 298,623
362,524 (15,644) 346,880 118,154
1,175,328 (1,296,879) (121,551) (23,141)

@
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CBUAE

I1CAAP

2016
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()

OooooOodd
12 2015 12
2015

2016 2015
5,513,685 5,463,885
7,375,675 6,788,805
5,254,546 5,209,722
21,321,391 19,283,274
(178,138) (132,879)
6,754,750 6,754,750
(282,952) (269, 355)
45,758,957 43,098,202
126,879 (331,937)
355,987 361,003
2,851,153 2,962,209
(14,314) (15,752)
3,319,705 2,975,613
49,078,662 46,073,815
228,092,256 236,976,736
24,593,160 20,397,958
18,630,206 17,883,226
271,315,622 275,257,920
16.87% 15.66%
18.09% 16.74%

IFRS
IFRS 1ASB

®C )
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dC ) @
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21
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@

®C )

(b)

©

@

©

41
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@
CVA
2016 CVA
CVA
60
®
2016 12 31
- - - - 98,664,599 - 98,664,599
10,963 14,514,543 - - - - 14,525,506
- - - - 8,523,107 - 8,523,107
- - - - 9,566,579 - 9,566,579
938,563 11,080,843 - - - - 12,019,406
- - - - 200,531,811 - 200,531,811
- - 58,410,308 6,031,616 - - 64,441,924
- - - - 9,413,362 - 9,413,362
949,526 25,595,386 58,410,308 6,031,616 326,699,458 - 417,686,204
- - - - - 40,963,741 40,963,741
- - - - - 17,222,136 17,222,136
- - - - - 7,372,911 7,372,911
3,797,257 9,583,532 - - - - 13,380,789
- - - - - 253,382,492 253,382,402
- - - - - 28,915,650 28,915,650
! - 1,246,122 - - - 10,485,636 11,731,758
- - - - - 355,987 355,987
3,797,257 10,829,654 - - - 358,698,553 373,325,464
1
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ooooooo
2015 12 31

- - - - 76,382,109 - 76,382,109

11,343 12,279,795 - - - - 12,291,138

- - - - 10,891,768 - 10,891,768

- - - - 13,330,186 - 13,330,186
1,098,136 9,475,955 - - - - 10,574,091
- - - - 205,913,553 - 205,913,553

- - 57,002,707 6,791,444 - - 63,794,151

- - - - 10,396,640 - 10,396,640
1,109,479 21,755,750 57,002,707 6.791.444 316,914,256 - 403,573,636

- N - N - 39,502,515 39,502,515
- - - - - 30,550,652 30,550,652
- - - - - 8,720,597 8,720,597
3,900,635 8,951,723 - - - - 12,852,358
- - - - - 233,814,558 233,814,558
- - - - - 21,046,668 21,046,668

- 3,363,136 - - - 11,323,391 14,686,527
- - - - - 1,275,298 1,275,298
3,900,635 12,314,859 - - - 346,233,679 362,449,173
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Ooooood
2016 12 31
9,474,665 5,039,878 - 14,514,543
10,963 - - 10,963
52,546,376 5,850,227 13,705 58,410,308
4,303 12,015,103 - 12,019,406
62,036,307 22,905,208 13,705 84,955,220
(35,229) (13,345,560) - (13,380,789)
2015 12 31
7,615,381 4,664,414 - 12,279,795
11,343 - - 11,343
51,042,765 5,946,136 13,806 57,002,707
4,982 10,569,109 - 10,574,091
58,674,471 21,179,659 13,806 79,867,936
(73,799) (12,778,559) - (12,852,358)
663 2015 12 31
2015 12 31 528
2016 2015
13,806 13,871
o1 (65)
12 31 13,705 13,806
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Oooooood
2016 2015
1,384,327 1,537,890
UAE
13,574,477 12,286,267
3,000,000 41,055,045
3,882,238 1,339,930
1,787,177 1,107,314
75,036,380 19,055,663
98,664,599 76,382,109
2016 2015
592,862 1,339,604
13,513,575 10,609,218
419,069 342,316
14,525,506 12,291,138
2015 11,343
2016 2015
1,858,415 1,904,795
6,098,970 7,777,902
565,722 1,209,071
8,523,107 10,891,768
10
9,567
2015 13,330
2015
2016 12 31
10,439 14,077
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oOoOooodn

2016 12 31
5,537 2015 4,662
11
2016 2015
208,097,925 213,075,191
(1,156,681) (1,036,665)
(6,409,433) (6,124,973)
200,531,811 205,913,553
2016 2015
17,900,011 20,319,828
44,542,134 44,130,248
14,950,955 23,337,915
/ 94,373,935 89,918,130
/ 36,330,890 35,369,070
208,097,925 213,075,191
2016 2015
8,648,300 12,076,158
123,716,285 122,421,847
16,685,277 24,557,531
26,215,367 24,955,893
13,932,692 10,029, 833
15,206,073 15,402,359
1,782,790 1,716,439
1,475,780 1,673,779
435,361 241,347
208,097,925 213,075,191
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oooooog
2016 2015
6,124,973 6,668,084
101,675 503,282
1,940,761 1,476,162
(395,561) (378,847)
(464,019) (685,050)
(898,396) (1,458, 658)
12 31 6,409,433 6,124,973
7,192 2015 7,592
19,604 2015 20,225
2016 2015
6,500,672 5,534,022
3,968,743 3,667,084
37,226 16,230
12,745 12,405
10,519,386 9,229,741
(179,411) (83,699)
(635) (701)
10,339,340 9,145,341
2016 2015
83,699 56,664
(3.854) (7,971)
157,596 56,730
(1.870) (369)
(56,156) (21,355)
12 31 179,411 83,699
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ooooooo
2015
1,176,920 1,141,821
3,000,652 3,354,662
4,252,368 2,923,834
8,429,940 7,420,317
(1,929, 268) (1,886,295)
6,500,672 5,534,022
2015
837,038 744,191
2,215,729 2,466,185
3,447,905 2,323,646
6,500,672 5,534,022
2015
7,112,246 8,437,582
(777,328) (914,338)
6,334,918 7,523,244
(173,836) (183,341)
(46,435) (38,081)
6,114,647 7,301,822
2016 2015 2016 2015
63,013 37,571 62,070 36,809
1,535,792 1,239,179 1,436,369 1,166,587
5,512,541 7,160,832 4,836,479 6,319,848
7,112,246 8,437,582 6,334,918 7,523,244
(777,328) (914,338) - -
6,334,918 7,523,244 6,334,918 7,523,244
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Oo0o0o0
2016 2015
183,341 172,167
(9,815) (12,104)
310 23,278
12 31 173,836 183,341
12
2016 2015
58,410,308 57,002,707
6,031,616 6,791,444
64,441,924 63,794,151
2016 2015
18,565 24,164 42,729 22,424 13,781 36,205
64,207,111 160,850 64,367,961 63,277,418 344,129 63,621,547
31,223 11 31,234 136,373 26 136,399
64,256,899 185,025 64,441,924 63,436,215 357,936 63,794,151
64,256,899 185,025 64,441,924 63,436,215 357,936 63,794,151
2016 12 31
11,240 2015 24,434
13
2016 2015
4,804,445 3,914,405
3,205,044 5,497,104
1,505,003 1,108,588
31,487 30,386
9,545,979 10,550,483
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Ooooood
14

2015 198,249
30,818
/ (2,195)
2015 12 31 226,872
252
/ (142,996)
2016 12 31 84,128
2015 20,716
1,987
13,623
/ -
2015 12 31 36,326
1,990
208
/ -
2016 12 31 38,524
2015 12 31 190,546
2016 12 31 45,604
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Ooooood
15
2015 2,598,680 887,465 366,492 245,577 4,098,214
17,920 42,029 13,487 347,636 421,072
15,500 150,167 16,063 (212,548) (30,818)
(16,513) (38,548) (29,938) - (84,999)
2015 12 31 2,615,587 1,041,113 366,104 380,665 4,403,469
20,290 71,039 21,799 330,433 443,561
53,893 77,514 15,846 (147,505) (252)
(17,945) (25,308) (25,321) - (68,574)
2016 12 31 2,671,825 1,164,358 378,428 563,593 4,778,204
2015 766,185 566,955 266,820 - 1,599,960
42,464 148,270 38,238 - 228,972
4,300 - - - 4,300
(20,629) (27,851) (27,065) - (75,545)
2015 12 31 792,320 687,374 277,993 - 1,757,687
45,645 146,866 34,291 - 226,802
2,825 - 2,825
(9,347) (24,192) (24,556) - (58,095)
2016 12 31 831,443 810,048 287,728 - 1,929,219
2015 12 31 1,823,267 353,739 88,111 380,665 2,645,782
2016 12 31 1,840,382 354,310 90,700 563,593 2,848,985
1
16
2016 2015
1,562,228 2,124,348
2,041,886 1,189,984
24,195,040 23,658,299
27,799,154 26,972,631
88,445 338,655
13,076,142 12,191,229
13,164,587 12,529,884
40,963,741 39,502,515
-0.42 14.9 2015
2.2
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17

2015

18

-0.13

2016

2015 25,786
30, 551

0.99

5,476

7,372,911
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11,746
17,222

2015 4,765

2015 8,720,597
-0.44 1.65 2015
12
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ooOooood
19
2016 2015
62,766,233 58,809,496
12,574,483 12,449,667
2,323,568 1,379,276
150,906,578 138,649,803
228,570,862 211,288,242
24,811,630 22,526,316
253,382,492 233,814,558
2016 2015
48,676,196 26,172,119
49,396,320 51,607,710
70,037,494 67,610,865
/ 60,460,852 65,897,548
228,570,862 211,288,242
24,811,630 22,526,316
253,382,492 233,814,558
2016 2015
UAE 151,624,107 130,476,271
31,692,548 28,224,650
23,133,710 30,004,257
9,458,171 12,279,589
11,194,114 10,116,743
1,468,212 186,732
228,570,862 211,288,242
24,811,630 22,526,316
253,382,492 233,814,558
2016 2015
1,134,125 2,546,852
517,859 385,128
1,651,984 2,931,980
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ooooogd
20
2016 2015

1,802,763 1,766,137

27,112,887 19,280,531

28,915,650 21,046,668

500 2018
108,265
2016 2015
79,513 80,527
137,003 111,803
96,563 99,901
- 75,826
3,107,358 4,058,665
9,939,138 4,683,075
231,752 -
13,591,327 9,109,797
17.71 2015 15.96
474 .08 2015 522.40
2016 2015
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12 31
2016 2015

3.4
- - 1,897,980 156,779 - 2,054,759 - - 817,075 1,191,935 - 2,009,010

4.6
4.8 - - 132,664 100,862 - 233,526 - - - 114,293 - 114,293

0.5
0.6 - - - 97,848 92,110 189,958 - - - 99,887 - 99,887

EURIBOR
0.33 - - - 228,171 - 228,171 - - - - - -

2.4
4.5 - 295,806 155,654 - 409,272 860,732 - - 299,795 160,050 429,833 889,678

2.6
- - - - 343,804 343,804 - - - - 323,385 323,385

0.5
- - - - 27,719 27,719 - - - - 33,184 33,184

4.9
- - - 393,862 - 398,862 - - - 404,616 - 404,616
5.1 2,763,343 110,869 4,531,233 2,730,928 4,622,375 14,758,748 - - 4,650,218 5,451,779 2,388,184 12,490,181

LIBOR

185bps 275,475 1,215,309 8,181,912 201,675 - 9,824,371 - 3,305,700 1,193,452 183,282 - 4,682,434
3,038,818 1,621,984 14,849,443 3,910,125 5,495,280 28,915,650 - 3,305,700 6,960,540 7,605,842 3,174,586 21,046,668
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21

2016 2015
4,446,540 3,538,842
13 1,662,003 3,885,572
446,384 487,047
5,916,424 7,546,500
142,940 124,547
12,614,291 15,582,508

2016 12
UAE
2016 2015
3.61 4.00
1.69 2.00
+/-50
2015 :-9,871 10,362 2015 :10,633
+/-50
10,503 2015 10,815 10,054 2015
-10,133

2016 2015
487,047 462,620
33,337 93,789
(74,000) (69,362)
12 31 446,384 487,047

81,532 2015 79,970
11,799 2015 11,874
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oooooDod
2016 2015
124,547 111,090
305,591 308,956
(287,198) (295,499)
12 31 142,940 124,547
22
2016 2015
2006 15 - 914,205
2012 12 10 355,987 361,003
355,987 1,275,298
2006 15
2005 11 22 2016 15 2.5
EIBOR
0.25 2016 2006 15
2016 12 31 EIBOR 0.301 2015 EIBOR
0.301
2016 2015
2,500,000 2,500,000
(72,926) (72,926)
2,427,074 2,427,074
26,677 26,357
(1,347,973) (1,347,973)
(191,253) (191,253)
(914,525) i
- 914,205
2012 12 10
2012 12 10 500
4.75
409.39
52.09 65.19 2016 12
31 4.79 4.79
2016
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Doooood
23
5,255
5,210 2016 12 31
5,255 2015
5,210
1980 10
50 10
12 31
2016 2015
0.45 2015 0.40 2,339,949 1,889,971
2015 10 - 473,611
2017 31 2016 0.45 2015

0.40
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)
2016 15
AGM 2015 12 31 2.4
)
2016 2015

(287,012) 331,620

1,133,474 17,013

(498,922) (635,645)
12 31 347,540 (287,012)

(44,925) (6,688)

(20,660) (38,237)
12 31 (65,585) (44,925)
12 31 281,955 (331,937)
)
24
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a b
283.4 2015 201.2
2016 2015
4,000,000 4,000,000
EIBOR 2.3
750 2,754,750 2,754,750
3.35
6,754,750 6,754,750
2015 17 750
5.25
3.35
3.35
2020
17
25
2008
7,160 2015 2,976
7,160 2015 2,976 42,640

2015 19,772
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Ooooooog
2016 2015
47,881 33,278
23,266 18,745
(1,945) (1,096)
(7.160) (2,976)
- (70)
12 31 62,042 47,881
2016 6.96 2015
2016 12 31 6.85
12 2015 6.85 12
2.34 2015 2.29
26
2016 2015
165,594 199,761
301,376 128,481
128,180 72,130
340,947 275,002
1,872,151 1,756,584
6,848,709 6,533,171
9,656,957 8,965,129
27
2016 2015
603,626 297,803
205,051 120,392
32,833 28,571
1,323,668 986,732
647,633 553,362
23,843 34,184
2,836,654 2,021,044
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ooooogd
28
2016 2015
264,816 203,725
244,657 181,900
509,473 385,625
29
2016 2015
16,845 16,705
8,124 5,927
24,969 22,632
30
2016 2015
598,509 601,825
46,117 58,548
45,807 65,652
125,983 133,047
17,725 22,137
898,285 802,168
1,178,737 1,046,546
59,956 68,327
90,172 70,833
144,045 125,465
3,205,336 2,994,548
28,204 31,247
29,721 5,977
840,241 736,122
103,805 90,524
25,261 24,436
1,027,232 888,306
2,178,104 2,106,242
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ooooooo
31
2016 2015
1 589,244 469,412
372,042 348,175
961,286 817,587
1
32
32
2016 2015
/ (185,779) (384,523)
498,922 635,645
14,673 3,067
327,816 254,189
2
23 2015 71
33
2016 2015
3,500 -
32,671 70,754
36,171 70,754
34
2016 2015
2,729,137 2,773,739
1,026,614 1,041,688
228,792 230,959
28,216 36,533
4,012,759 4,082,919
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35
2016 2015
101,675 503,282
1,940,761 1,476,162
(464,019) (685,050)
(395,561) (378,847)
58,462 64,707
(55,696) (41,594)
« ¥
2,230 11
2,825 4,300
1,190,677 942,971
36
2016 2015
305,591 308,956
3,115 (10,813)
308,706 298,143
2016 2015
1,009,545 1,144,973
256,010 277,435
(7,033) (3,918)
36,388 13,619
(155) (358)
766 -
- (1,792)
10,514 6,793
12,216 6,364
308,706 298,143
1
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37
/

2016 2015
94,767,450 72,190,756
2,291,815 2,748,176
97,059,265 74,938,932

38

2016 2015
42,996,143 49,145,032
63,038,890 67,300,403
30,518,518 29,790,338
510,562 995,631
137,064,113 147,231,404
177,559 267,582
146,814 205,082
324,373 472,664
137,388,486 147,704,068

2016 2015
48,749 68,316
76,275 100,791
21,790 35,975
146,814 205,082
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ooOooood
165 2015 496
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
UAE 12,330,152 14,478,228 - - 66,977,408 70,385,640
9,472,326 5,955,360 - - 21,476,921 20,950,977
3,141,767 3,513,468 2,105 2,123 6,144,419 7,209,528
3,662,549 2,990,131 471,727 626,208 7,818,869 13,907,315
1,655,159 2,074,032 36,730 367,300 2,968,281 3,481,997
256,565 779,119 - - 649,135 509,978
30,518,518 29,790,338 510,562 995,631 106,035,033 116,445,435
39
/
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2016 12 31

6,173,560 5,693,108 781,870,876 86,401,378 164,356,843 257,650,119 129,133,859 144,328,677
7,292 11,647 95,347,235 8,765,761 83,908,858 2,672,616 - -
405,146 282,231 29,955,078 404,030 5,619,978 7,037,478 4,723,117 12,170,475
3,511,027 2,813,272 294,184,066 166,547,443 99,476,619 25,782,488 1,655,073 722,443
621,343 409,816 89,201,300 23,780,753 41,936,973 22,962,025 305,650 215,899
362,475 373,458 1,589,308 594,961 535,921 440,061 18,365 -
11,080,843 9,583,532 1,292,147,863 286,494,326 395,835,192 316,544,787 135,836,064 157,437,494
932,885 3,507,775 72,540,611 5,304,812 2,675,733 11,660,067 18,821,286 34,078,713
932,885 3,507,775 72,540,611 5,304,812 2,675,733 11,660,067 18,821,286 34,078,713
5,678 289,482 5,096,055 - - 436,226 4,659,829 -
5,678 289,482 5,096,055 - - 436,226 4,659,829 -
12,019,406 13,380,789 1,369,784,529 291,799,138 398,510,925 328,641,080 159,317,179 191,516,207
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2015 12 31

5,033,078 4,675,069 625,847,091 47,366,567 141,472,273 195,125,666 134,640,897 107,241,688
2,389 1,860 14,308,184 734,600 11,737,084 1,836,500 - -
244,004 244,467 53,747,200 14,169,773 1,310,989 9,266,665 4,929,424 24,070,349
2,237,645 2,333,890 304,043,488 167,162,289 100,855,857 32,446,760 3,578,582 -
854,097 613,922 97,978,672 17,179,858 41,087,785 37,842,121 1,609,725 259,183
1,104,742 1,082,515 3,021,823 1,116,014 717,969 1,091,898 95,942 -
9,475,955 8,951,723 1,098,946,458 247,729,101 297,181,957 277,609,610 144,854,570 131,571,220
1,095,974 3,752,994 70,867,087 2,955,174 5,244,765 13,212,719 16,695,564 32,758,865
1,095,974 3,752,994 70,867,087 2,955,174 5,244,765 13,212,719 16,695,564 32,758,865
1,981 144,625 3,992,726 - - - 3,662,037 330,689

181 3,016 450,954 302,983 147,971 - - -

2,162 147,641 4,443,680 302,983 147,971 - 3,662,037 330,689
10,574,001 12,852,358 1,174,257,225 250,987,258 302,574,693 290,822,329 165,212,171 164,660,774
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2016 12 31
2,268,837 2015 1,220,418
6,048,196
2015 7,946,698

40

EXCO
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Doooood
2006 16
69.82 2015 69.92
4,000 2015 4,000
138.8 2015 128.9
2016 2015
58,475 90,356
10,992 2,058
15,154 1,563
11,096 13,240
9,656 6,689
-0.10 8.5 2015
-0.05 8.25
9.00 2015 4.50
2016 2015
1,544,360 10,461,209 59,251,728 71,257,297 66,930,369
572,149 3,980,405 61,705,032 66,257,586 50,679,183
273,050 1,516,101 14,252,296 16,041,447 22,958,720
34,476 814,386 1,705,317 2,554,179 2,149,113
919 523,881 360,192 884,992 442,068
2,726 22,905 56,143 81,774 85,591
2015
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41

GRC
GRC

UAE

UAE

NBAD

NBAD
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UAE
2016 12 31

3,510,133 662,460 3,254,671 (122,457) 7,304,807 5,979,830 268,581 1,056,396 7,304,807
1,995,242 255,315 1,138,563 114,257 3,503,377 2,742,774 78,792 681,811 3,503,377
5,505,375 917,775 4,393,234 (8,200) 10,808,184 8,722,604 347,373 1,738,207 10,808,184
1,344,967 368,682 2,207,783 91,327 4,012,759 3,237,926 168,739 606,094 4,012,759
(118,897) 40,986 1,137,158 131,430 1,190,677 1,169,474 54,995 (33,792) 1,190,677
4,279,305 508,107 1,048,293 (230,957) 5,604,748 4,315,204 123,639 1,165,905 5,604,748
200,730 74,328 33,729 (81) 308,706 (1,377) 19,075 291,008 308,706
4,078,575 433,779 1,014,564 (230,876) 5,296,042 4,316,581 104,564 874,897 5,296,042
289,895,419 31,079,869 79,202,051 70,776,350 470,953,689 327,431,825 9,452,008 126,226,766 463,110,599
(50,240,189) (42,397,099)
420,713,500 420,713,500
283,195,303 30,038,177 76,237,435 34,977,271 424,448,186 286,648,484 7,924,196 122,032,416 416,605,096
(50,240,189) (42,397,099)
374,207,997 374,207,997
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UAE
2015 12 31

3,634,810 750,501 3,016,068 (94,301) 7,307,078 5,809,365 252,047 1,245,666 7,307,078

1,551,144 254,349 1,086,544 356,735 3,248,772 2,554,636 94,031 600, 105 3,248,772

5,185,954 1,004,850 4,102,612 262,434 10,555,850 8,364,001 346,078 1,845,771 10,555,850

1,391,833 373,212 2,313,550 4,324 4,082,919 3,271,007 168,443 643,379 4,082,919

592,977 33,447 522,076 (205,529) 942,971 799,706 (14,485) 157,750 942,071

3,201,144 598,191 1,266,986 463,639 5,529,960 4,293,198 192,120 1,044,642 5,529,960

172,191 76,392 49,376 184 298,143 (3,000) 17,306 283,837 298,143

3,028,953 521,799 1,217,610 463,455 5,231,817 4,296,198 174,814 760,805 5,231,817

278,037,484 32,130,586 85,728,678 60,380,578 456,286,326 322,169,714 9,922,165 88,843,700 420,935,579

(49,722,519) (14,371,772)

406,563,807 406,563,807

272,812,303 31,145,769 82,715,335 26,394,266 413,067,673 283,613,118 8,389,836 85,713,972 377,716,926

(49,722,519) (14,371,772)

363,345, 154 363,345, 154
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42
2016 2015

5,296,042 5,231,817
(283,415) (201,187)
5,012,627 5,030,630
5,198,640 4,723,172
2016 - _
2015 - 472,492
2,701 2,163
) 5,201,341 5,197,827
0.96 0.97
5,012,627 5,030,630
45,853 45,541
5,058,480 5,076,171
5,201,341 5,197,827
145,349 117,655
2,461 5,226
5,349,151 5,320,708
0.95 0.95

43

2016 12 31 8,106 2015
7,285
44
SPE SPE
SPE
SPE
SPE
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2016
100
NBAD 58
NBAD 100

45
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As al 31 December

016 2015
Maote AED 000 AED'DO0
Assels
Cash and balances with central banks 7 98,664,599 76,382,109
Investments at fair value through profit or loss g 14,525,506 12,201,138
Due from banks and financial institutions 9 8,523,107 10,891,768
Reverse repurchase agreements 10 9,566,579 13,330,186
Derivative financial instruments 39 12,019,406 10,574,001
Loans and advances 11 200,531,811 205,913,553
Mon-trading investments 12 64,441,924 63,794,151
Other assets 13 9,545,979 10,550,483
Investment properties 14 45,604 190,546
Property and equipment 15 2,548,985 2,645,782
Total assets 420,713,500 406,563, 807
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial institulions 16 40,963,741 39,502,515
Repurchase agreements 17 17,222,136 30,550,652
Commercial paper 18 7372911 8,720,597
Deerivative financial instruments 39 13,380,789 12,852,358
Customer accounts and other deposits 19 253,382,492 233,814,558
Term borrowings 20 28,915,650 21,146,668
Other liabilities 21 12,614,291 15,582,508
373,852,010 362,069,856
Subordinated notes 22 355,987 1,275,298
Total liabilities 374,207,997 363,345,154
Equity
Share capital 23 5,254,546 5,209,723
Share premium 25 307,885 265,245
Treasury Shares (48,746) {11,083)
Statutory and special reserves 23 5,254,546 5,200,722
Other reserves 23 21,196,859 18,628,226
Tier 1 capital notes 24 6,754,750 6,754,750
Share option scheme 25 228,349 190,232
Convertible notes - equity component 20 108,265 108,265
Retained carnings 7,449,049 6,863,573
Total equity 46,505,503 43,218,653
Tatal liabilities and equity 420,713,500 4,563,807
& b
A ypn—
Masser Ahmed Khalifa Alsowaidi Abhifit houdhury James Burdett
Chairman Acting Group Chief Executive Officer Gronp Chief Finaneial Officer

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated finandal statements,
The independent auditors’ report is set out on page 2 ta 7,
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the vear ended 31 December

2016 2015
Nate AEL¥0oD AEDY 000
Interest income 26 9,656,957 8.965,129
Inferest expense 27 2,636,654} (2,021,044)
Met interest income 6,520,303 6,944,085
Income from lslamde Snancing contracts 28 59473 385,605
Drepositoes’ share of profits 29 (24,965} {22 632)
Mot income from Islamic financdng contracts 484,504 362,993
Met intenest and Islamic financing income 7304 507 307,008
Fee and commission income 3205336 2,904 548
Fee and commission expense 11,027,232} (866,306}
Wit fee and commission income 30 2,178,104 2,106,242
Met foreign exchange gain 3 961,266 817,587
Met gain on investments and derivatives 32 337 A1k 254,159
Other operating income 33 36,171 0,754
1305073 1,142,530
Operating inoomes 10,508,154 10,555,850
General, administration
and other operating sxpenses 34 14,012,759) 14,082,019
Profit before net
impairment charge and taxation 6,795,425 6,472,831
Wet impaizment chamge 35 (1,190,677) (S 2971}
Profit before tation 5,604,748 5,529,960
Orrersens income tax expernses 38 (308,706} (206,143}
Met profit for the year 5206, M2 5,231,817
Basic eamings pershare (AED)} 42 096 0.9
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 2 095 095

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolid ated finandal statements.
The independent auditors” report is set out onpage 2 to 7.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December

2016 05
Nofe AEDDO0 AELYO0
Met profit for the year 5,296,042 5,231,817
Oither comprehensive oo
Tfems that are or may subsequently be reclassified fo
DT T Y R L et P T
Exchange difference on
trarslation of foreign operations 145.259) (20,736}
Cach flow hedges:
Effective portion of cash flow hedges 23 (20,6600 (38237
Fair vahe reserve:
et change in fair value during the year 23 1,133,474 17,013
Met curmulative amoundt transferred o profit or loss 23 (498, 922) {635,645}
T that toill seof suheequeenily be reclassifed to
conalidated atatenurnt of profif or ipes
Fe-measurement of defined benefit obligations {20,508) (5.033)
Other comprehensive income for the year 548,125 (652 638}
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,844,167 4,549,179

The notes 1 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated finandal statements.
The independent auditoes’ report is setout onpage2to 7.
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Consolidated staterment of cash flows

For the year ended 31 December
2016 2015
Mot AEDFO00 AEDD00
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation 5,604,748 5,520,9:0
Adustments far:
Depreciation 34 226,792 230,950
Accreted interest 137,347 82,756
Gaan on sale of non-trading investnents 32 (498,922} (Ba5,645)
Loss on buy back of subordinated notes 22 - 148
Gain on sale of investment properties 35 (3,500} =
Met impairment charges 35 1,641,934 1363412
Foreign currency translation adjustment (152,655} (162,750
Share option scheme 38,117 38,805
6,995,521 6,147,645
Change in imvestrents at fair value through profit or loss (2,234, 368) 3134513
Change in due from central barks, banks and
Enandal institutions 2,206,504 124,732
Change in reverse tepurdhase apreerrents 3,763,607 2514, 191
Change in loans and advances 3.7M49372 £13,00:4, 1500
Change in other assets 1,001,161 {4,168,6859)
Change in due to banks and fnancial institutions 1.461,226 2825011
Change in repurchase agreements (13,326,516} 16,674, 735
Change in Customer accounts and other deposits 19,566,535 (2.373.701)
Change in deivative financial instruments (1,929,349} (B10,147)
Change in other Habilities (3,025,968} 4,111,163
18,223,009 8,173,308
Overseas incorne tax paid, net of recovesies (287,158} {295,490)
Net cash from operating activitics 17,535,811 7877 804
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of non-trading investmenis (43,958 4595} 51, 186,704y
Procesds from sale f maturity of non-trading investments 44,442,197 54,902,778
Procesds Erom sale of inovebment properties 146,498 -
Purchase of property and equipment, net of disposals (432,676} {395,300
Net cash from investing activities 197,321 3320.1584
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option scheme 5 49,500 22,748
Net mowernent of Comenescial Paper (1347686} 3236421
Issue of term bosrowings 13,547 576 0104457
Repayment of term borrowings (4,774,900} (320404
Met proceeds from issue of Tier 1 Capital Notes - 2,745,952
Buy back of subordinated notes (914,525} {124,938)
Dividends paid 23 (2,335,549} {1,599.971)
Payment on Tier 1 capital notes b (263415} {(20,187)
Met cash from financing activities 3,587,201 9614008
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 22,120,333 20,812,006
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Jamsary 74,538,932 54,126,926
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 37 97,059,265 74,9348 932

The notes 1 1o 45 are an integral part of these consclidated financial statements,
The independent auditors’ seport i3 set out on page 2 o7,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Legal status and principal aclivilies

Mational Bank of Abu Dhabd PISC (the “Bank™) was established in Abu Dhabi in 1968 with limited Hability
and is registerad as a Public Joint Stock Company in accordance with the Undted Arab Emirates Federal Law
Mo 8 of 1984 (as amended) relating to Commercial Comparnies.

Its registered office address is P. QU Box 4, Abu Dhabi, Urited Arab Emdrates. The consolidated finandial
statements as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 comprise the Bank and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”). The Group is primarily engaged in corporate, retail, private and investment
barking achivities, management services, [slamic banking activities; and carries out its operations through its
lacal and everseas branches, subsidiaries and representative offices located in Unifed Arab Emirates, Bahrain,
Egypt. France, Oman, Kuwait, Brazil, Cayman Islands, Sudan, Libya, the United Kingdom, Switzerland,
Hong Kong, India, Jordan, Lebanon, Malaysia, Chira and the United States of America,

The Group’s Islamic banking achivities are conducted in accondance with Islamic Sharia’a laws issued by the
Sharia’a Supervisory Board.

The Bank is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: NBAD). The parent company of the Bank is
the Abu Dhabi Investment Council, an entity owned by the Government of the Emirate of Abu Dhabi

These consolidated Finandal statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors om
31 January 2007,

Merger betwoeen National Bank of Abu Dali PISC (*“NBAD®) and First Gulf Bank PJSC (“FGB")

On 3 July 2016, the Boards of Directors of NBAD and FGB have voted unanimously to recommmend to
shareholders a merger of the two Abu Dhabi-listad banks.

Subsequently, on 7 December 2016, the propesed merger (the Mergar) of the NBAL and First Gulf Bank FJSC
(FGB) was approved by the Shareholders to be effected by way of a merger pursuant to Article 285{1) of UAE
Federal Law Mo, 2 of 2015 Conceming Commerdal Companies (the Law), through the issuance of 1.254 new
WBAD shares for every 1 share in FGB subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger and with effect from
the Merger bacoming effective..

The share capital of the merged Company would increase from AED 5254 545318 to AED 10,897 545,318,
Upan completion of the approved merger, FGE shareholders will own approximately 52 percent of the
combined bank and NBAD shareholders will own approximately 48 percent. The combined bank will retain

MNBATDrs legal registrations and the brand name of “MNational Bank of Abu Dhabi”, On the effective date of the
mierger, FGB shares will be delisted from the Abu Dhabi Secunities Exchange.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

2 Basis of preparation
{(a}  Statement of compliance

These consolidated finandal statements have been prepared on a going concern bagis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) (which comprises accounting standards issued by
International Aceourding Standards Board (IASB) as well as Interpretations issued by the Intemational
Financial Reporting Interpretations Commdtiee (IFEIC)) and the requirements of applicable laws in the TUAE.

O 1 April 2005, a new UAE Federal Law No 2 for Commercial Companies (“UAE Companies Law of 20157}
was issued with effective date 1 July 2015, As per the transiional provisions of the new law, compandes are to
ensure compliance by 30 June 2017, The Bank i3 in the process of adopting the new federal law and will be
fully compliant before the transitional provisions deadline.

(b} Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:

investments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair vahae;
derivative Anancial instruments are measured at fair value;

*  non-trading investments classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value;

*  recoprised assets and habilities designated as hedged items in qualifying hedge relationships are
adjusted for changes in fair vahte attrbutable fo the risk being hedged; and

*  npon-financial assets acquited in setflement of loans and advances are measured at the Jower of thedr fair
value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan and advanees.

{c)  Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (“*AED™), which is
the Bank's functional currency. ltems included in the finandal statements of each of the Bank's overseas

subsidiaries and branches are measured vsing the currency of the primary econorde environenent in which
they operate. Except as indicated, information presented in AED has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated finandal statements requires management {o make judgements, estimates
and assumptons that affect the application of accounting polices and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expense.  Actual rasults may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumpiions are reviewad on an ongoing basis, Fevisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected,

Information about significant areas of estimation uncerfainty and critical judgements in applying accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated finandal
statements are described in note 5,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounling policies

The acommting policies set cut below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial staternents and have been applied consistently by Group entifies except for the new
staridards and interpretations that became applicable and were adopted during the year.

Newr standards and interpretations adopted
During the year new standards, amendments to standards and interprefations have become effective for the
period and have been applied in preparing these consolidated finandal statements. These amendments are

listed belonw:
1a51 The amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Fimandal Statements darify evisting IAS 1
requirements. The amendments clarify:
* The materiality requirements in [A51

. Those specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCT and the statement of
financial position that may be disaggregated

. that entities have fexbility to arrange the order in which they present the notes to
finamcial statements
* That the share of OCI of assodates and joint ventures acominted for using the equity

method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and dassified between those
items that will or will not be subsequently redlassified to profit or loss

Furthérmone, the amendments darify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are
presented in the staternent of financial position and the statement of profit or loss and OCL

1AS516/38 [AS 16 and IAS 33 darifies that revenue reflects a pattern of ecomomic benefits that are
generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part} rather than the economic
benefits that are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to deprediate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very
linafed drcumstances to amortise intangible assets.

The amendments are ef fective prospactively for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January
2015, with early adoption permitted. These amendments are not expected to have any impact to
the Group given that the Group has not used a revenue-based method to depreciate its non-

current assets.
Arnual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

IFRS 7 The amendment clarifies that in a servicing contract an entity must assess the nature of the fee
and the arrargement against the guidance for combtinuing involverment in IFRS 7 in order to
assess whether the disclosures are required. The assessment of which servicing contracts must be
done refrospectively. However, the required disclosures are required when the entity first
applies the amendments.

1a519 The amendment darifies that market depth of high quality corporate bonds i assessed based on
the currency in which the cbligation is denominated, rather than the country where the
obligation is located. When there is no deep market for high quality corporate bonds in that
currency, govemment bond rates must be used.

The Group does not have a material impact on adoption of these amendments.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{(a} Basis of consolidation

IFRS 10 gowverns the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities inchiding spedal purpose enbities o strichured entities, The definition of control i8 such that an
investor confrols an investes when it is exposed to, or has dghts, fo variable retums from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. To meet the
definition of control in IFRS 10, all theee criteria must be met, incuding;

(a) the investor has power over an investee;

(b the investor has exposure to, or rghts, to varfable returns from its involvement with the investes; and

(c} the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s
refums,

(i) Subsidizries
Subsidiaries are investees that controlled by the Group. The Group controls the mvestee if it meets the contnal
criteria discussad in note 3(a). The Group reassesses whether it has control if, there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control. This inchides dircumstances in which protective rights held become
substartive and lead to the Group having power over an investee, The Hnancial statements of subsidiasies ane
inchuded in these consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences unfil the date that
control ceases, These consolidated finandal statements of the Group comprise the Bank and its subsidiardes as

(i)

listed below:
Country af Principal Holding %

Legal Name ireorparation activifies 2016
NBAD Americas N.V. (formerly Al Dhabi

Infernational Bank N.V.) Curacao Banking 1007
WBAD Securities LLC United Arab Emirates  Brokerage 10086
Abu Dihabi Mational Leasing LLC Umited Avalb Emirates  Leaasing 1008
Abu Dhabi Mational Properties PrjC United Arab Emirates  Property Managemant 100F%:
MBAL Private Bank (Suisse) 54 Switzerland Banking 1007
Abu Dhabi Mational Islamic Finance Pvt JSC United Arab Emirates  Islamic Finance 1007
Ample China Holdings Limited Hong Kong, Leasing 1008
Abu Dhabi Brokerage Egypt! Egypt Brokerage Ele
National Bark of Abu Dhabi Malaysia Berhad ~ Malaysia Banking 100%
MWBAL Employes Share Options Limited United Arab Emirates  Shares and Securities 1007
SAS 10 Magellan France Leasing 100%
NBAD Global Multi-Strategy Fund! Cayman Island Fund Management 100%
National Bank of Abu Dhabi Representagtes

Ltda Brazil Fepresentative office 100
MBAL Financial Markets (Cayman} Limited Cayman Islands Finandal Institution 100%
Mawat Management Services United Arab Emirates  Services 10056

1 under quidation

Structured entities

A structured entity is established by the Group to perform a spedific task, Structured entities are designed so
that their achvities are not govemned by way of voling rights. In assessing whether the Group acts as a
principal or has power over investees in which if has an inferest, the Group considers factors such as the
purpase and design of the investee, its practical ability to direct the relevant actvities of the investee; the
nature of its relationship with the investee; and the size of its exposure to the varability of returns of the
nvestes.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{(a} Basis of consolidation {continued)

(i) Structired enifities {conttinced)

The Group acts as fund manager fo a mumber of investment funds. Determining whether the Group contrals
such an investment fund wsually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic interests of the Group
in the fund. Whilst assessing control, the Group reviews all facts and dreurmnstances to determine whether as a
fund manager the Group is aching as agent or principal If deemed to be a principal, the Group controls the
fund and would consolidate them else as an agent the Group would accoumt for them as investments in
funds.

The Group’'s interest in investment funds in which it act as an agent is set out below, these funds are included
as part of investments.

Type of Structured Entity Mature and purpose Interest held by the Group

Investment Funds Generate  fees from managing  Investments inunits issued by
asgets on behall of third-party the find amomfing to AED
investors 45,221 thousand (31 Decemnber

2015: AED 154 472 thowsand)

(i) Joiret Arvangements and Investmends in Associales
An Associate is an investee over which the Group has sigrdficant influenee, Sigrificant infheence is the power
i participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity method of accounting,

A joint arrangement 18 an arrangement of between the Group and other parties where the Group alang with
one or more parties has joint control by virtue of a contractual agreement. Joint arrangement may be a joint
operation or a joint venture, A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to and record their respective share of the assets, and obligations for
the liabiliies, relating to the arrangement A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint confrol of the arrangement, have rights to the net assets of the arrangement and, thus, are
aceourited wnder the equity methoed of accounting,

(i)  Lossof conirol
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and Habilies of the subsidiary,
any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary, Any surplus or
deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Geoup
retaing any interest in the former subsidiary, then such interest is measuned at fair value when control is Jost,

fv]  Tramsactions elimineted on consolidation
The carrying amount of the Bank's investment in each subsidiary and the equity of each subsidiary is
eliminated on consolidation. All significant intra-group balances, and unrealised income and expenses
(except for foreign currency transaction gains or losses) adsing from intra-group transactions are eliminated
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are elimminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b}  Financial assets and liabilities

(i)  Recognifion
The Group initially recognises loans and advances, Customer accounts and other deposits, debt securities and
subordinated notes on the date that the Group becomes a party to the contract. All other financial assets and
hiabilities are indtially recogrased on the consolidated statement of finandal posidon when, the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. These are initially measured at fair value
Plus, for an ftem not at fair value theough profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acouisition or issue.

17

172/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

www.n t}.’] d.com

Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b}  Financial asseis and liabilities (contirnued)

(i) Recognifion (continued)
All regular toay purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the settlement date, ie. the date the
asset is delivered to or received from the counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
those that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

{H)  Clesification
(@) Fair veiue through profit or foss

{i)  Designation af fair value through profit or loss
The Group designates financial assets and labilities at far value through profit or loss when either:
®  the assets or liabiliies are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair vahse basis; or
*  the desigraton eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

(i) Held for trading
Trading assets are those assets that the Group acguires for the purpose of selling in the near term, or
holds as part of a porifolio that is managed together for short-term profit taking,

Fair value through profit or loss assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

ik Loaris and recetvables
Loans and receivables inchides cash and balances with cenfral banks, due from bank and financial
institutions, finance lease receivables, reverse repurchase agreements and loans and advances. These
are non-derivative finandal assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market and that the Group does not infend to sell immediately or in the near term.

fed  Held-fo-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-dervative assets with fived or detemminable payments and fixed
maturity that the Group has the positive intent and abality to hold to maturity.

) Available-for-sale
The Group has non-derivative finandal assets designated as available-for-sale when these are not
classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investmments or financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss. Available for sale assets are infended to be held for an indefinite period of tme and may
be sold in future to manage lioquidity requirements or in response to market fluchiation in inferest rates
or pricing of the financial assats,

fe}  Finamcial labilifies
The Group dassifies its finandal liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as
measured at amorfised cost or fair vahue through profit or loss.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(I} Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(fi1)  De-recognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, o when it fransfers the rights to seceive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewands of ownership of the financial asset are transferrad.

The Group derecognises a finandgal liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its consolidated statement of
financial position, but retains either all or substantally all of the risks and rewards of the transferrad assets or
a portion of them. In such transactions, the transferred assets are not derecognised from the consolidated
statement of finandal position. Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards
inchade repurchase fransactions.

The Group also derecognises certain assets when it writes off balances pertaining to the assels deemed (o be
uncollectible,

(i) Offsetiing
As per 1AS 32, finandal assets and labilities are offset and the net amount presented in the comsolidated
statement of finandal position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to set off the amommits and
intend either o settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and setfle the lability simultanecusly,

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under [FES, or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions.

fe) Amortised cosf megsyremend
The amorbised cost of a finandal asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is
measured at initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation
using the “effective inferest rate [ method” of any difference between the initial amount recognised and the
maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

The effective interest rate is the rate that evacily discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial lability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the
Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the finandial instrument but exduding future
credit losses. The caleulation indudes all amounts paid or received by Group that are an integral part of the
effective inferest rate of a finandal instrument, including transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounts.

(e} Fair valie mepsurenend
Fair value is the price that would be received fo sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market parficdpants at the measurement date in the principal, or in ifs absence, the most
advanfageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a Hability reflects its non-
perfommance risk.

When applicable, the Group measures the fair vahe of an instrument using the quoted price in an achive
martket for that mstrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or Hability take place
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongping basis.

12

174/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

www.n t}.’] d.com

Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(I} Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

fwi}  Fair calue measerement {confinued)
When there i no quoted price in an achive matket, the Group uses valuabion techriques that masdmise the wse
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable nputs. The dhosen valuation fechnigue
incorporates the factors that market participants would take inte account in pricing a fransaction.

The best evidence of the fair vahue of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction
price — L. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at
indtial recognition differs from the transaction prive and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price
in an active market for an identical agset or hability nor based on a valaation techrdque that uses only data
from observable markets, the fimancial instroment i mibally measured at fair value, adpisted to defer the
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference
iz recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an appropriate basiz over the life of the
instrument but no later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out,

If ary agset or a Bability measueed at faie value has a bid price and an ask prioe, the Group measures assets and
lemg positions at a bid price and Habilides and short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial habilities that are expoesed fo market sk and credit dsk that are
managed by the Group on the basis of the net exposure to either market or credit ask, are measuned on the
basis of a price that would be received to sell a net long position or paid to transfer a net short position for a
particular risk exposure.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period
during which the change has oecurrad.

{zdi}  Idemfification and wieaswrement of inpairment
An msessment is made at each reporting date and periodically during the year to determine whether there is
any objective evidence that financial assels not carded at fair value through profit or loss, are impaired.
Finandal assets are impaired when objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and that the loss event has an impact on the Raiture cagh flows of the asset that can be
estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include significant financial difficulty of the
barrower or issuer, default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a loan or an advance by the Group
on terms that the Group would not otherwise consider, indications that a borrower or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, or other observable data relating to a group
of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, of economic
conditions that correlate with defaults in the group. In addition, for an investment iIn an equity security, a
significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

The Group considers evidence of impaimment at both specific and collective levels. Al individually
significant assels are assessed for spedfic impairment.  All individually significant assets found not to be
specifically impaired are required to be collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but
not yet identified.  Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by
grouping together financial assets with similar risk characteristics.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(I} Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(o} Idemiification amd megsurement of impairment {contined)
In assessing collectve impadnment the Group uses IFRS and Central Bank of UAE guidelines to establish a
stafistical modelling which incorporates historical trende of the probability of default, timing of recoveries
and the amount of loss inaured, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current economic and
credit conditions are such that the actual losses ane likely to be greater or lesser than suggested by historcal
miodelling, Defauldt rates, loss rates and the expected Hming of fubure recoveries are regularly benchmarked
against achral outeomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortised cost are measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the finandal assets and the present value of estimated cash flows discounfed at the
original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and reflected in an allowanee account against such finandal assets. When a subsequent event causes the
amount of impainment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment Ioss 48 reversed through the consolid ated
statement of profit or losa,

Impaitment losses on available-for-zale investinent securbes are recognised by transferring the diffenence
between the amortised acquisition costs and cureent fair values out of other comprehensive income to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impafrment loss on
available-for-sale debt security to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through the consclidated
staternent of profif or less. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-
sale equity investment is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses on an unquoted equity nstnoments that are carried at cost because their fair vahie cannot
be reliably measuned, are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and
the present vahues of estimated future cash fows discounted at the current market rate of retum for sinilar
fmandial assets. Such impairment losses shall not be reversed.

(e} Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprize cash, balances
with central banks and due from banks and finandal institutions with original maturities of less than three
months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in fair value, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short-term commitments,

Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets stated at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of finandal positon.

(d}  Investments at fair value through profit or loss
These are finandal assets classified as held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition.
Held for trading financial assets includes debt securities, treasury bills, equity securities, short positions in
securities and funds. They have been acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term, or they form part of a porifolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-ferm profit-talang In addition,

derivatives that are not effective accounting hedging instruments are carried at fair value through profit or
loss.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{d}  Investments at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Finandal assets designated at fair value through profit or loss applies to groups of fnancial assets where
petlormanoes are evaluated and managed on a fare value basis in accondance with a documented wsk
management or investment strategy.

These finandal assets are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value with transaction costs
taken directly to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  All related realised and unrealised gains or
losses are included in net gain on investments.

(e} Due from banks and financial institutions
These are non-derivative finandal assets that are stated at amortised cost, less any allowanoe for impairment.
(fl  Reverse repurchase agreements

Assets purchased with a simniltaneous commitment to resell at a fived price on a specified future date are not
recognised. The amount paid to the counterparty under these agreements is shown as reverse repurchase
agreements in the consolidated statement of financial positien. The difference between purchase and resale
price is treated as interest income and acorued over the life of the reverse repurchase agreement and charged
to the consolidated statemnent of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

(g}l Loans and advances

Loans and advances are non-derivative finandal assets with fived or determimable payments that are not
quoted in an active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near tecm,

Loans and advances indude loans and advances originated by the Bank which are not dassified as held for
trading or designated at fair vahue. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to a borrower,
They are derecognised when either the borrower repays its obligations, or the loans ane sold or writhen off.
These are inftally measured at fair value (being the fransaction price at inception) phus incremental direct
transacton costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method,
adjusted for effective fair vahue hedges for the risk being hedged, net of interest suspended and provisions for
impairment.

Loans and advances inchide direct finance provided to customers sudh as overdrafts, coedit cards, term loans,
finance lease receivables and comemercial bills.

When the Group is the kessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards
mcidental to ownership of the asset to the lessee, the arrangement is dassified as a finamece lease and a
receivable equal to the net investment in the lease is recognised and presented within loans and advances.

In determiring whether an arrangement is a lease, the Group ascertains the substance of the arrangement

arel assesses whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a spedilic asset or assets
and whether the arrangement conveys a right touse the assets.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounling policies (caniinued)
(h) Islamic financing and investing contracts

The Group engages in Shariah compliant Islamic banking activities through various [slamic instruments
such as ljara, Murabaha, Mudaraba and Wakala,

i) Defimitions

limra
ljara consists of ljara muntahia bitamleek.

ljara financing is an agreement whereby the Group (lessor) leases or constructs an asset based om the
customer's (kessee) request and promise to lease the assets for a spedfic period against certain rent
ingtalments. jara could end in transferring the ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease
periad. Also, the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased
asset to the lessee. [jara income is recognised on an effective profit rate basis over the lease term.

Murabaha

A sale comtract whereby the Group sells to a customer commodities and other assets at an agreed upon profit
mark up on cost. The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from customer to buy the item
purchased according to specific ferms and conditions., Profit from Murabaha is quantifiable af the
ocnmencement of the transaction. Such income is recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on
effective profit rate method on the balance outstanding.

Muedargla

A contract between the Group and a customer, whereby one party provides the funds (Rab Al Mal) and the
other party (the Mudarib) invests the funds in a project or a particdar activity and any profits gererated are
distributed between the parties according to the profit shares that were pre - agreed in the contract, The
Mudarb would bear the loss in case of default, negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of
the Mudaraba, otherwise, losses are bome by the Rab Al Mal. Income is recognised based on expected results
adjusted for actual results on distribution by the Mudarib, whereas if the Group is the Rab Al Mal the losses
are charged to the Group’s consolidated income statement when incurred.

Wiekalz

An agreement between the Group and customer whereby ane party (Rab Al Mal) provides a certain sum of
money to an agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a certain fee (a honp
sum of money or a percentage of the amount invested). The agent is obliged to guarantee the inwvested
ameumi i case of defanlt, neghigence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The
Group may be Waldl or Rab Al Mal depending on the nature of the transaction.

Estimated income from Wakala is recogrised on the effective profit rate basis over the period, adjrsted by
actual income when received. Losses are accounted for when incurned.

{5} Revenue recognifion

fiara
Income from ljara is recognised on a dedining-vahwe basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists with
regard to its collectability.

Mucrabaha
Income from Murabaha is recognised on a dedining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt exists
with regard to its collectability.

Mucdarala
Income or losses an Mudaraba financing are recogrised on an accrual basis if they can be reliably estimated.
Otherwise, neome s recognised on distibution by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged fo the
consolidated statemment of profit or loss on their dedlaration by the Mudarib.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounling policies (caniinued)
thy  Islamic financing and investing contracts {continued)
(i) Revenue recognifion (continued)

Wakaiz
Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the period, adjusted by actual income
when received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent.

(i}  Non-trading investmenis

Indluded in nen-trading investments are available-for-sale assets which are indtally secognised at fair vahie
plus incremental transaction costs directly attobutable to the acquisition.

After initial recognition, these investments are re-measured at fair vahie, For investments whidh are not part
of an effective hedge relationship, unrealised gains or losses are recognised in other comprehensive moome
untl the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previcusly recognised in other comprehensive income, is included in the consolid ated
statement of profit or loss for the yvear. For investments which are part of an effective fair value hedge
relationship, any unrealised gain or loss arising from a change in fair valee is recognised directly in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent of the changes in fair value being hedged.

Interest income s recognised on available-for-sale debt securities using the effective interest rate, calculated
over the asset’s expected life. Premiums and/oe discounts awising on the purchase of debt investment
securities are induded in the caloulation of their effective interest rates, Dividends on equity instruments ane
recognised in the statement of profit or logs when the dght to receive payment has been established,

For the purpose of recognising foreign exchange gains and losses, an available-for-sale financial asset is
treated as if it were carried at amortised cost in the foredgn currency.  Accordingly, for such a financal asset,
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For unquoted equity investments where fair value cannot be reliably measured, these are carried at cost less
provision for impament in value, Upon de-tecognition, the gain or loss on sale is recognised in the
consolidated statemnent of profit or loss for the year.

Inchided in non-trading investments are held-to-maturity assets which are non-dedvative assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fived maturity and that the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold
them Il maturity. These are indtially recorded at fair valze phus any directly abiributable transacton costs,
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment losses.

A sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investmants would result in
the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, and would prevent the Group
from dassifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial
years, However, sales and reclassifications in any of the following droumstances woudd not necessarily
trigger a reclassification:
+ sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that changes in the market rate of interest
would not have a significant effect on the financial asset's fair value;
* sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected substantially all of the asset's original
principal; and
+ gales or reclassifications that are attributable to non-recurring isolated events beyond the Group's
eontrol that could not have been reasonably anticipated.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounling policies (caniinued)
(j)  Investment properties

{1} Recognition and measurement
Inwvestment properties are properties held either o eamn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both,
bt not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment properties are measured at cost as per the cost model under
IAS 40- Investment property. Cost includes expenditure that is directly atiributable to the acquisition of the
assat.

When the use of a property changes such that it is reclassified as property and equipment, its original cost
and the current carrying amount at the date of reclassification continue to be the cost and carrying ammount of
the asset for measurement and disdosnues.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

Any income or expenses on the investment properties are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in ofher operating income or ofher operating expense respectively.

(it} Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of investment properties. The estimated useful lives of investment properties for the
current period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 20 to 50 vears
Deprediation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date.

(i) Ipairment

The carrying amounts are reviewad at each reporting date for indication of impairment If any such
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount 15 estimated. The recoverable amonmt of an asset or cash
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use,
the estimated huture cash flows are disoounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the ime value of money and the risks specific to the assel. An impairment loss
is recognised in the comsolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that camrying values do not exceed
the recoverable amounts.

(k} Properly and equipment

() Recognifion and measurement
All iterns of property and equipment are measured at cost less accurmulated depreciation and impaimment
logses, if any, Capital projects in progress are indtally recorded at cost and regularly tested for impaioment
and upon completion are fransferved to the appropriate category of property and equipment and thereafter

depreciated.

Cost inchudes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acguisiton of the asset. Purdnased softwane
that is integral to the funcionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Gaing and losses on disposal of an ftem of propecty and equipment ane debermined by comparing the
proceeds from disposal with the carryving amount of property and equipment and are recognised net within
other operating income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{k} Property and equipment {continued)

(i) Recognifion and measurement {oontined)
Subsequent expenditunes are only capitalised when it s probable that the fubine economic benefits of such
expenditures will flow to the Group. On-going expenses are charged to consolidated statement of profit or
loss as inourred.

(5} Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the comsolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful ives of all property and equipment. Freehold land and capital work in progress are not
cepreciated.

The estimated useful lives of assets for the current and comparative period are as follows:

Buildings and villas 20 o050 years
Oifice furniture and equipment 1ta 5 years
Alberations to premises 10 years
Safes 10t 20 years
Computer systems and equipment 3o 7 years
Vehicles 3 years

Depredation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at every reporting date.

(1) Capital work in progress
Capital work in progress assets are assets in the course of comstruciom for producHon, supply or
administrafive purposes, are carded at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost inchudes all divect cost
attributable to design and construction of the properly capitalised in accordance with Geoup's accounting
policy. When the assets are ready for the intended use, the capital work in progress is transferred to the

appropriate property and equipment category and i depredated in accordance with the Group's policies.

(i) Ivipairment

The carrying amounts afe reviewad at each seporting date for indication of impadmment. IF any such
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fadr value less costs to sell In assessing value in use,
the estimated fahtre cash flows ame discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the fime value of money and the rsks specific fo the asset. An impairment loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent that carrying values do not exceed
the recoverable amournts,

(I} Collateral pending sale

Real estate and other collateral may be acquired as the result of settlement of certain loans and advances and
are recorded as assets held for sale and reported in “Other assets”. The asset acquired s vecorded at the
lower of its fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of impairment allowance) at
the date of exchange. No depredation is provided in respect of assets held for sale. Any subsequent write-
down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is recorded as an impairment loss and included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, to the
extent this does not exceed the curmilative impairment loss, 15 recogrised i the consobidated statement of
prafit or loss. The Group's collateral disposal policy is in line with the respective regulatory requirement of
the regions in which the Group operates.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{m) Due to banks and financial institutions, Customer accounts and other deposits and Commercial
Faper

Dhze to banks and finandal institutions, customer deposits and Commercial Paper are financial liabilities and
are initially recognised at their fair value minus the fransaction costs and subsequently measured at their
amortised cost using the effective interast rate method.

(n} Repurchase agreements

Agsets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a fixed price on a specified future date are not
derecogrised. The hability to the counterparty for amounts recetved under these agreements is shown as
repurchase agreements in the consolidated staterment of finandal position. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is freated as interest expense and acorued over the life of the repurchase agreement aned
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or logs using the effective interest rate method.

{0} Term borrowings and subordinated notes

Term borrowings and subordinated notes indhade convertible notes that can be converted inko share capital at
the option of the holder, where the mumber of shares issued do not vary with changes in thedir fair value, ane
accounted for as compound finandal instruments. The equity component of the convertible notes is
calculated as the excess of issue proceeds over the present value of the Future interest and princpal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable to similar Habilities that do not have a conversion ophion.

Term borrowings and subordinated notes without conversion option are financial Habilities and are initially
recognised at their fadr value minus the transaction costs and subsequently measured at ther amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method and adjusted to the extent of fair value changes for the risks being

hedged.
(p) Share option scheme

On the grant date fair value of options granted to staff is estimated and the cost is recognised as staff cost,
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period required for the staff to become unconditionally
entitled to the options. The amount recogrised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of share
optons for which the related service conditions are expected to be met; as such the amount ullimately
recognised as an expense is based on the number of share options that do meet the related service and non-
market performance conditions at the vesting date. These shares may contribute to the caloulation of dilutive
EPS once they are deemed as potential ordinary shares.

(g} Interest

Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or less using the effective
interest rate method, The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorber perod, to
the net cantying ameount of the financial asset or Anandal habiity, When caleulating the effective interest rate,
the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractial ferma of the Finandal instrument but excluding
hature credit Josses, The calatlation includes all amounts paid or received by Group that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate of a finandal instrument, including transaction costs and all other premiums or
discounds, Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly atitributable to the acquisition or issue
of a finandal asset or Habdlity.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(q)  Interestcontinued)

Interest income and expense presented in the consolidated staterment of profit or loss inchide:

*  jnterest on finandal assets and liabilities at amortised cost on an effective interest rate basis.

& nterest on availlable-for-sale mvestment securibes on an effective mitevest rate basis.

* interest on held for trading securities and derivative finandal instruments on an effective interest rate
basis.

(r)  Depositors’ share of profit

Depositors’ share of profit is amount acerued as expense on the funds accepted from banks and customers in
the form of wakala and mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or logs, The amounts are calculated in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of the wakala deposits
arvel Sharia‘a peinciples,

(s}  Fee and commission

The Group eams fee and commission income from a diverse range of services provided to its customers. The
basis of accounting treatment of fees and commission depends on the purposes for which the fees are
collected and accordingly the revenus is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fee and
comimission income is accounted for as follows:

* income earned from the provision of services is recognised as revenue as the services are provided;

¢ income earned on the execition of a significant act is recognised as revenue when the act is completed;

¢ income which forms an integral part of the effecive interest rate of a finandal instrument is recognised
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and recorded in “Tnterest mcome”.

Fee and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees which are expensed as the services
are reeived.

(th  Zakat

Zakat represents islamic business zakat payable by the Group on behalf of its shareholders to comply with
the prindples of Shara’a and is approved by the Sharia’a Supervisory Board. The Group’s appointed Zakat
Committes i mandated to recommend zakat distribution.

{up  Net gain on investments and derivatives

Met gain on investments and derivatives comprises realised and unrealised gains and Josses on investments
at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives, realised gains and losses on non-trading investments and
dividend income. Net gain on investment at falr value through profit or loss incudes changes in the fair
value of financial assets and finandal liabilities held for frading and net income from investments designated
at fair value,

Gadns and loases arising from changes in fair value of available for sale assets are recogrdsed in the statement
of other comprehensive income and recorded in fair value reserve with the exception of impairment losses,
interest caleulated using the effective interest rate method and foreign exchange gains and losses on
miometary assets which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Where the
investment is sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity under fair value
reserve is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{u}  Net gain on investments and derivatives (continned)

Mon-trading investment inchudes avadlable for sale and held to maturity instruments,

Held to maturity investments that are not close to their maturily are not ordinarily sold. However when they
are sold or realised, the gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

(vl  Foreign currency

{1l Foreign currency fransactions
Transactions in foreign cumrencies are translated into the respective funciional ourrendes of the Group entities
at spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and Habilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the
functional currency at the spot exchange rates at the reporting date. Mon-monetary assets and liabilifies that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the fransacion. The foreign cumency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
amortised cost in the functional amrency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and
payments during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the
end of the pedod. Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss,

(i) Foreign operations

The activities of subsidiaries and branches based outside the UAE are not deemaed an integral part of the head
office operations, as they are finandally and operationally independent of the head office. The assets and
hiabilities of the subsidiarties and overseas branches are translated into UAE Dirhams at rates of exchange at
the reporting date. Income and expense items are franslated at average rates, as appropriate. Exchange
differences (inchiding those on transactons which hedge such investments) ansmg from retranslating the
opening net assets, are taken direcfly fo foreign cumency translation adjustment account in other
commprehensive ncome.

(w} Overseas income tax expense

Income tax expense is provided for in accordance with fiscal regulations of the respective countries in which
the Group operates and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, Income tax expense is
the expected tax pavable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years,

Deferred fax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financal reporting purposes and the amounts wsed for taxation purposes. Deferred fax is not
recognised for the following temporary differences; the initial recognition of goodwill, the indtial recognition
of assets or Habilities in a transacton that is not a business combination and that affects neither acoounting
nor faxable profit or loss, and differences relating to mvestments in subsidianes to the extent that they
probably will not reverse in the foreseeable Future, Daferred tax is measured at the tay rates that are expactad
to apply to the perdod when the asset is realised or the liability is setled, based on laws that have been
enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that hature tavable profits will be
available against which the agset can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at

each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
availabla to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies (confinued)
(x}  Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are indtally secognised, and subsequently measured at fair value with fransaction costs taken
directly to the consclidated statement of profit or loss. The fair value of a derivative is the equivalent of the
unrealised gadn or loss from marking to market the derivative or using valuation technigques, mainly
diseounted cash flow models.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held
for trading, or is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the dsk being hedged. All gains
and losses from changes in fair value of derivatives held for frading are recognised in the conschdated
statemnent of profit or loss. When derivatives are designated as hedges, the Group classifies them as either: (i}
fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or Hability; (ii)
cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to varability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or Lability or a highly probable forecast transaction; (iii) hedge of net
investment which are acommted similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied to dedvatives
designated as hedging instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the crtena are met.

Embedded derinatives

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). The Group accounts for
an embedded dervative separately from the host contract when the host contract is not itself carred at fair
value through profit or loss, the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if
they were contained in a separate contract, and the economic characteristic and dsks of the embedded
derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and sk of the host contract. Separated
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss
urless they form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging relationship, and are presented
separately from host confract in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Hedge accounting

It is the Group’s policy to document, at the incepton of a hedge, the relationship between hedging
mnstruments and hedged items, as well as sk management objective and strategy. The palicy also requires
documentation of the assessment, at inception and on an on-going basis, of the effectivensss of the hedge.

The Group makes an assessment, bath at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an on-gaing
basis, as fo whether the hedging instrument(s) is(are} expected to be highly effecive in offsetting the changes
in the fair value or cash flows of the respectivie hedged item(s) during the period for which the hedge is
designated. and whether the actual results of each hedge are within a range of 80-125 percent. The Group
makes an assessment for a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, as to whether the forecast fransaction is
highly probable to ocour and presents an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect

profit or loss.

Fair value hedge

In relation to fair value hedges, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument to fair value, as
well as related changes in fair value of the itern being hedged, are recognised immediately in the consolidated
staterment of profit or loss fogether with the changes in the fair value of the hedged ifem that are attributable
to the hedged dsk. Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expines or i3 sold,
terminated or exerdsed, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any adjustment up to that period to the
hedged item for which effective interest rate method was used is amortised to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as a part of the recaloulated effective interest rate of the then hedged fhem over 18 remaining life.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (contintued)

(x}  Derivative financial instruments and hedging (confined)
Hedge accounting (confinued)

Cash flow hedge

In relation to effective cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instnument is recognised initally in
other comprehensive income and transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the pedod in
which the hedged transaction impacts the consolidated statement of profit or loss, Gains or losses, if any,
relating to the ineffective portion, are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated staternent of profit or loss,

et inrest el hedges

When a derivative instrument or a non-derivative finandial liability is designated as the hadging instrument
it a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, the effective portion of the changes in the faie value of
the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income in the translaton reserve. Any
ineffective portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The amount recognised under other comprehensive income is
reclassified to statement of profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

Other derfogtives

All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting or
are not designated as such are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a
component of net gain on investments and derivatives or net foreign exchange gain.

(y) Provisions

A provision 18 recogrised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required fo settle the obligatem. Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are
determinad by discounting the expected future cash flows, at a pre-tax rate, that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of meney and, where appropriate, the risks specdific to the lHability.

(z} Employees’ end of service benefit

Difirred conbribubtivn plan

A defined contdbution plan is a post - employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fxed
contributions mto a separate entity or to a government organisation and will have no legal or constructive
cbligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pengion plans are
recognised as an employee benefit expense in consolidated statement of profit or loss in the perods during
which services are rendered by employess.

Pension and national insurance contributions for eligitle employees are made by the Bank to Pensions and
Benefits Fund in accordance with the applicable laws of country where such condributions are mada,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounling policies {coniinued}
{z} Employees’ end of service benefit {continmued}

Defined benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post - employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The
liability recognised in the statemnent of finandial position in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period together with adjustments
for unwecognised past - service costs. The defined benefit obligation is caloulated anmually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
cetermined by disommting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high - quality corporate
bonds that are denommated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to
maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit labdlity, which comprise actuaral gains and losses, the return cn
Plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the assel ceiling (if any, exduding interest). are recognised
immediately m OCL Met inferest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised
in Staff cost in comsolidated statement of profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a
plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment
is recognised immediately to profit or boss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a
defined benefit plan when the settlement ooours,

{aa) Directors’ remuneration

Pursuant fo Article 115 of the Commercial Compardes Law Mo, 8§ of 1984 and in accordance with the Bank's
Articles of Associaton, Directors” shall be enfitled for remmumeration whach shall not exceed 10 % of the net
profits affer deducting depredation, reserves and distnbution of dividends not less than 5% of capital to
shareholders.

{ab) Fiduciary activities

Assets held in a fiduciary capadty are not treated a3 assets of the Group as they are ondy held in trust wheee
the Group acts as a custodian on customers’ behalf, The Group has no liability or obligations towards the
customer on these assets held in trust . Accordingly, these assets are not included in these consolidated
financial staternents,

{ac} Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and dileted eamings per share (EPS) data for s ordinary shares, Basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to erdinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprize convertible notes and
share aptions granted to staff,

{ad) Financial guarantees

Finandal guarantees ane contracts that tequine the Group to make specified payments to reimbuirse the holder
for @ loss it incues because a spedfied party fails to meet #ts cbligation when due in accordance with the
comtractual terms,

Certain financial guarantee contracts in the nature of credit default guarantees are not held for proprietary
trading purposes and are freated as insurance confracts and accounted for under [FRS 4
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{ad) Financial guarantees (continued)

For other finandal guarantee contracts, these are initally recognised at their fair valee (which is the premium
received on issuance). The received premium is amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. The
guaraniee liability is subsequendly carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of
any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee has become probable). The premium received
on these financial guarantees is included within other liabilities.

{ae} Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earm
revenues and inour expenses, incuding revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Group's other components. All operating segments’ operating resulls are reviewed regulaly by the Group's
Chief Executive, being the chief operating dedsion maker, to make dedsions about resources to be allocated
io the segment and {o assess its performance for which discrete financial information is available. Segment
results that are reported to the Group Chief Executive include items directly attributable to a segment as well
a5 those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.

{af) Lease paymenis

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss ona
gtraight-line bagis over the term of the lease, Lease inoentives received are recognised as an integral part of
the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.

(ag) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued that are
applicable to the Group but are not yet effective for the year ended 31 Degember 20186, and have not been
applied in preparing these consolidated finandal statements:

IFRES 15 Reveniue from contracts with customer: iasued in May 2004 and establishes a five-step maodel to
account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recogrised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. It replaces existing all revenue
recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC
Customer loyalty Programmas,

IFES 15 is effective for annual perind beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption
permitted. The Group is assessing potential impact of this standand on its consolidated finandal
statements,

IFRS 16 IFES 16 was issued in January 2006 It will result in almost all leases being, recognised on the
balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the
new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased itern) and a finandal liability to pay rentals
are recognised. The only exceptions are shori-term and low-value leases.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption
permitted. As the accounting for lessors will not significanfly change, the Group does nod
foresee any significant accounting impact on its consolidated finandal statements,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
{ag) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted {continued)

IFRs 9 Int July 2014, the IASE issued the final version of IFRS 9 Finandal Instruments that replaces LTAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFES 2.
IFES 2 brings together all theee aspects of the accounting for financal instruments project:
dlassification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting,

The impact of IFRS 2 will be dependent on the financial ingtruments that the Group holds, the
economic conditions, as well as accounting elections and jud gements that the Group will make
in its consclidated financial statements when the standard becomes applicable, The Group is
currently reviewing its accounting processes and internal controls related to reporting fnancial
instruments which need to be aligned before the effective date, The Group has performed a
preliminary assessment of the potential impact of adoption of IFES 9 based on it posiions and
hedging relationships designated at 31 March 2016 under IAS 39. Overall, the Group expects no
significant impact except on the loss allowance resulting in an impact on aquity. As certain key
assumptions relating to Joss given defaults are currently under review, the impact of the loss
allowance cannot be reliably determined.

Classificati 1
The Group does not expect a significant impact on its balance sheet or equity on applying the
classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair
valuze all financial assets currently held at fair value, Quoted equity shares currently held as
available-for-sale with gains and losses recorded in OCT will be measurad at fair value through
profit or loss instead, which will increase volatility in recorded profit or loss. The AFS reserve
currently in acoumulated OCT will be reclassified to opening retained eamings, Debt securities
that are currently reconded as available for sale financial assets are expected to be measuned at
fair value through OCT under IFRS 2 as the Group expects not only to hold the assets to collect
contractual cash flows but also to sell a significant amount on a relatively frequent basis,

The exquity shares in nonelisted compandes are intended to be held for the foreseeable future,
The Group expects to apply the option fo present fair valse changes in OCI, and, therefore,
believes the application of IFRS 9 would not have a significant imnpact, If the Group were not to
apply that option, the shares would be held at fair value through profit or loss, which would
increase the volatility of recorded profit or loss.

Loans as well as receivables are held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give
rise fo cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the Group
expects that these will continue to be measured at amorlised cost under IFRS 9. However, the
Group will analyse the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments in more detail
before conduding whether all those instruments meet the criteria for amortised cost
measurement under IFRS 9,

Impairment

IFES 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and
receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime bagis. The Group expects to apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected losses on all receivables, The preliminary results of
impact analysis suggest that the Group carries sufficient amount of provisions, but it will need
to perform a more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable
information, including forward-looking elements to determine the extent of the impact.
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

{ag) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted {continued)

Hedge accounting

The Group believes that all existing hedge relationships that are currenily designated in
effective hedging relationships will stll qualify for hedge accounting undee IFRS 9. As IFRS 9
does not change the general princples of how an entity accounts for effechve hedges, the
Group does not expect a significant impact as a result of applying IFRS 9. The Group will assess
possible changes related to the accounting for the time value of options, forward points or the
currency basis spread in more detadl in the future,

IFR5 2 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early
application permitted. Bxcept for hedge accounting, retrospective application is requined but
providing comparative information is not compulsory. For hadge acoounting, the requitements
are generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions, The Group plans to adopt
the new standard on the required effective date,
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial risk management
Introduction and everview

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks inherent in carrying out its business activities. Prindpal risks
inchide cradit, market (fraded and non-traded interest fate and foreign currency related msks), Hauidity and
funding, capital, operational, and business continuity. The Group has institutionalized a risk management
framework which seeks to effectively manage these nsks.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure toeach of the above rsks, along with an overview
of relevant frameworks, policies and processes for measuring and managing these risks,

Rigk management framework

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for he establishment and oversight of the
Group's fisk management framework and they are assisted by two board committess (Risk Management
Committee and Audit Comumities), and two management committees (Group Risk Committes (“GRC™) and
Group Assets and Liabilities Committee (" G-ALCO" ).

*  The Risk Management Committee (RMC), comprising of members from the Board, is responsible for
recnmending and setting the Groups sisk strategy and policy guidelines, and subsequently
mondtoring, adherence. EMC takes credit decisions above management's discrelionary powers, defines
risk limits within which the Group's management operates and also monitors the overall risks for the
Group,

*  The Audit Commities, a board Jevel commilies, exercises oversight o monitor compliance with
regulatory guidelines and the Bank's internal policies and procedunes,

The management committees are responsible for implementing the risk management framework. The major
fhunctions of the two management commitiees are given below:

*+  The GRC is accountable to the Board RMC in respect of all Risk Management facets within the Group.
The primary funclion of the committee is to ensure that the Bank's policies and procedures incorporate
sound risk management practices and that the same are implemented. It also reviews, and recommends
to the Board, the sisk appetite, risk limits, risk aspects of business steategy and planning, and approves
risk policies & analytical models to ensure effective risk management.

*  The GALCO is the driving foroe and key decision maker behind the structure and guality of the
balance sheet. The G-ALCD is directly accountable to the EMC for ensuning that the risks within the
Group Assel and Liability position are prudently managed by way of sirong Bank policy and
procedures and an appropriate risk framework, The G-ALCD must be constantly aware of and actively
manage these risks and their potential impact on the Banks business and strategic objechives.

The Group manages risks using three lines of defence comprising of business units, control units and Internal
Audit. Business units, as the first line of defence, identify and manage risk in their day-to-day activities by
ensuring that activities are within the Group’s risk appetite and are in compliance with all relevant internal
policies and processes. Group Risk (comprising head office risk and risk functions embedded in business
divisions) and Legal & Compliance division, as the second line of defence, establishes risk controls
camprising of policies and processes while also providing oversight and independent challenge to the first
line of defence. The Group Chief Risk Officer (*GCRC”) has a direct reporting line fo the FEMC fo ensure the
independence of Group Risk from business. Intemnal audit, as the third line of defence, provides assurance to
management and the Board of the effectiveness of risk management practices employed by the first two lines
of defence. The Group Chief Audit Officer has a direct reporting line to fhe Board Audit Committee.

36

191/271



EDINETOOOO

OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

www.n t}.’]_{l .Lom

Motes to the consolidated financial statements
+ Financial risk management (continued}

{a} Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty fo a financial asset fails fo meet its contractual
obligations and cause the Group fo incur a financial loss. It arises principally from the Group's loans and
advances, due from banks and finandal institutions, reverse repurchase agreements and non-trading debt
investments, derivafive financial instruments and certain other assets.

For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading investments is managed independendly, and
reported as a component of market dsk exposure,

Management of credit risk

The Group uses an internal risk rating system to assess the credit quality of corporate borrowers and
counterparies. Each corporate boreower is assigned a rating, including dassified accounts. The risk rating
system has 11 grades, further segregated into 24 notches, Grades 1-8 are performing and Grades 9-11 are non
= performing. Non-petforming grades are cassified based on the below criteria:

Criteria
Grad Classificati
2 = Corporate loans Retail loans

Satbs Arrears 0 days or more and shows some Arrears 90 days or more
& atmidiard loss due to adwerse factors that hinder

loans repayment

Doubtfal Based on available information, full Arrears 120 days or more
10 L recovery seems doubtiul, leading to a

loss om portion of these loans

1 Los okt Probability of no recovery; after all Arrears 180 days or more

available courses of achon are exhausted

Thie Performing loan portfolio of the Group based on the internal credit ratings is as follows:

Rating grade Performing loans and advances
2016 s
AED D00 AEDY000
1-4 111,206,941 129,088,419
5-6 34,705,657 25,932,438
7 21,936,980 18,617,851
8 37228950 3758947
PFaetail programome lending 30273 567 28,794 208
201,349,604 206,191,683

In addifion, the Group manages credit risk by obtaining collateral where appropriate and limiting the
duration of exposure. In certain cases, the Group may also close out transachons or assign them fo other
counterparties to mitigate credit risk.  Credit dsk in respect of derivative finandal instruments is hmited to
those with positive fair vahues.

Credit rigk adsing from other finandal instruments is maraged by assigning limits, diversification of
investment activities, himiting concentration of exposure to ndustry secfors, geographical locations and
counterpartios,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
+ Financial risk management (continued}
{al  Credit risk (continued)
Impairment:
The Group measures its exposure to credit risk by reference to the gross camying amount of financial assets

less amounts offset, interest suspended and impairment losses, if any. The camrying amount of finandal
assets represents the maximum credit exposure,

Due from banks and

Financial insttutions Loans and advances Non-trading investments
2006 2015 2016 25 2016 M5

AEDD0D AEDF 000 AEDYDDD AED 000 AED¥000 AEDYO00
Individually impaired
Substandard - = 723277 1,750,262 - =
Doubdful 718 718 2,964,142 23737 - 3342
Loss - - 3,040,502 2, THE 672 - -
Gross amount 718 via B,746321 6,883,308 - 3,542
Interest suspended - . (1,156,681} {1,066,6065) -

Specific allowance
for impairment (718) (718 {(22ER084)  (2,08%568) - e

Carrying amount - - 330,606 3,759,005 = 3342

Past due but not impaired

Past due comprises:

Less than 30 days - = 1,021,069 342 240 = =
51— 60 days - - B9E.950 608,016 - =
61 =90 days - . 369,466 272,687 : z
More than 90 days - - 870,404 606,693 -

Casrying arnouwnt - - 2,959,909 1,826,635 - -

Meither past due nor
impaired £,523,107 10891768 198385665 204365247 el 4419 3,790, 809

Collective allowance
for impairment - . (£122.398)  {4,067.405) &

Carrying amount B,523,107 189,768 200531811 205013553 64,441,924 63,754,151

Mon trading investment inchudes investment in equity instruments amounting fo AED 42.7 million (2015 AED
38,2 puilion) which does not carry credit risk .

The category of neither past due nor impaired indudes renegotiated loans ammmting to AED 3227 million
(2015: AED 2,673 million),
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
+ Financial risk management (continued}

(a)  Credit risk (continued)

Impaived loams and advances and non-frading irpestrments

Impaited loans and advances and non-trading mvestments are financial assets for which the Group
determines that there is objective evidence that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset and that the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financdial asset that can be
reliably estimated,

Pzt due buf not impaired

Past due but not impained are accounts where either contractual principal or interest cash flows are past due
but the assets are not impaired. When these accounts show weakness in the borrower's financial position and
creditworthiness, and requires more than normal attention such weakness is specifically mondtored to ensure
that the quality of the asset does nod further deteriorate, On this class of asset the Geoup believes that specific
impairment is not appropriate at the current conditon,

Loans with renegofiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s
Hnancial positeon and where the Geoup has made matedal conoessions that it would not otherwise consider,
Onee a loan is restructured, it remains in this category for a miniomum period of twelve months, in order to
establish satisfactory track secord of performance under the restructuring agreement. The Bank determines
the twelve-month peried to commence fram the date of signing of the agreement for restructuting, On this
class of asset the Group believes that spedific impadrment may not be required. In the last twelve months, the
Group has renegotiated the following exposures:

2016 2015
AEDYDO0 AED 000
Renegotated loans 3,226,952 2673243
Movement of renegotiated loans during the year
2016 2015
AELDYDOD AEDDN)
Balance at the beginning of the year 2,673,243 1,201,787
Upgraded to netther past due nore
impaired during the year or settled (593,565) (586,987}
Downgraded o individually impaired
or past due but not impaired during the year {6,870 (526,770
Additions during the year 1,154,144 2485213
Balance at the end of the year 3,226,952 2673243

39

194/271



EDINETOOOO
OoooDoO0oooooooo0ooo00o00DoO00DDO000bDo00DO00bDO000o0O00DbOO00D0o00no(e25742)
oOoOooodn

www.n t}.’] d.com

Motes to the consolidated financial statements
+ Financial risk management (continued}

{a} Credit risk (continued)

Allmoances for impairment

The Group establishes an allowanee for impairment losses on assets carded at amorbised cost that represents
its estirnate of incurred losses in ifs loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss
oamponent that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective loss allowance. In assessing the
collective loss allowance, the Group applies [FES and the central bank guidelines to cover inourned but not
identified losses established for groups of homogeneous assets with similar risk characteristics that are
indicative of the debtor's ability to pay amounts due according to the confractual ferms on the basis of a
credit risk evaluation or grading process that considers asset type, vdustry, geographical location, collateral
type, past due status and other relevant factors, Pufure cash flows in a group of financial assets that are
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics simdlar to those in the group.

Individually assessed loans are requined to be classified as impaired as soon as there 15 objective evidence
that an impairment loss has been incurred, Objective evidence of impairment inchades observable data such
as when contractual payment of principal or interest is overdue and there is known difficulties in the cash
Aows of counterpartes, cradit rating downgrades or ofiginal terms of the contractual repajrment are unable
o be met.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a loan or investment balance (and any related allowances for impatrment losses) whaen it
determines that the loans or investments are uncollectible, This is determined after all possible efforts of
collecting the amounts have been exhausted.,

Corllateral

The Geoup holds various types of collateral against loans and advances and reverse repurchase agreement in
the form of mortgage interests over propery, other securities, cash deposits and guarantees. The Group
accepts soverdgn guarantess and guarantees from well reputed local or international banks, well established
kocal or muldnatonal large corporate and high net-worth private individuals, When caloalating provisions,
discoums factors as defined by the Central Bark of the UAE are applied to market valae of the collateral
Collateral generally is not held against due from banks and finandal institutions, and no such collateral was
held at 31 December 2016 or 2015,

An estimate of the collateral coverage against non-perfomming loans and advances (inchiding Islamic
Hnancing) 18 shown below:

2016 2015
AED D00 AED 000

Collateral value cover
0-50% 2,198,716 2,27.378
50 = 100% B38.071 1164453
Above 100% 3,710,534 3491477
Total Gross non-performing loans 5,748,321 6,883,308

While the Group might not have repossessed significant amount of collateral in 305 and 2016, however, the
wght to repossess these collaterals assist the Group in the restrichuring and setlement of non-performing
loans,

The Group moniters concentrations of credit risk by industry sector, counterparty and geographic location,
An analysis of concentrations of oredit risk at the reporting date 15 shown below:
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management {continued)
{a}  Credit risk {continned)

Classification of trading securities and non-frading investnents as per their external ratings:

Mon-trading investments Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

2016 2015 2016 2015
AELDFOO0 AEDYDO0 AEL¥O00 AETYDON
AAA 7,379 206 8,737,990 13,701 21539
Adto A 46,454,287 43,655,663 12,238,671 7,603,105
BEB toB 5,810,341 10,037,106 1,156,151 2475005
Urrated 1,768,090 1,363,392 1,116,985 1,997 632
63,441,924 63,794,151 14,525,506 12291138

Unrated investments primarily comsist of investments in Government related entities and investments in
equities and funds. [nvestments at fair vahie theough profit or loss are neither past due nor impaired.

Classification of trading securities and non-trading invesiments as per their counterparties;

Non-trading investments Investrments at fair value through
pmofitorloss
2016 2015 2016 2015
AED¥ DO AED 00 AEDFDDD AETFD00
Goverranent sector 22,309,058 20,024,093 2253336 915,156
Supranational 549,922 370,400 1022461 1,568,128
Public sector 20,187,676 15,308,431 1,021,748 2,320,260
Barking sector 17,947,298 21,276,123 5,968,252 5,000,556
Corparate | private sector 3,357,070 3515104 1,259,709 1,984 734
54,441,924 63,794,151 14,525 506 12291138
E

Settlenment risk

The Group's activities may give rise to risk at the Hme of settlement of transactions and trades. Setlement
sk is the sk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities or
other assets as contractually agreed. Any delay in settbement is rare and monitored.

Derivative relafed credif risk

Credif risk in respect of derivative finandal instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty fo default
oy its contractual obligations and is limited to the positive market value of instruments that are favourable to
the Group. The positive market value is also referred to as the "replacement cost” since it s an estimate of
what it would cost to replace fransactions at prevailing market rates if a counterparty defaults. The majority
of the Group's derivative contracts are entered into with other banks and finandal institutions.
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management {continued)
(k) Liquidity risk

Liguidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group is unable to meet its finandal obligations as and when they
fall due or that it can only do so at an excessive cost.

Liquidity risk arises from cash flows generated by assets and liabilities, imcluding derivatives and other off-
balance sheet comamitments, not being matched in currency, size, and term, thereby creating fnancing needs
which potentally cannot be met without incurring substantially higher costs or at any cost at all.

Managerient of lquidity risk

The Group has defined the Hquidity risk appetite at a level so as to ensure that the Group has a controlled
liqquidity risk position with adequate cash or cash-equivalents to be able to meet its financial obligations, in all
foreseeable dreumstances and without incuedng substantial additional costs, for a volling period of three
months . The risk appetite 15 supported by a comprehensive rsk management framework that indudes
Group ALCO approved limits for key Amding and liquidity metrics , stress testing and a comtingency
funding plan.

The liquidity nsk appetite is also defined af a level to ensure continued compliance with current and
propoesed lgquidity segulation from both domestic and intemational regulators, and aligned to support the
Group's external credit rating objectives.

MBAD has been internally reporting Basel iii LCRE mumbers for a considerable period of fime . and has
invested heavily in ensuring systems and controls are a framewaork is in place fo comply with all of the
qualitative aspects of the Basel il and UAE Central Bank ii liquidity regulation. During 2016 NBAD
undertook an independent review of this framework and was subsequently granted approval from the
CBUAE to adopt the Basel iii LCR as its official liquidity regulation effective from the 1st October 2016,

Liguidity limits are defined at the Group level and are cascaded down throughout the organisation o ensune
that the Group complies with the defined Group Liquidity Risk appetite. International limits are cascaded to
ensure compliance with any additional local regulatory requirements on liquidity management.

All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by G-ALCO.

Exposure fo Nouidity risk

The contractual asset and Hability maturity mismatch report without considering the Group's metention
history is detailed below,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management {contirnued)

{c)  Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the Group's income and [ or value of a finandal instrument will flectuate because of
changes in markat factors such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and marke! prices of
equity and commodity.

Management of market risk

The Group separates ifs exposure fo market risk between trading and nom-trading portfolics. Trading
portiolios are held by the Wholesale - Global Markets Division, together with finandal assets and financial
liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis,

Orverall authority for market risk is vested in the Group Risk Committes (GRC) and Group Asset & Liability
Conmittee (G-ALCO), which sets limits for each type of risk in aggregate and for spedfic portfolios. Risk
Group is responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and
approwval by the GRC).

Exposure o market risks - trading portfolios

The principal anahytical tool used to measure and control market risk exposure within the Group's trading
portfolios which comprise of investments at fair vahue through profit or loss and trading derivatives is Value
at Risk {("VaR"). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portiolio over a
specified perod of me (holding perod) from an adverse market movement with a specified probability
(confidence level ). The VaR model uses historical simuilation based on a 99% confidence level and assumes a 1-
day holding peried. Using market data from the previous two years, and observed relationships between
different markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible fiture scenarios for market price
movemnerits,

The Group uses VaR limits for foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread. The overall structure of Valk
limits is subject to review and approval by the GRC. VaR limits are allocated to trading portfolios.

Val is driven by actual historical observations and hence, it is not an estimate of the manimuemn loss that the
Group could experience from an extreme market event. As a result of this limitation the VaR is further
supplemented with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits fo address potential
concentration risks within each trading portfolic. Moreover the trading activity at Group and desk level is
subject to Managemaent Action Trggers ("MAT™) that are limits on maximum losses that {rigger acions from
management. The VaR is as follows:

As al Average Minimum A aximurm

2016 2015 2016 015 2016 2015 2016 2015
AEDON  AEYOND  AEDNN  AEDOD)  AEDFON AEDNOOD  AEDYO00 AEDNOD

MaR - Teading Book 17489 16984 14874 12220 10,434 7023 20,528 24.505

Foreign exchangg 4655 15131 7,068 0220 3,355 46 18143 22525
Interest Rate 16420 6,549 12,276 6663 6,069 5294 17,586 11,011
Credit 5,665 3,869 6,545 3618 3.651 1,910 5,353 5,346
Dhiversification benefit

(#251)  (B.365) (1L115) (7.281)  (@,741) (227) (23.354) (14.377)

Equity and commodity risks are not currently captured in the VaR model. These are under regular monitoring
by the Risk Group theough a set of market risk sensitivities, notional limits, and management action triggers.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management {contirnued)

{ch Market risk {continued)

Exposure o market risk = banking portfolios

Exposure to Market Risk in the banking porifolios which comprise of non-frading investments, reverse
repurchase agreements and certain derivative instruments which are designated as hedging instruments arises
primarily from the investment porffolios, interest rate gaps in the banking book, and the Group's overall FX
positions.

The principal analytical tool used to measure and control the investment dsk exposure within the Group is
Value at Fisk ("VaR"). The VaR model is the same as the one used for the trading portfolios, The Group uses
VaR limits for controlling the overall investment sk, including foreign exchange, interest rate and credit
spread. The overall structure of Vall lmdts is subject to review and approval by the CRC. VaR limits are
allacated to different Investment portfolios. The investment dsk VaR was as follows:

Asat Averape Miindrnum Madmum

2016 2015 2016 M5 2016 2015 6 2015
AEDFOD)  AEDVOOD  AEDFO00  AEDOO0  AEDNO0D  AEDAO0  AEDFOND  AEDR00

¥al - Banking Book 146,482 97072 154167 84,105 96955 59546 184,388 100,427

Foreign exchange 11,543 14591 17034 E219 11135 1,579 25338 21576
Interest Rate 46,154 10071 34802 1639 26381 13209 64,735 30,EES
Credit 141,606 95737 150,193  B4951 95631  STS04  1XZ 194 99775

Diversification benafit (82821 (42327) (47,862) (30,705) (36,192) (13,146) (¥8.,866) (48.509)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instruments and seflects the possibility that changes in
irterest rates will adversely affect the value of the Finandal nstruments and the telated income. The Group
manages this risk prindpally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by matching the re-pridng profile of
assets and liabilides, Overall interest rate risk positions are managed by using dedvative instruments to
manage overall posiion arising from the Group's inferest bearing firandal instraments, The use of derivatives
to manage interest rate visk 15 deseribed i note 39,

The substantial portion of the Group’s assets and liabiliies are re-priced within one year. Accordingly there is
a limiated exposune to interest rate risk.

Interest rate nsk 15 also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in intenést rate
movements. The Group assumes a fhochiation in inferest rates of 50 basis paoints (2025: 50 bagis poinfs) and
estimates the following impact on the net profit for the vear and equity at that date:

Met profit for the year Equity
2016 s 016 2015
AED D00 AED 000 AEDDDO AEDDM
Fluctuation in yield 434,097 341,386 411,025 325,071

The inferest rate sensibivities set out above are illustrative only and employ simplified scenaries, They are
based om AED 324416 million (2015: AED 303986 million) interest bearing assets and AED 262,116 million
(2015: AED 251,014 miifion) interest bearing Habilities with interest re-pricing less than one year, for assessing
the impact on net profit. The impact on equity includes the impact on net profit and the inferest rate sensitivity
on the available for sale portiolio. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be faken by
management to mitigate the effect of intevest rate movements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial Risk Management {confirnued)
(e}  Market risk {cortinued)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a finandal instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates and arises from financial instruments denominated in a foreign curency. The Group's
functonal currency is the UAE Dirham. The Boand of Directors has set limits on posiions by currency.
Posifions are closely mondtored and hedging strategies are used to ensure posibons are maintained within
established limits. At 31 December, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in

foreign currendes
Met spot Forward Total Total
position position 2016 205
(shortMlong  (short)/long (short)long (short)flong
AELYD0OD AEDDOD AEDDO0 AEDY 000
Currency
US Dollar (240,358) 20,770,132 20,529,144 20,149,100
UK Sterling Pound (13,940,435} 13,592,130 (348,358) (165481}
Eura 50450833 (30,352,990} 97 243 (330581}
Kuwaiti Dinar (1,128,738} (233,173} (1,361,961} (49,653}
Saudi Riyal (192,580} (1,471,559) (1,664,149} (6,302,232}
Japanese Yen 5,304,741 (5,107,081} 197 660 19,565
Swiss Pranc 253073 (180,828} 715 15,973
Jatari Riyal ([305,859) 808,369 S0 470 1,676,614
Bahraini Dinar 07,635 (261 454} (53.846) (212,542}
Egyptian Pound 70,956 (76,843} (5,887} (544413
Jordarian Dinar 420,545 (104,680} 316,165 298,623
Indian Rupees 362,524 (15,644} 346,380 118,154
Malaysian Ringgit 1,175,328 {1,206 879} {121,551} (23,141}

As AED, SAR and QAR are pegged agamst US Dollar, the Group's risk exposure o these currendes is hmmited
to that extent. Expasure to other foreign cumendies is insignificant.

Equity price risk
Equity price dsk arises from the change in fadr values of equity investments, The Group manages this risk

through diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration.
id)  Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses resulting from inadequate or failad processes, people & systems
of from exvtermnal events, this inchades legal and technology risk and excludes strategic and seputation wak,

Operational risks arise across all businesses in the Group. The primary responsibility to ensure that risks are
managed and monitored resides with the businesses within the Group. Group’'s businesses are supporied by
Emberddead risk functions and Group Operational Risk Management as ‘second line of defence’ to ensure robust
risk managemant.

Further, there are reviews conducted by Group Intemal Audit as the “third line of defence’. The resilts of
internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the respective divisions and summaries are
submitted to the Audit Committee,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial Risk Management {confirnued)

td)  Operational risk {continued)

The Group has an established Operational Risk framework comsisting of policies and procedures o idenfify,
assess, monitor, confrol, report and to manage risks and fo notify, idenfify and rectify incidents. The
Operational Risk framework also provides the interrelation with other risk categores. Where appropriate, risk
is mitigated by way of insurance,

Typically, Operational Risk events are classified as

+  [Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated by employees

*  External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party

+ Employes practices & workplace safety: Risk of failures in employes relations, diversity and
discrimination, and health and safety dsks across the Group
Dramage fo physical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters
Clients, Products & Business Practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, fiduciary
responsibilities, improper business practices, flawed products and advisory activities,

+  Business Disruption & System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity and
disaster recovery for systems

+  Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer intake and
documentation, vendor management and mondtoring and reporting,

The Board has oversight responsibilities for operational risk management across the Group. These
responsibilities are delegated and exerdsed through the Group Risk Committee, which is the senior
management forum responsible for the oversight of Operational Risk.
Key responsibilities of Geoup Risk Committee with regards to Operational risk indude to ensure:
+ Approval of the Group Operational Risk Management Framework and oversight owver its
+  Approve large incdents as per the Operational Risk management approval matrix
+  Approve the strategy and direction for Operational Risk across the group.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

4 Financial Risk Management {confirnued)
(e}  Capital management

CBUAE regulations govern regulatory capital requirements for the Group, in addition the overseas branches
and subsidiaries may be directly supervised by their local regulators, The capital management process for the
Group is linked {o the overall business strategy to ensure that capital is adequate to the level of inherent risk in
the business and within the finm's capital risk appetite The Group conducts capital planning in comjunction
with the Arandal budgeting exerdise.

The Board and top maragement define the long term strategic direction for the Group, This provides the
framework for the development of a bottom up plan based on the projecions from individual business units,
The bottom up plan is an input to the annual budgeting process and is conducted at a business unit and country
kevel. These are consolidated for each business division and finally, for the enfire Group, Business units, within
each division, develop forecasted balance sheet and P&L statements for the next year, by considering the
following key parameters:

the short term (one year) goals
risk appetite & strategy

target growth rates

target returns

Thie Geoup's capital management polices aim to ensure that # has sufficient capital to cover the risks associated
with its activities and the allocation of capital across the group The assessment of the varous risks across the
Group and their likely impact is camried out in conjunciion with ICAAP undertaken annually. As part of the
ICAAP process, GRMD identifies the various risks the Group is exposed to as part of its day-to-day operations.
Mext the Group assesses these nisks against the existing polices and procedures, frameworks and
methodologies, contingency plans and other processes to measure, manage and mitigate the impact of such
risks. Finally the Group determines the risks which would be coverned by capital,

The key objectives of the Group's capital management process are:

*  Maintain sufficent capital o meet minimum capital requirement set by CBUAE as well as to ensure
transition to Basel [T in terms of capital ratios.

*  Maintain sufficient capifal to support Group’s Risk Appetite and strategic objectives as per long-term
strategic plan.

*  Maintain adequate capital to withstand stress scemanios inchiding increased capifal requirements
determined through ICAATP,

*  Tosupport the Group's credit rating,

The Group conducts a multi-year stress test exercise in which the Balance Sheet and Profit or Loss statements
are determined for base case and stress scenarioa, The risk factors are impacted by the assumptions made for
the base and stress scenarios and the commesponding impact on the capital adequacy is determined. The Group
uses macroeconomic stress tests in order to project capital need and capital kevels under various unfavaurable
seenarios. The tests are perceived as an important fool in internal capifal plarming. The stress test result during
2016 shows that the Group has adequate capital in the event of adverse scenarios during the next 3year period.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
4 Financial risk management (continued)
{e) Capiia] management (cortinted)

The Group's regulatory capital adequacy ratio, set by the Central Bank of the UAE at a minimum level of 12%
(2015; 12%), of which Tier 1 is to be 8% {2015 §7%) is analysed into two Hers as follows:

Basel 1T Basel T
2016 15
AEDDOO AEDYD00

Tier I capital
Ordinary share capital 5515685 5,463,885
Retained eammings 7375675 5,788 305
Statutory and special reserve 5254 546 5208722
Ceneral reserve and share option scheme 21,321,391 19283 274
Faoreign currency translation reserve {178,138) (132,379)
Tier 1 capital notes 6,754,750 6,754,750
Deductions from Tier | capital {282,952) (268,355}
Total 45,758,957 43,058 202

Tier 2 capital
Fair value reserve 126,879 (331,937)
Qualifying subordinated liabilities 355,087 361,003
Allowanee for collective impadement 2851,153 2,962 200
Deductons from Tier 2 capital {14,314) (15752
Total 3319706 2975613
Total regulatory capital base 40,078,662 46,073 515

Risk weighted assefs:

Credit risk 228092 256 236,976,736
Market risk 24593160 20,397 958
Operational risk 18,650,206 17 853 226
Risk weighted assets 271,315,622 275,257 920
Tier 1 capital ratio 16.87%0 15.66%
Capital adequacy ratio 18.09% 16.74%

The Bank and it overseas branches and subsidiaties have complied with all extemally imposed capital
requirements for all periods presentad,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

5 Use of estimates and judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, IFRS require the management to select suitable
accounting polides, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are seasonable and
prudent and would result in relevant and reliable information. The management, based on guidance in IFRS
and the TASE's Framework for the Preparation and Presentaion of Financial Statements has made these
estimates and judgements. Listed below are those estimates and judgement which could have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised i the consolidated finandial statements.

Key apurces of estimation unceriainty

(i}  Impairment charge on loans and advances and non-trading investments
Impairment losses are evaluated as descrbed in accounting policy 3(b) (vil) and 4(a).

The Geoup evaluates impairment on loans and advanoes and non-trading investznents on an ongoing basis and
a comprehensive teview on a quarterly basis to assess whether an impairment charge should be recognised in
the comsolidated staternent of profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgement by management is required in
the estimation of the amount and timing of fuhure cash flows when determining the level of impairment charge
required. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgements about counterparty’s financial
gituation and other means of settlement and the net realisable value of any underlying collateral. Such
estimates are based on assumptions about several factors involving varving degrees of judgement and
uncertainty, and achal vesults may differ resulting in future changes to such impaionent charges,

{ii} Collective impairment charge
Collective impairment charge is evaluated as described in accounting policy 3(b) (vii} and 4(a) .

In addition to specific impairment charge against individually impadred assets, the Group also maintains a
collective impaimment allswance against portfoliss of loans and advances with similar economic characteristics
which have not been spedfically identified as impaired. In assessing the need for collective impairment charge,
management considers concentrations, credit quality, portiolio size and economic factors. In order to estimate
the required allowance, assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modellad and to determine
the required input parameters, based on historical and current economic conditions.

tiii} Impairment charge on property and equipment and investment properties
Impairment losses are evahrated as described in accounting policy 3(7} (ifi) and S(kMiv}.

In determining the net realisable vahue, the Group uses the selling prices determined by external independent
valuer's compandes, having approprate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. The selling prices are based on market values, being the
estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of the valuation between a willing
buyer and a willing seller in an army’s length transaction.

{iv} Contingent liability arising from litigations
Due to the nature of its operations, the Group may be involved in litigations ansing in the ordinary course of
business. Provision for contingent labilities arising from litigations is based on the prabability of oufflow of
economic eesources and reliability of estmating such outflow. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties
and the outeome of individual matters @8 not predictable with assurance

ivi Share option scheme
The fair value of the share option scheme is determined using the Black-Scholes model The model inputs

coinprise share price, exercise price, share price volatility, contractual life of the option, dividend yield and risk-
free interest rate,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

5 Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
Ky sowrces of esfinafion unceriaimty foondinued)

{vi}  Valuation of financial instruments

The vahuaton techniques of finandal instruments may require certain unobservable inputs to be estimated by
the management. These are discussed in detail in note 6.

{vii} Defined benefit plan

The present value of the defined benefit obligation depends on a mumber of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptons used in determining the net cost{incomae) for
obligations include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptons would impact the carrying amount of
the defined benefit oblgation,

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each vear, This is the interest rate that should
be used fo determine the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be required to setile the
future obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers interest rate of high
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have
the terms to maturity approximating the terms of related benefit obligation.

Other key assumptions for defined benefit obligations are based in part on current market conditions,
Additional information on these assumpions are disclosed in note 21.

Critical accounting fudgements in applying the Group s aocounting poiicies inciude:

fa)  Financial asset and liability elassification
The Group's accounting polices provide scope for financial assets and habilities to be designated on incepton
into different acomunting categories in certain drodmstances:

In classifying finandal assets as “fair value through profit or loss™, “held-to-maturity” or “available-for-sale”,
the Group has determined it meets the description as set out in accounting policy 3(b) ().

(b} Qualifying hedge relationships
In designating financial instruments as qualifying hedge relationships, the Group has determined that it expects
the hedge to be highly effective over the lite of the hedging relatonship.

fc}  Determination of fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The Growup's determination of fair vahse hierarchy of finandal instruments is discussed in note 6.

{d}  Structured entities

Far all funds managed by the Group, the investors are able to vote by simple majority to remave the Group as
fund manager, and the Group's aggregate economic inferest in each fund is not material As a result, the Group
has conchided that it acts as agent for the investors in these funds, and therefore has not consolidated these
funds.

{e}  Owperating segmentis
In preparation of the segment information disclosure, the management has made certain assumptions to arrive

at the segment reporting, These assumptions would be reassessed by the management on a periodic basis,
Olperating segments are detailed in note 41.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

& Financial assets and liabilities

{a)  Valuation control framework

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair vahse. This
framework includes a Valuation Committee that reports o the Group Risk Committee. The Group also has
control functions to support this framework (Froduct Control, Independent Prce Verification, Model
Validation and Group Market Kisk) that are independent of front office management. Specific contrals indude:

Independence in valuation process between risk taking units and control units;
System for valuations;
Verification of observable pricing;
+  Review and approval process for new models and changes to models;
»  Analysis and investigation of significant daily vah:ation movements; and
Feview of significant imobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the fair
value measurement of Level 3 instruments,

The fair vahies of due from banks and financial instifutions, reverse repurchase agreement . due to banks and
financial insttutons, sepurchase agreements and Customer acoounts and other deposits which arme
predominantly short teom in tenure and issued at market rates, are considered to reasonably approximate their
book valze.

The Group estimates that the fadr value of its loans and advances portfolio is not matedally different from its
book value since the majority of loans and advances carry floating market rates of interest and are frequently
re-priced. For loans considered impaired, expected cash flows, including antidipated realisation of collateral,
were discounted using an appropriate rate and considering the time to collect, the net result of which is not
materdally different from the camying value,

(b} Determination of fair values

Fair value is the poce that would be received fo sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market partcipants at the measurement date in the princpal, or in its absence, the most
advardageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects #fs non-
performance sk Consequently, differences can arize befween book values and the fair value estimates,
Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Group is a going concern without any
intention or requirement to materially curtail the scale of its operation or to undertake a transaction on adverse
ferms.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair valuee hierarchy that reflects the significance of the
inputs used in making the measurements:

Level 1: Quoted murket price (unadjusted ) in active market for an identical instrument.

Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (ie. as poces) or indirectly (ie,
derived from prices). This category indudes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets
for similar instruments; or other valuation techniques where all significant imputs are directly or indirectly
observable from market data.

Level 3 Valuation technigques using unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the
valuation technique inchedes input not based on observable data and the unobservable input have a significant
impact on the instrument’s valuation. This category indudes instruments that are valued based on guoted
prices of similar instruments after making adjustments basad on unobservable inputs that are necessary to
reflect fair vahie of the instrument,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
& Financial assets and liabilities (confinued)

{e)  Valuation techniques

All finandal assets and Habilities are measured at amortised cost except for derivatives, investment at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments which are measured at fair value by reference to
published price quotations in an active market or from prices quoted by counterparties or through use of
valaation techniques.

Fair vahie of financial assets and Habilides that are traded in active macket are based on quoted market price or
dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair value using valuation
techmiques, such as discounted cash flow models, benchumarking against similar instruments for which
observable market prices exist, Black-Scholes model or other valuation models. Each valuation technique
models the behaviour of underlying market factors. These market factors indude interest rates, credit spreacs
and other inputs used in estimating discenmd rates, bond prices, foreign exchange rates, equity and equity index
prices, vilatilities and correlations.

The cbjective of valuation techniques is to acrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the
finaicial instrument at the seporting date that would have been determined by market participants acting at
army's length.

The Group uses widely recogmised valuation models for determining the fair value of common financial
instruments, such as interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data. Observable prices
or model inputs are usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded
derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable
market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces
the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs
varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general
conditions in the Anancial markets,

For more complex instriments, the Group uses third party valuation models, which are developed from
recogrised valuaton models. These valuation models require expert judgement for the selection of the most
appropoate valuation model to be used induding input market data and underlying assumptons for the
determination of fair valee,

Model inputs and parameters can be calibrated against historical data and market prices for plain vanilla
instruments, published forecasts and current or recent observed transacions in  similar instruments. This
calibration process is inherently subjective and it yields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair value,
and expert judgement is required to select the most appropriate point in the range.

td)  Fair Value adjustments

Credit Valsation Adjsstiments (“CVAT)

The Group modelled the CVA adjustment in 2016 taking into account trades subject to collateral and netting
agreements. The methodology for CVA calculation relies on three components: a standard loss given default
assumption of 60% is used for the exposures, the probability of default of the counterparty is implied from
credit spreads or credif rating, the expected positive exposure is caleulated using simulafion methodology or
simplified add-on approach. The methodology does not account for wrong way risk

Meodel-related adjustments
Model related adjustments are applied when either model inputs are overly simplified or the model has

limitations deriving the fair value of a position. These adjustments are required to correct existing model
weaknesses or deficiencies that were highlighted during the model review process.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
6 Financial assets and liabilities {continued)

{e}  Fairvalue of financial instruments (continued)

The Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are classified as loans and receivables and at amortised
cost, are categorised under Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, as there 18 no active market for such assets and
liabilities. The Bank considers these to have a fair value approximately equivalent fo their net carrying value as
majority of sudh financial mstrument carry variable interest rates and relatively short tenor of maturity.

if)  Financial instrument measured at fair value - hierarchy

The table below analyses finandal instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the
Jevel in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categ onised:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Taotal
AELDY 000 AEDTO0 AEDY OO AEL¥DOO
Asat 31 December 2006
Finarcial assets held for trading 0,474 665 5,080,578 - 14514543
Designated at fair value through profit and loss 10,963 - - 10,963
Available-for-sale finandal assets 52546376 5850227 135,705 58410308
Derivative financial instruments (Assets) 4,303 12,015,103 - 12018406
2036307 22,905,208 13,708 84.955.970
Derivative fnandal instrurments (Liabilities) 35,229)  ({13,345.560) - {13.380,789)
As at 31 December 2015
Finanial azsets held for trading 7515381 4654414 - 12279795
Designated at fair value through profit and loss 11,343 - - 11343
Available-for-sale finarcial assets 51042 765 5,546,136 13,806 57002707
Derivative finandal instruments (Assels) 4,982 10,565,109 - 10,574,091
58674471 21,179,659 13,806 79,867,936
Drerivatve Aranal mstraments (Liabilides) 73,799) (12778.559) = (12,852358)

Certain available-for-sale investment securities have been disclosed under Level 3 of the fair vahte hietardhy as
management has recorded these at cost in the absence of observable market data. Management has deemed cost
to be a close approsamation of their fair value,

There were no transfers between the fair value hierarchies for any financial asset or Hability except for five
bonds amounting to AED 663 million (31 December 2005: AED Nil} which moved from level 2 to level 1,
additionally finandal mstrument amounting to AED Nil (31 December 2015: AED 528 million) which were
transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 due to lack of divect pricing inputs.

The following table shows a reconciliation for instruments measured at fair value and classified as Level 3

2016 2015
AEDDD0 AED D
Availablefor-sale financial assets
Balance as at 1 Jaruary 13,806 13871
Settlements and other adjustments {101} (65}
Balance as at 31 December 13,705 13,806
—_—
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

7 Cash and balances with central banks

2016 2015
AEDYDOD AEDY000
Cash on hand 1,384,327 1,537,890
Central Bank of the UAE
cash reserve deposits 13574477 12286 267
certificates of deposits 3,000,000 41,065, M5
other balances 3,882,258 1,339,930
‘Balances with other cenfral banks
cash reserve deposits 1,787,177 1,107 314
other deposits and balances 75,036,380 19,065,663
08,664,599 76,382,109
Cash reserve deposits are not available for the day to day operations of the Group.
8 Investments at fair value through profit or loss
2016 s
AELX (00 AELYDOO
Managed portiolios 592 862 1,339 604
Dbt instruments 13513575 10,608,213
Equity instruments 419,060 342316
14,525 506 12.291,138

Equity instruments include investments designated at fair value through profit or loss amounting to AED
10,363 thowsand (2035: AED 11,343 thowsand L.

9 Due from banks and financial institutions
2016 205
AELY D00 AELY 000
Current, call and notice deposits 1,558,415 1,904,795
Margin deposits 6,008,970 7,777,902
Fixed deposits 565,722 1,209,071
8,523,107 10,891,763

10 Reverse repurchase agreements
The Group enters into reverse repurchase agreements in the normal course of business in which the third party
transfers financial assets to the Group for short term financing. The carrying amount of finandal assets at the
reporting date amounted to AED 9,567 million (2015 AED 13,330 miflion).

Ne allowances for impairment have bean recognisad against reverse repurchase agreements during the year
(2015 mil),
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

10 Reverse repurchase agreements (continued)

At 31 December 2016, the fair value of financial assels accepted as collateral that the Group is permitied to sell
or re-pledge in the absence of default was AED 10439 million {2015 AED 14,077 million),

At 31 Decernber 2016, the fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledged
was AED 5,537 million (2015: AED 4,662 million). The Group is obliged to return equivalent securities.

These fransactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities
borrowing and lending activities.

11 Loans and advances
2016 2015
AEDY D00 AEDYO00
Gross loans and advances 208,007 925 213.075,1M
Less: interest suspended ﬂJEﬁ,ﬁBﬂ (1,056,665)
Less: allowance for impairment {6,409,433) (6,124,973)
Net Ioans and advances 200,531 811 205,913,553

An analysis of gross loans and advances by counterparty at the reporting date is shown below:

016 M5

AEDYDO0 AELY 000

Govemment sector 17,900,011 20319828
Public sector 44542134 44,130,248
Banking sector 14,950,955 23337915
Corporate | private sector 84,373,935 S9.918,130
Personal ( retail sector 36,530,590 35369070
Gross loans and advances 208,047 525 213,075,191

An analysis of gross loans and advances by product as at the reporting date is shown below:

2016 2015

AEDY D00 AEDY 00

Ohverdrafts B,645 300 12,076,158
Term loans 125,716,285 122 421,847
Trade related loans 16,685,277 24,557 551
Rial estate 26215367 24 955 298
Moaortgage loans 13,932,692 10,029,833
Personal Yoaris 15,206,073 15,402,359
Credit cards 1,782,790 1,716,439
Vehicle financing loans 1475780 1673779
{Others 435,361 241,347
Gross loans and advances 208,047 525 213,075,191
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

11 Loans and advances (continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment during, the year is shown below:

06 2015

AEDYDOO AELY (00

At 1 January 6,124,973 £, 665 054
Charge for the year

Caollective provision 101,675 503,282

Specific provision 1,940,761 1,476,162

Recoveries (395,561) (378,847)

Write-backs during the year (464,019} (685,050

Amoumts written off (598,386) (1,458,658)

At 31 December 6,409,433 6,124,973

The Group provides lending against investment in equily securities and funds. The Group is authorised to
liquidate these insteuments if theie coverage falls below the certain agreed threshold. The carrying value of such
loarns is AED 7,192 million (2025: AED 7,592 miilion) and the fair value of instruments held as collateral against
such loans is AED 19.604 million (2015: AED 20,225 million). During the year, the Group has liquidated
insignificant amount of collateral due to fall in the coverage ratio,

Islamic financing

Induded in the above loans and advances are the following Islamic financing contracts:

2016 015
AEDYD00 AELY 000
ljara 6,500,672 5,534,022
Murabaha 3,068,743 3,667,084
Mudaraba 37226 16,230
Others 12,745 12405
Total Islamic financing contracts 10,519,386 9,209 741
Less: allowance for impairment (179, 411) (83,699
Less: suspended profit {635) (701)
10,339,340 9,145341

The mowvement in the allowance for impairment during the vear is shown below:
M6 2015
AEDYDO0 AEDY 000
At 1 January 83,699 56,664

Charge for the year

Collective provision (3,854) (7.971)
Spedific provision 157,596 56,730
Recoveries / write-backs during the year (1,874) (369
Arnounts written off and other adjustments (56,156) (21,355)
At 31 December 179,411 83,699
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

11 Loans and advances (continued)
Islamic financing { contineed)

The gross ljara and the related present value of minimum ljara payments are as follows:

016 2015
AELY D00 AELY D00
Grass Ifara
Lass than one year 1,176,920 1,141,821
Between one and five years 3,000,652 335662
More than five years 4,252 368 2923834
B.4209,540 740317
Less: deferred income {1,929,268) (1,886,295}
Net Ijara 6,500,672 5,534,022
2016 2ms
AEDDO0 AEDDM0
Net present value of minimum lease payments
Less than one year B37,038 741N
Between one and five years 2,215,729 2466185
More than five years 3447905 2373 5d6
6,500,672 5,534,022

Investment in finance lease

Investments in finance lease are primarnly towands the aviation sector. Included in the loans and advances are
the following mvestments in finance leases:

2016 205

AEDYDOD AELN000

Gross investment in finance leases 7112246 8437582
Uneamed finance income (777,328) (914,338}
Net investment in finance leases 6,334, 915 Tod3 244
Less: allowance for impaireent {173,836) (183341}
Less: interest suspended 45,435) (33,081}
Investment in finance leases 6,114,647 7301532
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
11 Loans and advances (continued)

Investment in finance lease {continued)

2016 2015

Present Present

2016 2ms value of value of

Gross Groas minimim minimim

investment investment lease lease

in lease in lease payments payments

AELDDDO AELY (K0 AELYDO0 AELYO00

Within one year 63,913 37,571 62,070 36,309
One to five years 1,535,792 1,239,179 1,436,369 1,166 587
More than five years 5,512,541 7,160,832 4836470 6,319,845
7,112,246 8437 582 6,331,918 7,523,244

Uneamed finance incone (777.328) (914.338) - -
Net investment in finance leases 6,334,918 7523244 6,334,918 7523244

The movement in allowance for impairment against finance lease receivables during the year is shown below:

M1s 205

AEDY OO AEDY 000

At 1 January 183,341 172,167
Charge for the year

Spedfic provision net of write-backs {5,815} (12,104}

Collective provision 310 23078

At 31 December 173,536 183,341

12 Non-trading investments

2016 2015

AEDY D00 AEL ()

Available-for-sale investments 58,410,308 57,002,707

Hald-to-maturity investments 6,031,616 6,791,444

64,441,924 63,794,151
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
12 Non-trading investments {coniinued)

Am gnalysis of non-trading investmenta by type al the reporting date iz shown below:

2016 2015
AED¥FDOD AELY 000

Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted  Unquoted Total

Equity investments 18,565 4,164 42,729 22424 13781 36,205
Debt investments 64,207,111 160,850 B4367961 63277418 34,129 63621547
Funds 31,223 11 31234 136,373 24 136,359

64,256,899 185025 64441924 63436215 367936 63,794,151
Less:

Allerwanee for impairment - - - = - =

64,256,690 185025 64441924 63436215 357,936 63,784,151

Debt instruments under repurchase agreements included in gquoted available-for-sale investments at
31 December 2006 amounted fo AED 11,240 mullion {2015 : AED 24, 434 miilion).

13 Other assets

2016 2015

AEDDO0 AELY D00

Interest receivable 4,804 445 3914406
Acceptances 3,205 5,497,104
Sundry debtors and other receivables 1,505,003 1,105,588
Deferred tax asset 31487 30,356

8545970 10,550,483

The Group does not perceive any significant credit risk on interest receivable and acceptances.

Acceptances arise when the Bank is under an obligation to make payments against documents drawn under
letters of credit. After acceptance, the instrument becomes an unconditional lability of the Bank and is thenefore
recopnised as a financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. However every acceptance
has a corresponding contractual right of reimbursement from the customer which is recognised as a financial
agat,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

14 Investment properties

Land and

buildings

AED00
Cost
At 1 January 2015 198,49
Additions and transfers 30818
Deletions { disposals (2,195)
Al 31 December 2015 226,872
Additions and transfers 252
Deletions / disposals (142,996}
At 31 December 2016 84,128
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015 20,716
Charge for the year 1987
Additions and fransfers 13623
Deletions / disposals -
At 31 December 2015 36326
Charge for the year 1,990
Additions and transfers 208
Deletions / disposals =
Al 31 December 2006 38524
Carrying amounts
At 31 December 2005 190,546
At 31 December 2016 45,604

The Group estimates that the fair value of the investment properties approximates its carrying amounts as at
the reporting date. The fair values of the Group's investment properties are categorised under level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

15 Property and equipment

Furniture,
Land, Computer equipment, Capital
buildings and systerns and safes amd work -in-
alterations equiprent vehicles PIOEress Tostal
AED¥DON AELY D00 AEDDO0 AEDY000 AEDYDO0
Cost
At 1 January 2015 2,598,680 R8T 465 366,492 245,577 4098214
Additions 17.520 42,009 13487 M7 636 41,072
Allocations from CWIP 15500 150,167 16,063 (212,548 (30,818)
Disposals, transfers and
write offs (16,513) (38,548} (25,938) - (84.999)
At 31 December 2015 2615587 1,041,113 366,104 330,665 4,405 469
Additions 0,290 71052 21,79 330,433 445,561
Allocations from CWIP 53893 77514 15 846 (147 505) (252)
Disposals, transfers and
write offs! (17,945) {25,308) (25,321) = (65,574)
At 31 December 2016 2,671,825 1,164,358 3THRAZE 563,593 4,778,204
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses
At 1 January 2005 Thi 185 566,955 266,820 - 1,559,960
Charge for the year 42464 148,270 28238 - 205 972
Impairment 4,300 - - - 4,300
Diisposals, transfers and
write offst (20,629 {27,851} (27,065) - (75545)
At 31 December 2015 792,320 687374 277,993 . 1,757 687
Charge for the year 45645 146,566 g el i | - 226,500
Inpairment 2,825 = 2,825
Disposals, transfers and
write offs! (9.347) (24,192) (24,556) = (58,085
Al 31 December 2016 831443 810,048 267,728 = 1,929,219
Carrying amounts
Af 31 December 2005 1,823,267 35375 88111 340,665 2,645,782
At 31 December 2016 1,840,582 354,310 90,700 563,593 2,548,985

1 adjusted for foreign exchange ransiation impact
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

16 Duae to banks and financial institutions

2016 2015
AEDDOD AELY D00

Banks ard firancial institutions
Current, call and notice deposits 1562228 2,124,348
Margin 2,041 886 1,159,954
Fixed deposits 24,195,040 23 658,209
27,799,154 26,972,631

Central banks

Current and call deposits BE, 445 338,655
Fived and certificate of deposits 13,076,142 12,191,229
13,164,587 12,529,454
40,963,741 39,502 515

Due to banks and financial institutions are déenominated in various currendes and camry a rate of inferest in the
range of -0.42% to 14.95 (2005 (9 0 2. 2%).

17 Repurchase agreements

The Group enters info repurchase agreements in the normal course of business by which if fransfers recagnised
financial assets directly to third parties.

The carrying value that is also the fair value of financial assets collateralised at the reporting dafe amounted to
AED 11,746 million (2G15; AED 25 736 million) and their assodated financial abilities amounted to AED 17,222
million {2015; AED 30,557 miifion). The net difference between the fair value of the finandal assets coll ateralised
and the carrying value of the repurchase agreement is a shortage AED 5476 million (A15: shortage AED 4,785
miiiion]. The shortage is covered by re-pledging finandal assets recgived as collateral against reverse repurchase
agreements.

18 Commercial paper

The Bank has established two Commerdal Paper Programmes, the “Euro commerdal paper programme” and a
“US Dollar comenerdal paper programme”™ of USD 5 billion each.

The notes outstanding as at the reporting date amounted o AED 7372911 thousand (215 AED 8,720,597
thowsand), They are denominated in various currencies, bear interest in the range of -0.44% to 1.65%
{2015: -0.13% fo 0.99%) and have maturty periods of less than 12 months,

The Group has not had any defaults of prindpal, interests, or other breaches with respect to its Commerdal
Paper during 2016,
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

19 Customer accounts and other deposits

206 015
AEDDO0 AELY000

By accoumnt:
Current accounts 62,766,233 58 808 4595
Savings accounts 12,574,483 12,449 667
Margin accounts 2,323,568 1,379,276
Motice and fme deposits 150,906,575 138,645 303
278,570,862 211,288 242
Certificates of deposit 24,511,630 22526316
253,352,492 733,814,558
2016 2015
AEDD00 AEDY D00

By counterparty

Government sechor 48,676,196 26,172,119
Public sector 40,396,320 51,607,710
Corporate | private sector 70,037 494 67 610,865
Personal / retail sector 60,460,852 05,897 548
224,570,862 211,288 242
Certificates of deposit 24,511,630 22526 316
253,362,492 233,814 558
26 2015
AEDDO0 AEDYO00

By locatio:
UAE 151,624,107 130,476,271
Europe 31,602,548 28274 650
Arab countries 23,133,710 30,004 257
Americas 9.458,171 12,279, 580
Asia 11,194,114 10116743
Dihers 1,468,212 186,732
278 570,862 211,288 247
Certificates of deposit 24,811,630 22526316
253,382,497 233,814,559
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19 Customer accounts and other deposits (continued)

Islamic customers” deposils

Induded in the above Customer accounts and other depesits are the following Islamic term deposits:

2016 2015
AEDYDO0 AED000
Wakala deposits 1,134,125 2,546,852
Mudaraba deposits 517,850 385,128
1,651,984 2,931,980

20 Term borrowings
2016 2015
AEDDOD AEDYDI0
Convertible notes 1,802,763 1,766,137
Other term notes 27,112,847 19,280,531
28,915,650 21,046,665

Convertible notes indudes USD 500 million notes that mature in March 2018 and carry a fived coupon that is
paid semi-anmually in areears. The value of the conversion option at inception was AED 108 265 thousand and
as such has been classified as a parct of equity under convertible note - equity component reserve.

During the year, the Bank has issued various fixed and floating rate notes. The Bank hedges its currency and
inderest rate exposune on these notes, The nominal values of the notes issued during the year are stated below:

016 2015
AEL¥D00 AEDYD00
Eixed rate

ALD 79515 80,527
CNH 137,003 111503
EUR 96 563 99,901
HED - 75,526
UsD 3,107,358 4,058 665

Eloating rate
usD 8,939,138 4,683 075
EUR 231,752 -
15,591,327 9,108,797

The Bank has hedged the inferest rate and foreign currency exposure on ferm borrowings. The nominal value
hedges are AED 17.71 billion {(2015: AED 15,9 Fiiion) and the risks being hedged have a net negative fair vahse
of AED 474.08 million (2015: nef positive fafr value of AED 52240 milifory). The Group has not had any defaults of
principal, interests, or ofher breaches with respect to its term borrowings during 20016 and 2015
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

21 Other liabilities

016 2015

AED'DDO AED D00

Interest payable 4,446 540 3538342
Acceptances (nofe 13) 1,662 003 3885572
Provision emplayees” end of service benefits 446,384 487 047
Accounts payable, sundry creditors and other labilitfes 5,006,424 7 546,500
Chverseas income tax 142 940 124 547
12,614,201 15,582,508

Employees end of Service benefits

Diefined benefit obligations

The Group provides for end of service benefits for its eligible employeas. An actuarial valuation has been
carried out as at December 31, 2016 to ascertain present value of the defined benefit obligation. A registered
actuary in the UAE was appointed to evaluate the same. The present value of the defined benefit obligation,
and the related current and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The following key assumptions (weighted average rates) were used fo valae the labilities:

2016 2015
Discount rate 3.61% per annum  4.00% per annum
Salary increase rate L.69% per annum  2.00% per annum

Demographic assumptons for mortality, withdrawal and retiement were used in valuing the liabilides ard
benefits under the plan. Because of the nature of the benefit, which is a ump sum payable on exit due fo any
cause, a combined single decrement rate has been used.

A shift in the in the discount rate assumption by +/- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED 9,829
thousand (2015 AED 2871 thowsand} and AED 10362 thousand (2015 AED 10,633 thousand) respectively.
Similarly, a shift in the salary increment assumption by +- 50 basis points would impact the liability by AED
10503 thousand (2015, AED 10,815 fhowsand) and AED 10054 thousand (2015 AED 10,133 thowsand)
respectively.

The movement in the emplovess end of service obligation was as follows:

2016 2015

AEDDOO AED000

Balance at 1 January ABT 4T 462,620
Met charge during the year 33,337 93,789
Paid during the year {74,000 (69,362)
Balance at 31 December 46384 487 (47

75
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
21 Other liabilities (confinued)

Defined covtiribution plan

The Group pays contributions for its eligible employees which are treated as defined contribution plans. The
charge for the year in respect of these contributions is AED 81,532 thousand (2015: AED 78,970 thowsard), As at
the reporfiing date, pension pavable of AED 11,799 thousand has been dassified under other liabilities (2015
AED 11,874 thousand).

Overseas income fax

The Group has provided for overseas income tax in aceordance with management's estimate of the total
amotnt payable based on tax rates enacted or substantially enacted as at the reporting, date, Where appropriate
the Group has made payments of tax on account in respect of these estimated Habilities.

The owverseas income tax charge for the year is calculated based upon the adjusted net profit for the year. The
movement in the provision was as follows:

2016 2015
AEDDDD AELDYD00
At1 January 124547 111,090
Charge for the year 05591 308 956
Ohverseas income tax paid, net of recoveries (287,198) {295, 499)
At 31 December 142,240 124547
22 Subordinated notes

2016 2015
AED¥ D00 AEDFD00

Liability component
15 March 2006 issue - 914,205
10 December 2012 iasue ‘355,087 361,093
355,987 1,275.298

15 March 2006 issue:

The Bank issued AED 2.5 billion subordinated convertible notes due on 15 March 2006 in accordance with the
approval of the Extracrdinary General Meeting held on 22 Movember 2005, The notes bear an interest rate egqual
0 3 month EIBOR plus 00.25% paid quartery. During the year, the Bank fully repaid the 15 March 2006 issuance
maturing in March 2016,

The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2016 was 3 month EIBOR plus 0.301% (2015 3 month ETBOR pls
0.301%).

T
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22 Subordinated notes (confinued)

The above mentioned notes ane presented in the consolidated statement of finandal positdon as follows:

216 2015
AEDDOD AEDYO00
Prooeeds from iasue of convertible notas 2,500,000 2,500,000
Less: amount classified as equity {72,926) (72.926)
Carrying amount of liability
compaorent on initial recognition 2427074 2427074
Add: curmilative accreted interest 26,677 26,357
Less: converted lability component {1,347,973) (1,347,973)
Carrying amount of liability bought back {191,253) (191,253)
Setilemnent at maturity 1914,525) -
Carrying amount of liability component - 914,205

10 December 2012 issue:

On 10 December 2012, the Bank issued MYR 500 million subordinated notes due on @ December 2027, The notes
bear an interest rate equal to 4.75% and will be paid on a semi-annual basis, The Bank has hedged the currency
and inferest rate exposure on these notes. The nominal value hedge is AED 40939 millicn (2075: AED 42774
miifion) and the risks being hedged has a negative fair value of AED 5209 million (2015 negative fafr value of
AED £5.19 million). The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2016 was 4.79% (2015; 4.79%).

The Group has not had any defaults of principal, inferest, or other breaches with respect to its subordinated
notes during 2016 and 2015,

23 Capital and reserves

Share capital

The authorised share capital of the Bank comprise 5255 million ordinary shares of AED 1 each (2015; 5210
sifllion shares of AED 1 each). The issued and fully paid share capital at 31 December 2016 is comprised of 5,255
million ordinary shares of AED 1 each (2015: 5210 million ovdingry shares of AED 1 each).

Statutory and special reserves

In acvordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and the requirements of the Undon Law No. (10} of 1980, a
mirdronm of 109 of the anmual net profit should be transferred to both statutory and spedal reserve undil each
of these reserves equal to 509 of the paid-up share capital. The Statutory and special reserve are not available
for distributon to the shareholders.

Diividends
The following dividends were paid by the Group during the year ended 31 December:
2016 2015
AEDDOO AELY000
Cash dividend AED D45
per ordinary share (2015: 040 per ordinary share) 2,330,049 1882971
Nil borus shares (2015: 109 honus shares) issued - 473611

77
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23 Capital and reserves (confinued)

Dividends {continwged)

Proposed dividerds:

O 31 January 2017, a cash dividend of AED 0.45 per ovdinary share (2715: proposed cash dividend of AED 0.40 per
ordinary share) was proposed by the Board of Directors in respect of 2016 which is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting,

Other reserves
Other reserves inchide the following:

(i) Creneral reserve
The general reserve 15 available for distribution to the shareholders at the recommendation of the Board of
Drrectors. On 15 March 2018, the AGM approved the transfer of AED 2 billion (33 Decernber 2015: AED 2.4
ballion) to general reserve.

(i) Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the curmidative net change in the fair value of non-trading investments, untl the
investment is derecognised or impaired, and cash flow hedge reserve.

216 2015
AEDDDD AELYD00
Revaiuation reseree ~ availabie-for-aale invesimenta
At 1 Jarzary {287,012) 331,620
Met unrealised gains during the year 1153474 17,013
Net cumulative realised gains recogrdsed in the
consolidated stafermnent of profit or loss during the year (498,922) (635,645)
At31 December 347 540 (237,012)
Hesdging reserve — cash flow hedge
At1 January {44,925) [6,5688)
Changes in fair value {20,660) (38.237)
At 31 December {65,585) (44,925
Total at 31 December 281,955 (331,937)

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow
hedging instruments related to hedged fransactions. During the year, there has been no significant transfer
from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss.

{iid}  Foveign currency translation reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve represents the exchange differences arising from translation of the net
investment in foreign operations. During the year, there has been no transfer from foreign currency translation
reserve to profit or loss.
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24 Tier 1 capital notes

Tier 1 capital notes ane perpetual, subordinated, unsecured and carry a fived coupon during the initial petiod
and are paid semi-anmually in arrears. The Bank may elect not to pay a coupon at ite own discretion. The note
holder does not have a tight to claim the coupon and an election by the Bank not to service coupon is not
eonsidered an event of default. In addibion, there are certain circumstances under which the Bank 15 prohibited
fromn making a coupon payment on a relevant coupon payment date,

If the Bank makes a non-payment election or a non-payment event ocours, then the Bank willl not (a) declare or
pay any distribution or dividend or (b} redeem, purchase, cancel, reduce or otherwise acquire any of the share
capital or any securities of the Bank ranking pari passu with or junior o the Notes except securities, the term of
which stipulate a mandatory redempton or conversion into equity, in each case unless or untl two conseoutive
coupon payments have been paid in full. During the period, a coupon payment election was made by the Bank
in the amomt of AED 2834 million (2015: AED 201.2 mallion).

2018 2015

Currency AEDDOD AELX000

Government of Abu Dhabi Notes AED 4,000,000 4,000,000
(6 o e ETBOR plus 23 percent per annum)

USD 750 million Motes ush 2,754,750 2754750

(5 year nid swap rate plug 3.35 percent per annun) B — B —

6,754,750 6754750

O 17 June 2015, USD 750 million Tier 1 capital notes were issued by the Bank These nofes are perpetual and
carry an interest rate of 525 percent (calculated based on the relevant 5 year mid swap rate plus 3.35 percent
per anmum) during the “initial period”. After the initial period, at every reset date, interest would be caloulated
for the next reset period at the relevant Five-Year Mid Swap Rate plus a margin of 3.35 percent per annum.
Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on these notes. The “Initial Period” is the period (from and
inchiding) the Issue Date to (but exchiding) the Pirst Call Date, The “Reset Date” is the First Call Date and every
fifth anmiversary thereaffer. These notes are callable by the Bank beginming from 17 June 2020 “First Call date™
and every inferest payment date thereafter,

25 Share option scheme

The Bank had introduced in 2008 a share based payment scheme (the “Scheme” ) for selected employess which
would vest over three years and can be exerdised within the next three years affer the vesting perad. The key
vesting condition is that the option holder is in continued employment with the Bank until the end of vesting
period. The options lapse six years after their date of grant irrespective of whether they ane exercised or not,

The Group has established a subsidiary to issue shares when the vested option is exercised by the employee..
These shares are treated as tréeasury shares unhl exercised by the option holders,

As at the reporting date 7,160 thousand (2015: 2,976 thousand) options were exerdsed by the option holders

resulling in an increase in the total share capital by AED 7,160 thousand {2015; AED 2,976 thousand) and share
premium by AED 42,640 thousand (2015 AED 13,772 thousand)
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25 Share option scheme {continued)

The riambers of share optons are as follows:

2016 2015

Mumber Mumber

of options of ophons

in thousands in thousands

Outstanding at 1 Jarary 47 881 33273
Granted during the year 23266 18,745
MNet forfeited during the year (1,945) (1.096)
Exercised during the year {7,160 (2.976)
Expired during the year = {70y
Onststanding at 31 December 62,042 47 881

The average exercise price of opHons exerdsed during 20016 was AED 6.96 (2015: AED 7.64). The options
outstanding as at 31 December 2016 have an exercise price per share ranging between AED 6,85 to 12 (2015
AED 6.85 fo 12), The weighted average life of the options under exerdse pedod is 2.3 years (2015: 2.29 pears),

26 Interest income

2016 2015
AEDDOO AED000
Interest froms:
Central banks 165 504 199,761
Bartks and finandial instifutions 301,376 128481
Feverse repurchase agreements 128,180 72130
Investments at fair valse through profit or loss 340,047 275,002
Mon-trading investments 1,872,151 1,756,554
Loans and advances 6,848,709 6,533,171
9,656,957 8,965,129
27 Interest expense
2016 2015
AEDDOD AELY D00
Irsterest for
Banks and finandal instifutions 603 626 297 803
Repurchase agreements 205,051 120,392
Commercial paper 32833 23571
Customer accounts and other deposits 1,323 668 986,732
Term borrowings 647 633 553,362
Subordinated notes 23843 34,184
2,836,654 2,021,044
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28 Income from Islamic financing contracts
2016 2015
AED 00 AELF000
lara 264 816 203,725
Murabaha 244 657 181,200
509473 385,625
29 Depositors’ share of profits
2016 2m5
AEDT00 AELY 000
Wakala deposits 16,845 16,705
Mudaraba deposits 8,124 5927
24,963 22 632
30 Net fee and commission income
2016 2015
AEDDOO AELY000
Fee and commission income
Trade finance 508,500 601,825
Collecton servioes 46,117 58,548
Brokerage income 45 807 65 652
Asset management and investment services 125,983 133,047
Investments, derivatives and risk participation 17,725 213
Retail and corporate lending B8 285 &02,168
Cands and e-services 1,178,737 1,046,546
Accounts related services 59 956 68327
Comunission on iransfers 90,172 70,833
Dthers 144,045 125 465
Total fee and comrmission income 3,205,336 2,994 548
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage commission 25204 31,247
Handling charges 29721 50977
Credit card charges 840,241 736122
Retail and corporate lending 103,805 90524
Others 25261 24436
Total fee and commission expense 1,027 252 %88 306
Met fee and commission income 2178104 2106242

Asset management and investment service fees indude fees earned by the Group on frust and fidudiary
activities where the Group holds or invests assets on behalf of its castomers.

81
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31 Net foreign exchange gain

2016 2015
AELD'DOO AELY000

Trading and setranslation gain on
foreign exchange and related derivatives? 580244 465,412
Dealings with customers 372042 343,175
951 286 817 587

1Due to effective hedging steategies, the offsetting impact of hedging instruments is reflected in the net gains
from sale of non-trading investments (rnafe 32].

32 Net gain on investments and derivalives

016 2015
AEDDOD AEDY D00

MNet realised and unrealised gain / (Jose) on investments at fair
value through profit or loss and derivatives® {185,779) (384,523)
Met gain foom sale of non-trading investments 498,922 635,645
Drividend income 14,675 3067
327 816 254,189

Interest incosne on debt instruments dassified as investments at fair value through profit or loss as well as debt
instruments classified as non-trading investments is presented within interest income,

ncludes credif vaiue adfustment of AED 23 miilliom (2015: AED 71 miilion).

33 Other operating income

2016 2015
AED D00 AELY D00
Gain on sale of investment properties 3500 =
Orhers 32671 70,754
36,171 70,754

34 General, administration and other operating expenses
2016 2015
AEDDDO AELY000
Staff costs 2,729,137 2773730
Orther general and admindstration expenses 1,026,614 1,041 688
Depreciation 228,792 230,959
Sponsorships and denations 28216 36,533
4,002,759 4,082,919
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35 Net impairment charge

2016 2015

AEDDDD AEDY 000

Collective provision for loans and advances 101 675 503282

Spadfic provision for loans and advances 1,940,761 1476162

Write back of provisions for loans and advances (454,019) (685,050

Fecovery of loan loss provisions {395,561) (378,547)

Write-off of impaired financial assets 58462 64,707

Recovery of loans previously written off (55,696) (41,59)
(Write back) / impairment of

- pther financial assets 2250 11

- nom financal assets 2825 4300

1,190,677 942,971

36 Overseas income tax expense

In addition to adjustments relating fo deferred taxation, the charge for the vear is calculated based upon the
adjusted net profit for the yvear at rates of tax applicable in respective overseas locations.

The charge to the consolidated staternent of profit or loss for the year was as follows:

16 2015

AEDDOD AELY000

Charge for the year 305591 308,956
Adjustments relating to deferred taxation 3,115 (10,5813
308,706 208,143

Feconcliation of Group's tax on profit based on accounting and profit as per the tax laws 15 as follows:

2016 2015

AEDDOD AELY000

Profit before taxation? 1,008,545 1,144,973
Tax caleulated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the

respective countries 256,000 77435

Tax effects of:

- Income not subject to tax {7,033) {3,918)

- Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 36,388 13619

- Utlisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax (155} (258}

- Effect of fax offsefs not recognised as deferred tax assets o6 -

- Deductible temporary difference now recognised as 4 (1.792)

deferred tax assets

- Adjustment pertaining to prior years 10,514 6,793

- Withhaolding tax net of benefits 12,216 6,364

Total tax charge 308,706 298,143

1 Prafi! before baxation amount consisls ofonly those endities Hhal are under davable jurisdictions.
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a7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents mcduded in the consolidated statement of cash Hows compuse the following
amounts maturing within theee months of the date of the acquisition / placement:

2016 205
AEDFDOD AELY000
Cash and balances with central banks 94,767 450 72,190,756
Duse from banks and finandal institutions 2,201,815 2,748,176
Cash and cash equivalents 97,059,265 74,938,932
38 Commitments and conlingencies
2016 s
AEDDOD AELD00
Letters of credit 42,996,143 49,145,052
Letters of guarantee 63,038,890 67,300,403
Undrawn commmitments to extend credit 30,518,518 29790338
Financial guarantees 510,562 995 831
157,064,113 147 231 A4
Capital and operating lease commitments;
- Cormmmitments for future capital expenditure 177,558 267 582
- Commitments for future operating lease payments 146,814 206,082
324,373 472604
Total commitments and contingencies 137,388 456 147 704 053

Credit risk characteristics of these unfunded fadlities closely resemble the hunded facilities as desorbed
innete 4.

Letters of credit and guarantes (“Trade contingencies”) commit the Group fo make payments on behalf of
cugtomers contingent upon the production of documents or the faihuee of the customer to perform under the
terms of the contract

Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to extend loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination dauses and may require a payment of
a fee. Since commitments may expite without being drawn upon, the total confracted amounts do net
necessarily represent fubune cash requirements,
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38 Commitments and contingencies (continued)

Comumitmnents for operating lease payments are payable as follows:

nie 2015

AEDDOO AELY000

Less than one year 48,749 63,316
Between one and five year 76275 100,791
Maore than five year 21,790 35975
Total commitments. 146,814 205,082

Financial guarantee confracts includes credit default agreements entered with banks and finandal institutions
amounting to AED 165 million (2015: AED 496 million) which are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

Comcentratiom by industng
Financial guarantee contracts mamly pertain to the banks and financial instihutions.

Concentration by tocation;

Undrawn Ioan Commitments Financial guarantees Trade contingencies

2016 2015 2016 015 2016 2ms

AEDYDO0 AEDF00Q AED'DOO AED'000 AED000 AEDO00

UAE 12,330,152 14475208 - - B6ATTADS  70,355640
Europe 8,472,326 5,955,360 = - 2ATES21 20950977
Ataly countries 3,141,767 3,513 463 2105 215 6,144,419 7209528
Americas 5,662.549 2,990,131 471,727 626,208 TAIR868 13907315
Asia 1,655,159 2,074,032 36,730 367,300 2,966,281 3451997
Others 256565 779,119 - - 649,135 509,978

30518518 29790338 510,562 995631 106055033 116445435
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements

39 Derivalive financial instrumenis

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters info various fypes of transactions that involve derivative
financial instriuments, Derivatives ane financial instruments that derve their value from the price of underlying
iterns such as equities, bonds, interest rates, foreign exchange, credit spreads, commaodities and equity or other
indices, Derivatives enable users fo increase, reduce or alter exposure to credit or market dsks. Derivative
financial instruments indude forwards, fufures, swaps and optioms. These transachons are primarily entered
with Banks and financial imstifutions.

Foripards and futures

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase foreign and/or domestic currendes, inchiding non-
deliverable spot transactions (i.e. the fransaction is net seitled). Forward rate agreements are individually
negotated interest rate fehires that call for a cash settlement at a future date for the difference between a
contracted rate of mterest and the current market rate, based on a nofiemal principal amaunt. Foreign currency
and interest rate futures ane contractual cbligations to receive or pay a net amount based on changes in
currency rates or inferest rates, or fo buy or sell foreign currency or a finandal mstrument on a future date ata
specified price, established in an organised financial market. The credit risk for futures contracts is negligible, as
they are collateralised by cash or marketable securifies, and changes in the futures” contract value are setfled
daily with the exchange.

Swaps

Currency and interest rate swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another. Swaps result
in an economic evchange of currencies or interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate) or a
combination of all these (i.e.. cross - currency interest rate swaps). Wo exchange of principal takes place, except
for certain cross currency swaps. The Group's credit risk represents the potential loss if counterparties fail to
fulfil their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis with reference to the current fair value,
notional amount of the confracts and the hquidity of the market. To control the level of credit nsk taken, the

Group assesses counterparties using the same techniques as for its lending activities.

yptions
Cptions are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but

not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a
specific amount of a Anancial instrument at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the
purchaser in consideration for the assumption of risk. Optons may be either exchange - fraded or negotiated
between the Bank and a customer over the counter (OTC)L

Derivatives are measured at fair value by reference do published price quotations in an active market. Where
there is no achive market for an instrument, fair vahze is derived from prices for the derivative’s components
using appropriate pricng or valuation models like counterparty prices or valuation techniques such as
discounted cash fows, market prices, yield curves and other reference market data

The table below shows the positive and negative fair vahies of derivative financial instruments, which are
equivalent to their fair vahies, together with the notional amounts analysed by the term to maturity. The
nodonal amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which
changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions
cutstanding at year end and are neither indicative of the market risk nor credit risk,
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
39 Derivative financial instruments (conéiued)

The positive / negative fair value in respect of derivatives represents the gain / loss respectively, arising on fair
valuation of the trading and hedging instrument. These amounts are not indicative of any current or future
Iosses, as a similar positive { negative amount has been adjusted to the carrying value of the hedged loans and
advances, non-frading investments, ferm borrowings and subordinated nofes.

As at December 31, 2016, the Group received cash collateral of AED 2,268,837 thousand (2015: AED 1,220,418
thousand) against positive fair value of derivative assets from cerfain counterparties. Correspondingly, the
Group placed cash collateral of AED 6,048,196 thousand (2015 AED 7,946,698 thowsand against the negative fair
value of derivative liabilities.

Derivative related credit risk:

This is limited to the positive fair vahie of instruments that are favourable to the Group. These transactions are
primarily entered with banks and finandal institutions,

Derivatives held for trading

The Group uses derivatives, not designated in a qualifying hedge relationship, to manage ils exposure to
foreign cureency, interest rate and credit dsks or indates positions with the expectation of profiing from
favourable movement in prices, rates or indices. The instruments used mainly include interest rate and
curtency swaps and forward contracts, The fair values of those derivatives are shown in the table above,

Drerivatives held as fair value hedge

The Group uses dervative Anancial instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and lability
management strategy by taking offsetting positions in order to reduce its own exposure to fluchuations in
exchange and interest rates, The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the changes in fair value
arizing from specifically identified inderest bearing assets such as loans and advanoes, non-trading investments,
term borrowings and subordinate notes. The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts and currency
swaps to hedge against spedifically identified currency risks.

Denivatives held as cash flow hedge
The Group uses forward contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk arising from its financial instruments. The
Group has substantally matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective hedge nelationship.

40 Related parties

Identity of related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exerdse significant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. Related parties comprise major
shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the Group. Key management personnel comprise of
those executive committes members "EXCO™ of the Group who are iwolved in the strategic planning and
decision making of the Group. The terms of these transactions with related parties are approved by the Group's
management and afe made on terns agreed by the Board of Directors or management,

Parent and ultintate controlling parly

Purnuant to the provisions of Law Noo 16 of 2006, Abu Dhabi Investment Coundl (the “Coundl”) was
established which holds 69.82% (2015: 69.92%5) of the issued share capital of the Banl

During the year, a coupon payment election of AED 1353 million (2005: AED 1259 million) was made by the

Bank in relation to the AET 4,000 million (2015: AED 4,000 million) Government of Abu Dhabi Tier 1 capital
notes,

89
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
40 Related parties (confinued)

Compensation of directors and key management persomel

016 015
AEDDOO AELY000

Key management compensation
Short term employment benefits S8ATS 90,356
Post-employment benefits 10,992 2,058
Termination benefits 15,154 1,563
Share based paymenta 11,006 13,240
Drirectors” remuneration 9,656 6580

Terms and conditions

Loans and deposits are granted and accepted in vadous currency denominations and for varous time petiods,
Interest rates earned on such finandal assets extended to related parties during the year have ranged from
01105 to 8.5% per anumm (2015 -0.05% fo 8.25% per annum) and interest rates incurred on Customer accounts
and other deposits placed by related parties during the year have ranged from nil to 9.00% per ansum (2015 nd
to 4 507 per annum),

Collateral against lending to related parties range from being nil to fully secure.

o Major 2016 2015
and key Hareholdas Others
management Tatal Total

AED000 AED'DD0 AED¥DO0 AED0D0 AED000
Balances with related parties at the reporting date are showen belown:

Finandial assets 1544360 10461209 59,251,728  7I257297 66,930,369
Firarcial liabilities 572149 3080408  GL70S032  6A257S5HE 50,679,183
Contingent liabilities 273050 1516101 14,252,296 16041447 22958720

Transactions carried oul during the year with related parties are shown beloip:

Interest income 34476 B14,386 1,705,317 2554179 2,149,113
Interest expense 919 523881 360,102 884 902 442 068
Fee and commssion ncome 272 22005 56,143 81,774 25501

Others comprise Government of Abu Dhabi entities.

Mo allowanees for inmpairment have been recognised against loans and advances extended to related parties or
comtingent liabilities issued in favour of related parties during the year (2075; AED nif).
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
41 Segmental information

The operating structure consists of three key Business segments across Geographic segments that are driving
the business sirategy, customer value propositions, products and channel development and customer
relationships in addifion to supporting the delivery of the Group's financial performance. The structure is
simplified and is coherent with its mission of being cone to its chosen customers,

Business segments

*  Clobal Wholesale
Global Wholesale comprises of Global Banking and Global Markets, The business provides corporate,
wholasale and mvestment chients with strategic advice and bespoke innovative solutions catering for their
different needs, Global Banking Division offers an array of finandal services ranging from relationship
lending and finandng, syndication, corporate finance, spedalised financing, structured finance, leasing,
securites services, transactional banking, merchant banking, debt capital market services and spedial asset
advisory. Global Markets Division covers lines of business in relation to insttutional and corporate
coverage, tisk schitions, repos management and investments, commodities, E-commerce and foreign
exdnange trading,

¢ Global Wealth
Global Wealth enfolds high net worth individuals and other chiends with sophisticated investment needs,
The business furnishes variety of products related to private banking, assets management including local
and global funds as well as discretonary portfolics management, custody, brokerage, business
development and tailored wealth solutons (such as trust & estate planning, finandal planning, segregated
mandates, structured lending, real estate and private equity investments),

¢ (lobal Retail amnd Commercial
The Global Retail and Commercial (“GRC) targets the retail and commercial customer segments together
with their associated operations and administration. The GRC is structured on the basis of the differing
needs of the Group’s broad customer base covering Mass, affiuent, commercial and Islamic Banking,

¢ Head Office
The Group provides centralized human resources, information technology, finance, investor relations, risk

management, cotpotate comimunications, property, legal, intemal audit, compliance, procurement,
treasury operations and administrative support to all of its businesses units.

a1
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MNotes to the consolidated financial statements
41 Segmental information (continued)
Geographic segments

The Group will be managing its various business segments through a network of branches, subsidiaries and
representative offices within the three defined geographic segments whach are UAE, Gulf and Intermational

« [IAE
WBAD local network is eurrently available in all the seven emirates constifuting the United Arab Emirates,

+  Gulf
MBAD presence in the Gulf segion is run through its branches in Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman; the segment
is extended to indude Jordan.

*  Intermalional
MBAD intemational network is carned out via its operational presence in Brazil, China, Egypt, France,
Heng Keng, India, Lebanon, Libya, Malaysia, Sudan, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United
States of America.

The accounting pelicies of the reportable segments are the same as described in notes 2 and 3. Transactions
between segments, and between branches within a segment, ane conducted at estimated market rates or
rates agreed by management Interest is charged or credited to branches and business segaments either at
contracted or pool rates, both of which approximate the replacement cost of funds.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is inchuded below. Performance is measuned
based on segment profit before taxation, as inchided in the infernal management reports that are reviewad
by the Group’s Chief Executive. Segment profit is used to measure perfonmance as management believes
that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the resulis of certain segments relative to other
entitias that operate within these industries,

52
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements
42 Earnings per share

Earnings per share is caleulated by dividing the net profit for the year after deduction of Tier 1 capital nobes
payment by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as set out below:

2016 2015

Basic eamings per share:
Net profit for the year (AED 000) 5,206,042 5,231,817
Less: payment on Tier 1capital notes (AEDY000) (283 415) (201,187}
Net profit after payment of Tier 1 capital notes (AEDY000) 5,002,627 5,030,630
Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
Ordinary shares as at 1 January of the year ['000) 5,198,640 4723172
Effect of bonus shares issued during 2016 (000} - -
Effect of bonus shares issued dudng 2015 {000) - 472492
Weighted average number of shares exerdsed under

the share options schemae (000} 2,701 2,163
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ("000) 5,201,541 5197 837
Basic eamings per share (AED) 096 oe7

Driluted earings per share:
Met profit after payment of Tiar 1 capital notes (AED000) 5,012,627 5,030,630
Add: interest on convertible notes (AEDY 000 45,853 45,541

Met profit for the year for caleulating diluted earnings

per share {AED000} 5,058,450 5,076,171
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (1000} 5,201,341 5,197,827
Effect of dihitive potential ordinary shares issued ("000) 145,549 117,655
Weighted average number of dilutive shares under

share options schemse (000} 2,461 5,226
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for dihuted

earnings per share (000} 5,340,151 5,320,708
Diluted earnings per share (AED) 0as 0.9
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Motes to the consolidated financial statements

43 Fiduciary aclivities

The Group held assets under management in trust or in a fiduciary capacty for its cusfomers at
31 December 2016 amounting to AED 8,106 million {2015 AED 7,285 miliion). Furthermore, the Group provides
custodian services for some of its customers,

The underlying assets held in a custodial or fidudiary capacity are exchuded from these consolidated finandial
stabements of the Group,

4 Special Purpose Entities

The Group has created Spedial Purpose Entities (SPEs) with defined objectives to carry on fund management
and investment activities on behalf of customers. The equity and investments managed by the SPEs are not
condrolled by the Group and the Group does not obfain benefits from the SPEs’ operations, apart from
comimissions and fee income. In addition, the Group does not provide any guarantees or assume any labilibes
of these entities. Consequently, the SPEs” assets, liabilities and results of operations are not inchided in these
consalidated financial statements of the Group. The SPEs are as follows:

Country of Holding
Legal name Activities incorporation 016
O share PLC Investment Comparty Republic of Treland 100%
NBAD Private Equuty 1 Fund Management Cayman Island 5485
NBAD (Cayrman) Limited Fund Management Cayman Islard 100%

45 Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been redassified where approprate to conform o the presentation and
accountng policy changes adopted in these consalidated financial statements. These ane as stated below:

Druring the year, the Group revisited the basis of allocation around centrally held profit & losses and other infer-
segmental allocations resulting in a restatement of comparative segmental information.

96
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2012 12 31 2013 12 31 2014 12 31 2015 12 31 2016 12 31

23.61 28.67 33.07 34.20 32.98

20.75 23.70 27.49 31.64 27.19

21.73 26.59 28.84 32.96 29.61

23.61 28.67 32.58 32.74 31.86

2016 12 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
32.18 32.06 31.11 31.30 30.37 31.11
30.90 30.66 30.42 30.13 29.52 30.16
31.62 31.31 30.76 30.74 29.98 30.56
30.4 2017 23

UFJ
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of National Bank of Abu
Dhabi PJSC

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the consolidated financial
position of National Bank of Abu Dhabi PJSC (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) as at 31 December
2016, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changesin equity for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code
of Ethicsfor Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

Overview

Thiswas the first year we were appointed as the auditor of the Group. As part of developing our knowledge for the
2016 audit, we attended key meetings held between the former auditor and NBAD at the end of the 2015 audit to
assist in understanding the significant audit judgements which were made as part of forming their audit opinion for
that year. We also reviewed the working papers of the former auditor to help us familiarise ourselves with the IT
systems and controls on which they relied on for the purposes of issuing their opinion and also to understand the
evidence they obtained in respect of key judgements.

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; for
example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future
events that are inherently uncertain.

The areas, in our professional judgement, that are of most significance to the audit (' Key audit matters) and where
we focused most effort were:

Impairment of loans and advances to customers; and
Revenue recognition.

We have set out below an explanation of each item and a summary of the audit approach.
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Asin all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other

matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to
fraud. In addition, in common with all banks, the Group is highly dependent on technology due to the significant
number of transactions that are processed daily. The audit approach relied extensively on automated controls and
therefore procedures were designed to test access and control over IT systems.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes
and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit
matter
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Impairment of loans and advances

Impairment allowances represent management’s best
estimate of the losses incurred within the loan
portfolios at the balance sheet date. They are
calculated on a collective basis for portfolios of loans
of asimilar nature and on an individua basis for non-
performing loans. The calculation of both collective
and individual impairment allowances is inherently
judgemental for any bank.

As disclosed in note 11, as at 31 December 2016, the
Bank has recognised a provision for impairment of
loans and advances of AED 6.4 billion.

Collective impairment allowances are used to
recognise  unidentified impairment.  Collective
impairment allowances are calculated using statistical
models, which approximate the impact of current
economic and credit conditions on portfolios of
similar loans. The inputs to these models are subject
to management judgement.

For specific impairments, judgement is required to
determine when an impairment event has occurred
and then to estimate the expected future cash flows
related to that loan.

We focused on this area because the Directors and
management make subjective judgements over both
timing of recognition of impairment and the
estimation of the size of any impairment, including
taking into account economic factors such as the
impact of the reduced oil and gas prices and reduced
available liquidity in the market.

Information on credit risk and the Group’s credit risk
management is provided in note

4. The use of estimates and judgements in respect of
impairment of loans and advances is disclosed in note
5. Disclosure of the impairment allowance and net
impairment charge is given in notes 11 and 35.

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls over impairment data
and calculations to ensure compliance with IFRS.
These controls included those over the internal
credit rating of counterparty facilities, the
identification of which loans and advances were
impaired, the data transfer from source systems to
impairment models and model output to the general
ledger, and the calculation of the impairment
provisions.

In addition, we performed detailed testing on the
models used to calculate both identified and
unidentified impairment. This testing typically
included testing of the extraction of data used in the
model, assessing the appropriateness of the
assumptions used (including applying sensitivities)
and re-performance of the impairment calculation.
We also engaged experts to review the methodology
applied in certain models.

Where the models were designed to meet the UAE
Central Bank requirements in respect of impairment
allowances, we tested the reconciliation of the output
of these models to the provisioning requirements
under IFRS.

Where impairment was individually calculated, we
tested controls over the timely identification of
potentially impaired loans. We also tested a sample
of loans and advances to ascertain whether the loss
event (the point at which impairment is recognised)
had been identified in a timely manner. Where
impairment had been identified, for a sample of
loans we examined the forecasts of future cashflows
prepared by management to support the calculation
of the impairment, including those related to
collateral values, challenging the assumptions and
comparing estimates to external evidence where
available.

We examined a sample of loans and advances,
which had not been identified by management as
potentially impaired and formed our own judgement
as to whether that was appropriate including using
external evidence in respect of the relevant
counterparties.

Where we formed a different view from that of
management on certain specific provisions, the
differences were assessed in the context of the
overall level of provisioning, including the
collective provision.
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Revenue recognition

We assess the risk of materiadl misstatement in
revenue recognition for each material revenue stream
individually. The level of judgement involved in
determining whether recognition criteria have been
met as well as the extent of manua intervention in the
recognition process are factors which can increase the
inherent risk of fraud.

We focused on the timing of recognition of fee
income, as there is often judgement involved in
determining whether fees should be recognised up
front or spread over a period of time. For example
fees earned from the provision of a service are
recognised as revenue as the services are provided
whereas fees that form an integral part of the effective

Our audit procedures included, amongst others,
assessing the appropriateness of the Group’ s revenue
recognition accounting policies including those
relating to arrangement and syndication fees and
assessing their compliance with IFRS.

We tested the design and operating effectiveness of
the Group’'s controls over the calculation and
recording of fees and commissions.

For a sample of significant transactions during the
year, we tested the timing of revenue recognition,
checking the necessary contractual obligations had
been fulfilled. We tested revenue recognised by
agreeing to cash received or accounts receivable as
appropriate. We also tested the recoverability of the
year end accounts receivables.

We tested the reconciliations between the revenue

interest rate of a financial instrument are recognised
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and
recorded in interest income.

During the year the Group recognised total fee and
commission income of AED 3.2 billion.

The Group’'s accounting policy for fee and
commission income is disclosed in note 3. Details of
the Group’s fee and commission income is given in
note 30.

systems used by the Group and its genera ledger.
We aso tested arisk based sample of journal entries,
which included postings to revenue accounts, to
identify unusual or irregular items.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Chairman’s letter (but
does not include the consolidated financia statements and our auditor's report thereon), which we obtained prior to
the date of this auditor's report, and the Bank’s complete Annual Report which is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financia statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Bank’s complete Annua Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financia Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financia statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’'s ability to

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial statementsas a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with |SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’
sinternal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and rel ated
disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financia information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We aso provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Further as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:

(i) we have obtained al the information we considered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015;

(iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

(iv) thefinancia information included in the Chairman's letter is consistent with the books of account of
the Group;

(v) asdisclosed in notes 8 and 12 to the consolidated financia statements the Group has purchased or
invested in shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2016;

(vi) note 40 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the
terms under which they were conducted ;

(vii) note 34 to the consolidated financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year
ended 31 December 2016; and

(viii) based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which
causes usto believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended 31 December
2016 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No.
(2) of 2015 or in respect of the Bank, its Memorandum and Articles of Association which would
materially affect its activities or its financial position as at 31 December 2016.

Further, as required by the UAE Union Law No (10) of 1980, as amended, we report that we haveobtained all the
information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

Other matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2015 were audited
by another auditor, whose report dated 27 January 2016 expressed an unmodified audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
31 January 2017

Mohamed EIBorno
Registered Auditor Number 946
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
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